ATILIM UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF ENGLISH LANGUAGE AND LITERATURE ENGLISH CULTURE AND LITERATURE DOCTORAL PROGRAMME

A NEW HISTORICIST READING OF POWER MECHANISM IN DYSTOPIAN NOVELS: THE FIXED PERIOD BY ANTHONY TROLLOPE, A CLOCKWORK ORANGE BY ANTHONY BURGESS, AND NEVER LET ME GO BY KAZUO ISHIGURO

Ph.D. Dissertation

Ecevit BEKLER

ANKARA-2019



ATILIM UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCES DEPARTMENT OF ENGLISH LANGUAGE AND LITERATURE ENGLISH CULTURE AND LITERATURE DOCTORAL PROGRAMME

A NEW HISTORICIST READING OF POWER MECHANISM IN DYSTOPIAN NOVELS: THE FIXED PERIOD BY ANTHONY TROLLOPE, A CLOCKWORK ORANGE BY ANTHONY BURGESS, AND NEVER LET ME GO BY KAZUO ISHIGURO

Ph.D. Dissertation

Ecevit BEKLER

Supervisor

Assist. Prof. Dr. Gökşen ARAS

ANKARA-2019

ACCEPTION AND APPROVAL

This is to certify that this dissertation titled "A New Historicist Reading of Power Mechanism in Dystopian Novels: *The Fixed Period* by Anthony Trollope, *A Clockwork Orange* by Anthony Burgess, and *Never Let Me Go* by Kazuo Ishiguro" and prepared by Ecevit BEKLER meets with the committee's approval by majority as [Doctoral Dissertation] in the field of English Language and Literature following the successful defense of the dissertation conducted on 23.12.2019.

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Dürrin ALPAKIN MARTINEZ CARO (Jury Chair)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Gökşen ARAS (Supervisor)

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Aslı Özlem TARAKÇIOĞLU (Jury Member)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Kuğu TEKİN (Jury Member)

Assist. Prof. Dr. Sibel İZMİR (Jury Member)

Prof. Dr. Dilaver TENGİLİMLİOĞLU (Director)

ETHICS DECLARATION

I hereby declare that;

- I prepared this thesis in accordance with Atılım University Graduate School of Social Sciences Thesis Writing Directive,
- I prepared this thesis within the framework of academic and ethics rules,
- I presented all information, documents, evaluations and findings in accordance with scientific ethical and moral principles,
- I cited all sources to which I made references in my thesis,
- The work of art in this thesis is original,

I hereby acknowledge all possible loss of rights in case of a contrary circumstance.

(in case of any circumstances contradicting with my declaration)

Ecevit BEKLER

23.12.2019

i

BEKLER, Ecevit. Distopya Romanlarında Güç Mekanizmasının Yeni Tarihselciliğe Göre Okunması: Anthony Trollope'un *The Fixed Period*, Anthony Burgess'ın *A Clockwork Orange* ve Kazuo Ishiguro'nun *Never Let Me Go* Adlı Eserleri / Doktora Tezi, Ankara, 2019.

Anthony Trollope, Anthony Burgess ve Kazuo Ishiguro tarafından yazılan sırasıyla The Fixed Period (1882), A Clockwork Orange (1962) ve Never Let Me Go (2005) romanları Yeni Tarihselcilik teorisi kullanılarak incelenmiştir. Bu teori kullanılarak metin, yazarın hayatı ve her dönemin sosyal, kültürel ve politik koşulları arasındaki ilişki dikkatli bir çalışma ile ortaya çıkarılmıştır. Romanlar, kültürleri ve söylemlerinin metinsel ürünleri olarak dönemleri hakkında derin bilgi sağlar. The Fixed Period, A Clockwork Orange ve Never Let Me Go, sırasıyla sömürgecilik, gençlik suçları ve bilimsel söylemlerin ürünleridir. Bu çalışma, her bir romanın, dönemlerinin çağdaş ve önde gelen sosyal sorunlarını yansıttığını ortaya koymaktadır. Romanların distopik olması sosyal meselelerle ilgili endişeleri yansıtmaktadır. Çağdaş edebi metinler ve edebi olmayan metinler, her dönemin baskın ideolojisini bulmak için kullanılmıştır. Üç farklı dönemin kültürel ve entelektüel tarihini daha iyi anlamak için Stephen Greenblatt ve Michel Foucault'nun güç, ideoloji ve söylem hakkındaki teorileri ve argümanları toplumdaki güç mekanizmalarının işlevi konusunda temel alınmıştır. Bu tez, güç ilişkilerinin ve kontrol mekanizmalarının toplumlardaki sosyal ve kültürel değişimlere paralel olarak dönemden döneme değiştiğini göstermiştir. Günümüzde insanlar sadece doğaya değil aynı zamanda birbirine de hükmetmektedir. Bu çalışma, makineleşmenin, teknolojinin ve bilimin, insanların yaşam standartlarını arttırdığı ve toplumun refahına katkıda bulunduğunu ancak bu gelişmelerin daha fazla kontrol mekanizmalarının oluşmasına neden olduğunu da ortaya koymaktadır.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Distopya, Yeni Tarihselcilik, Anthony Trollope, Anthony Burgess, Kazuo Ishiguro

ABSTRACT

BEKLER, Ecevit. A New Historicist Reading of Power Mechanism in Dystopian Novels: *The Fixed Period* by Anthony Trollope, *A Clockwork Orange* by Anthony Burgess, and *Never Let Me Go* by Kazuo Ishiguro, Ph. D Dissertation, Ankara, 2019.

The Fixed Period (1882), A Clockwork Orange (1962) and Never Let Me Go (2005) written by Anthony Trollope, Anthony Burgess, and Kazuo Ishiguro, respectively have been analysed using the critical theory New Historicism. With the application of this theory, the relationship between the text, the biography of the author, and the social, cultural, and political conditions of each period have been revealed through a careful study. The novels provide profound information about their periods as textual products of their culture and discourse. The Fixed Period, A Clockwork Orange, and Never Let Me Go are products of colonial, juvenile delinquency, and scientific discourses respectively. This study reveals that each novel reflects the contemporary and foremost social issues of their periods. As dystopian novels, they reflect the anxieties regarding social issues. Contemporary literary texts and non-literary texts have been used in order to find out the dominant ideology of each period. To understand the cultural and intellectual history of three different periods better, Stephen Greenblatt's and Michel Foucault's theories and arguments about power, ideology, and discourse have been taken as basis regarding the function of power mechanisms that circulate throughout the society. The dissertation has shown that power relations and control mechanisms change from period to period in line with social and cultural changes in societies. Human beings not only dominated the nature but also each other. The dissertation puts forward that mechanisation, technology, and science all were thought to increase the life standards of people and contribute to the welfare of society. However, such developments contributed to the creation of more control mechanisms.

Keywords: Dystopia, New Historicism, Anthony Trollope, Anthony Burgess, Kazuo Ishiguro

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my distinctive advisor Assist. Prof. Dr. Gökşen ARAS for her continuous support and guidance of my Ph.D study and research. Her guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Ph.D study.

Apart from my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my committee: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Dürrin ALPAKIN MARTINEZ CARO, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Aslı Özlem TARAKÇIOĞLU, Assist. Prof. Dr. Kuğu TEKİN and Assist. Prof. Dr. Sibel İZMİR for their encouragement and insightful comments.

Last but not the least, I would like to thank my wife Fatma MATPAN BEKLER for her encouragement, and patience throughout the writing of this dissertation. I dedicate this dissertation to my dear daughter, Eda, who was born in 2012, the year when I started my Ph.D. Her smiling face has always been a remedy for me to complete this dissertation.

CONTENTS

ÖZi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
CONTENTSiv
INTRODUCTION1
CHAPTER ONE
1.1.Utopia and Dystopia11
CHAPTER TWO
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK OF THE RESEARCH27
2.1. New Historicism27
2.2. Michel Foucault43
CHAPTER THREE
POWER RELATIONS UNDER THE SHADE OF THE BRITISH EMPIRE IN TROLLOPE'S <i>THE FIXED PERIOD</i> 55
CHAPTER FOUR
POWER MECHANISM IN THE TURBULENT BRITAIN OF THE TWENTIETH CENTURY IN BURGESS' <i>A CLOCKWORK ORANGE</i> 99
CHAPTER FIVE
POWER FUNCTIONS AND THE HEGEMONIC TECHNOLOGY'S EFFECTS ON FREE WILL OF THE LATE TWENTIETH CENTURY IN ISHIGURO'S NEVER LET ME GO
CONCLUSION171
BIBLIOGRAPHY179
CURRICULUM VITAE 237

INTRODUCTION

As the social structures of the societies change from period to period, the discourses change as well. This dissertation will interpret and discuss the main issue of power and how it functions in the novels *The Fixed Period* (1882), *A Clockwork Orange* (1962) and *Never Let Me Go* (2005) written by Anthony Trollope, Anthony Burgess, and Kazuo Ishiguro, respectively. The discussion will employ New Historicism since it explains socio-political power structures and deals with power relations. How power permeates ideas and beliefs of societies of different periods, how it is resisted, how it is subverted to be used to its own ends, and contained will be revealed through textual analysis using the theories of the American literary historian Stephen Greenblatt, and French historian and philosopher Michel Foucault.

The purpose of this dissertation is to reveal how discourses, power relations, and control mechanisms change from period to period. Using New Historicism and concepts related to power, discourse, ideology, discipline, and control, the dissertation will analyse how power mechanism shapes the lives of the individuals in the three chosen novels since each period has its own pervasive mode of power and discourse to create the individual. New historicism, which regards literary texts as having political functions, treats texts as strong formations of social, political, and cultural contexts of their periods. The purpose of using New Historicism as theory in this dissertation is to understand the cultural and intellectual history of the three different periods better.

New Historicism which first began to be used by Stephen Greenblatt in 1980s is a theory that is different from the history that reveals the past based only on official documents written by the authorities of the time. However, what is presented through New Historicism is based not only on literary texts but also on non-literary texts, Thus we learn about the prevailing ways of thinking of the period through them. The expression "textuality of history and historicity of textuality" by Louis Montrose ("Professing the Renaissance" 20) in New Historicism refers to the idea that history is based on texts and cannot be objective and that texts are written in a specific period

and they should be evaluated in relation to the conditions of the time in which they are written. Literary texts have always been affected by the author's life, the social, political, and economic conditions of their time. Literary texts, according to New Historicism, reflect the ideologies of their time.

While examining the novels, letters of Trollope, essays by the novelists, their biographies, autobiographies, interviews with them, essays written during the time of the novelists, newspapers, the works of the theorists, other literary texts reflecting the discourse and ideology of the time, and books of criticism of the novels written during their periods and conditions of the periods will be analysed and thus the ideology of the time will be revealed to help the researcher to see how the novel becomes a product of its time and how it subverts the prevailing ideology. Greenblatt states that the written word is self-consciously embedded in specific communities, life situations, structures of power (*Renaissance Self-Fashioning 7*). Literary texts along with non-literary texts are inseparable from the discourse and power mechanisms in which they are formed. Furthermore, power mechanism, an important element of New Historicism, is a very important factor in getting the societies to believe in what is true and what is not.

Power has existed starting from the creation of the world to the present and has been exercised in different forms. Societies have been shaped and reshaped with the use of power by individuals that make up their communities. Although it has various definitions, it may be basically defined as 'control over others' or 'influence' (Murphy 1082). While in the past, being powerful meant physically having power, today having the latest technological and scientific developments means power. Sociologically it is used in connection with the relation between human beings and it appears everywhere in the form of personal, collective, or state power. Although power may be used for the good of societies and individuals by keeping order and aiming at improvement in communities, sometimes it may be misused in order to suppress individuals in a society. Power and how it is exercised in societies in this regard is very important since lives are definitely shaped in accordance with the prevalent ideology. Furthermore, with its complex structure, it circulates among the individuals from the most ordinary ones to the ones ruling a country throughout a society.

Power and control mechanisms, when exerted on individuals at extreme levels, will rob them of their free will. Free will, however, will be of utmost importance for those who want to stand under the umbrella of individualism. Individualism is the belief that the rights and freedom of individual people are the most important rights in a society (Adrian-Vallance 781) and claims that an ideal society may best be achieved by recognizing and giving importance to the individual rights, and the rights of a group should not precede the rights of the individual. Collectivism, on the other hand, is described as any of several types of social organization in which the individual is seen as being subordinate to a social collectivity such as a state, a nation, a race, or a social class ("Collectivism"). In collectivism, the priority is given to the good of the society rather than the individual. The interests of the individuals are seen as subordinate to the interest of the society in general. Regulations and laws are made to serve the general will of the society. Individuals must obey the rules even if they suffer from the consequences. Collectivism holds the belief that the individual has limited freedom and as a result, what is done for the good of the society is done by ignoring the needs of the individuals. Limitations of individualism are carried out through control mechanisms that exist in societies. The novels chosen for analysis in this dissertation are all dystopian, which means they deal with free will of the individuals.

Power relations exist both in utopias and dystopias and control mechanisms work effectively in both of them. However, in utopias at least a choice is put in front of the individuals while in dystopias free will is totally restricted. Oppression, lack of individual rights, surveillance for the purpose of control, and censorship are some of the common elements specific to dystopias. In communal societies, the interests of the society are above those of the individual since they share common religious or political elements. New historicism deals with power relations by claiming that power does not necessarily follow a hierarchical order but is omnipresent and complex. As power may directly come from a king, ruler, or president, it may come from individuals as well. New Historicism "privileges power relations as the most important context for texts of all kinds" (Brannigan 6).

According to New Historicism, power is maintained by different sources and institutions such as prisons, hospitals, and schools and it has existed in various forms.

Everybody participates in the sustenance of the existing power. Hence ideological systems and power relations of different periods that lead to a dystopian world in order to create a social order will be pinpointed to touch upon the differences between the periods since dominant ideologies change as well as the time. The ideology of the dominant power enforces the individuals to choose a specific kind of life. The chosen novels are the ideological products of the nineteenth, twentieth, and twenty first centuries and although the main character(s) in the novels have different expectations from life, they have to conform to the society and its rules determined by the authorities.

With the Age of Reason both in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, the purpose was to advance science and liberate human beings by providing them with anything that nature could offer for their happiness and comfort. However, social and scientific developments, starting from the Age of Reason, created more control mechanisms resulting in an enslaving effect rather than a liberating one. "... [S]cience has been linked to utopian thinking since the very beginnings of modern science in the seventeenth century" (Booker, *The Dystopian Impulse in Modern Literature* 5). It is since then that science, which was once regarded as a means of creating ideal worlds or utopias, has been used as a means of power to control subjects, which has contributed to the increasing number of dystopian novels. Knowledge shaped as a result of scientific progress has brought systematic control of individuals especially since the Age of Reason.

Knowledge, as a control mechanism, serves the purposes of the power holders, in other words the authorities that shape and direct the thoughts and lives of the individuals, in a given society. Changing power relations in parallel with technological and cultural changes from period to period create subjects dominated in different ways specific to their periods. Nineteenth century in this regard is important since "... by the end of the century science and technology had become symbols not only of human capability, but of human weakness and limitation" (Booker, *The Dystopian Impulse in Modern Literature* 6).

The chosen novels for this dissertation are all dystopian, which means they are reflecting social and political concerns of their times by using near or distant future through defamiliarization. As dystopian novels, they are portraying their contemporary issues in somewhat exaggerated forms in fiction. They all deal with the practices of the power-holders, ethicality, individualism, freedom of choice, and how the behaviours of the subjects are manipulated in order to create ideal docile bodies of power. Furthermore, approaches regarding finding solutions to the anxieties of the contemporary issues projected in these three dystopian novels differ from each other. The anxieties and concerns belonging to each period require using different social control mechanisms and power functioning differently in each of the period. Considering the increasing number of dystopian novels starting especially from the nineteenth century, these three novels also confirm the theories of New Historicist critics and Foucault that the more knowledge-based societies we have, the more mind control and docile bodies we will have.

The authorities mentioned in the chosen novels try to create a society in which the welfare is expected to be established by getting the individuals to be submissive, obedient, and to lead a life according to the rules and social norms rather than creating a whole society with the basic tenets of humane values such as respect, empathy, love, and happiness. As a result, instead of creating an ideal society, they create a nightmarish society by sacrificing individualism for the good of collectivism and dystopia takes place of utopia. Despite the well-intentioned objectives initiated by authorities in designing utopic societies, utopic engineering disregards individualism and humane values through various power mechanisms. In addition, this study intends, through new historicism and especially the concepts of Foucault, to examine the mechanisms of creating ideal worlds and their possible transformation into dystopias.

The analysis of dystopian novels is coherent with New Historicism. As a genre, dystopia itself has negative connotations and Booker claims that "modern social and cultural critics like Karl Marx, Friedrich Nietzsche, Sigmund Freud, Theodor Adorno, Walter Benjamin, Mikhail Bakhtin, Louis Althusser and Michel Foucault quite often show concerns that are highly reminiscent of those shown by writers of dystopian literature" (*Dystopian Literature* 11). This reveals that modernity, apart

from its many benefits for humanity, has laid the foundation of various control mechanisms which turned the aspirations of peoples towards creating a utopian world upside down.

Utopia, which is opposite of dystopia, is not a very new genre in literature. Starting from Plato's *The Republic* to the modern times it has evolved over time. Utopic purposes aim at eliminating the vices in the society in order to establish a world in which people live happily free of problems. However, whether the realization of the utopic world is possible or not is a matter still discussed in academic circles today. The novels *The Fixed Period*, *A Clockwork Orange* and *Never Let Me Go* that are going to be discussed in this dissertation will also reveal how power is used in these societies and how they develop into dystopias through various control mechanisms as the welfare of the individual is ignored. In the novels, there are individuals exposed to practices they do not want by the authorities and they lack free will, which means that individuals cannot act at their own discretion.

The three novels belonging to three different periods provide us with unique information regarding the characteristics of their time. They successfully depict the flaws of their periods and social concerns. Trollope lived in the Victorian Period and his novel bears very strong traces of the ideology of his time. It was a time for Britain to expand its territories to have colonies throughout the world. In *A Clockwork Orange*, written after two world wars that affected nations to a great extent, the prevailing ideology of 1960s and thereafter will be pinpointed. In the final novel *Never Let Me Go* that was written in 2005 we see cloned people raised to be organ donors for the persons from whose DNAs they were cloned. Thus, the novels characterize their periods with complex power relations.

Considering the time, it should be noted that the three novels have common points. *The Fixed Period* takes place in 1980, *A Clockwork Orange* takes place in the near future after 1962 which is 1970s or 1980s and *Never Let Me Go*, with a future projection embedded in a speculative past, goes back to 1990s. Ishiguro, however, unlike the writers of the two other novels, is not projecting but looking back. In this dissertation, the imaginative world of the novelists that was shaped with the conditions

of their contemporary period will be reflected as well. The functions and the changing nature of power will be put forward in all three novels since they reflect different periods regarding socio-political and cultural environment. In the light of this information, the social control mechanisms that were effective during the eras in which the novels were written will be analysed to see their effects on the novels' fictions and the relation between the social, cultural, political, and economic conditions of 1880s, 1960s, 2000s. Through New Historicism the characteristics of the three different periods will be reinterpreted for the dystopian novels and the reciprocal relation of the text and the context will be revealed.

The Fixed Period, which is set in 1980, is about John Neverbend, the first president of a fictional island called Britannula. John Neverbend, along with a group of people, have moved from New Zealand to set up their own country on an island to declare their independence from the British Empire. Thinking that the old people will be a burden for the economy of the country, Neverbend, along with his supporters in the parliament, introduces a new law which requires forced euthanasia for those who reach the age of sixty-seven. They will initially be sent to a college, where they will prepare for death and then will be cremated. Thus, the economy and the welfare of the society will be kept at an ideal level. Towards the end of the novel, as a result of resistance of some people against the law and asking for help from the British to prevent the execution of the law, the British arrive in Britannula and assign their own governor there.

Although according to many critics what Trollope envisioned was a consequence of his advancing old age, it is a high probability that he made his statement under the effects of the conditions in the society he lived in. Compared to the previous centuries the life-expectancy was increased. That was clearly seen in marriages towards the late Victorian Period too. "Due to falling adult mortality rates, marriages began to last longer in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, and by the 1880s, only about one-third of marriages ended before twenty-five years" (Heath 132). The historicity of the text is clearly seen in the novel. The Late Victorian Period, because of fast industrial development, scientific developments and better health

conditions compared to previous periods saw a high life-expectancy rate. This would, however, cause an increase in the number of the elderly people.

The second novel to be discussed in this dissertation is *A Clockwork Orange*, one of the novels written by Anthony Burgess. It tells about the violent British youth in a near future. The fifteen-year old Alex narrates his story using Nadsat language, which is a blend of Russian and Cockney English. The protagonist Alex spends most of his time in Korova Milkbar and leads his gang, consisting of teenagers like himself, in committing crimes, murdering, robbery, and rapes. According to the authorities, the youth crime is an obstacle to having an ideal society. However, the purpose of the authorities in creating an ideal society by initiating Ludovico's Technique to rehabilitate the prisoners through conditioning will prevent the young for making their own choice in life.

The 1960s were the years especially for many young people to rebel against the authorities. Teenagers used drugs and sex was a part of life for many. "...the daily newspapers were monotonously bewailing the rise of mass delinquency, as the postwar Teddy Boys diverged and multiplied into the Mods and the Rockers (who would later devolve into the Hippies and the Skinheads)" (Amis "Foreword" *A Clockwork Orange* x). The novel carries strong traces of the rebellious youth culture in Britain. The effects of social life and state control are clearly seen on the youth mentioned in Burgess' novel. Burgess was affected by the youth he saw both in his country and in Russia and by Huxley in using control mechanisms. "From Huxley he learned about the emerging technologies of behaviour modification, brainwashing and chemical persuasion" (Biswell "Introduction" *A Clockwork Orange* xix).

Never Let Me Go, published in 2005, is the last dystopian novel to be studied in the dissertation. It is considered as one of the best novels by Ishiguro, the winner of the Nobel Prize in Literature in 2017. Kate, the major character of the novel, tells about her story retrospectively about Hailsham, where she spent her childhood with Ruth and Tommy, two of her best friends. Their school is one that gives importance to arts and the creative activities. At the beginning of the novel, the students at Hailsham do not know that they are clones and their organs will be donated to their owners or

models who completely resemble them. In this novel, the authorities try to create a utopian world by replacing the organs of the cloned people with the objective of lengthening the life span of some other people. However, the organ donors that are raised for the normal wealthy people have the same feelings and souls that normal human beings have as shown in the case of love affair between Ruth and Tommy. The aim of creating a utopian world through extending the life duration of the wealthy people results in dystopia for the cloned people. The famous British novelist Kazuo Ishiguro, like all people affected by the world they live in, in one of his conversations about *Never Let Me Go*, told that he already wanted to write about a group of students and when he heard about a discussion on the radio about advances in biotechnology, he decided to merge this with the plot of his novel. He adds that the novel offers a version of Britain that might have existed by the late twentieth century even if just one or two things had gone differently on the scientific front (BookBrowse).

In Never Let Me Go a group of young people are destined to extend the life of some other people who are wealthy and in need of organs especially because of diseases such as cancer. The life span of these clones ends as soon as they complete (die) because of donating their vital organs one by one. Becoming organ donors is not a voluntary action for them but a compulsory one since they were raised solely for the purpose of providing organs for their possibles, who are normal human beings. In this respect, it can be said that life is fixed for the donors in Never Let Me Go as in the novel The Fixed Period, in which the president of Britannula makes a law in the parliament that will end the life of those who will be sixty-seven through euthanasia in order to increase the welfare in the society. In A Clockwork Orange the power holders try to create an ideal society by applying Ludovico's Technique, which is an aversion therapy for conditioning, to rehabilitate violent persons so that they are accepted as normal in the society.

The dissertation will be divided into six chapters. Chapter I will discuss the definition of utopia, its development, the changes that both utopias and dystopias have undergone in history, and power mechanism that occupies an important place in utopias and dystopias. Chapter II will set out the theoretical framework of the dissertation and explain the concept of power, the theory of New Historicism and the

ideas of its leading theorists and practitioners, especially Stephen Greenblatt and Michel Foucault. Chapter III, Chapter IV, and Chapter V will focus on the New Historicist reading of the three novels starting with Anthony Trollope's *The Fixed Period*, Anthony Burgess' *A Clockwork Orange*, and Kazuo Ishiguro's *Never Let Me Go*, respectively since New Historicist reading of the novels is done both to understand the ideologies of three different periods and to explain the power mechanisms operating in the three novels, which will serve to the purpose of this dissertation. As the chapters are analysed within the framework of New Historicism and mainly Foucauldian theories, information about the historical background of the nineteenth, twentieth, and twenty first century England will be given in order to explain the reflection of socio-cultural conditions in the novels. In the conclusion part, a summary of the important points discussed in previous chapters along with other findings will be given and it will be argued that the new historicist reading of the novel shows that power mechanisms vary and function differently in each period.

CHAPTER ONE

1. Utopia and Dystopia

Utopia and dystopia, which derived from the former, are not the same as science fiction since they criticize the flaws of their societies socially and politically. New Historicism, the theory that is going to be applied to the chosen novels for this dissertation, shares similarities with dystopian fiction. New Historicism does not see a potential for change since subversion is contained by the powerful discourse. Claiming that dystopian fiction is more like the projects of social and cultural critics Nietzsche, Freud, Bakhtin, Adorno, Foucault, Althusser, and many others, Booker states that the turn toward dystopian modes in modern literature parallels the rather dark turn taken by a great deal of modern cultural criticism (*Dystopian Literature* 4). The critics mentioned above rejected and questioned the already established theories regarding the concepts and functions of culture, history, language, psychology, and so on. Instead, they reinterpreted them. Theoretical works produced by them created a sense of intellectual pessimism in the twentieth century. Considering all these, it will be beneficial to go to the root of utopia to understand its evolution into dystopia and to comprehend the control mechanisms that exist in them.

The aspirations of living a better life rather than the life presented by the existing system have always existed and these aspirations have revealed themselves in novels that are called utopian, the first of which is "Utopia" written by Thomas More in 1516. The Greek origin of the word means an imaginary perfect world where everyone is happy and no one suffers (Murphy 1520). "The word *utopia* or *outopia* was derived from Greek and means "no (or not) place" (*u* or *ou*, no, not; *topos*, place). Thomas More (1478–1535), inventor of the word, punned on *eutopia*, or good place" (Claeys and Sargent 1). However, the concept of an ideal state goes back to Plato's *The Republic* in the ancient times. Different utopias have been written since then.

The place depicted in utopias (eutopias) is an imaginary one with people living in happiness and prosperity. Utopian society is a society that tries to establish the best system and living conditions for its people and while doing that it justifies its rules and

control mechanisms against the present order in the society. Utopias are written as a reaction against the present order of the society because of social, political, or economic conditions that exist and lead the individuals to pessimism. Although the search for a perfect world may not be possible, (u)topia, meaning no place, has always been attractive since it represents a world without troubles and anxieties. The worse the world is, the more aspirations there are for this fictional place. Utopia may be seen as "a kind of reaction to an undesirable present and an aspiration to overcome all difficulties by the imagination of possible alternatives" (Ruyer qtd. in Vieira 7).

Writers of utopian works, whether fictional or non-fictional, have tried to create an alternative to their contemporary world. Although Plato's *Republic* is referenced as the original utopian work, the origin of utopia is even older and more comprehensive than that. "[The first eutopias] have various labels—golden ages, Arcadias, earthly paradises, fortunate isles, isles of the blest. The most famous depiction of a golden age in the past is that of Hesiod, who invented the image as a contrast to the horrors of his own time" (Claeys and Sargent 2,7).

Human beings, having a desire to create a better world than the present one, have written utopias in which they have given the message that they can shape their own destiny. Mythological works created in Ancient Greek served this purpose. The Greek poet Hesiod, who wrote his poem *Works and Days* more than two thousand years ago, was longing for a society that was in peace and prosperous. He mentions the five stages that the human beings have passed through: The Golden Age, The Silver Age, The Bronze Age, Age of Heroes, and The Iron Age. The men, who were mortals, lived with gods in The Golden Age: "Like gods they lived, with carefree heart, remote from suffering (Hesiod 60)".

Almost all religions in the world have stories with utopic content. What we call utopian elements are found in Christianity, especially in the book of Genesis given at the beginning of the Bible. According to this story of creation, God creates Adam and Eve and provides them with the best of everything that can ever be imagined. This is paradise, this is the Garden of Eden. Here Adam and Eve live a perfect life which can be considered a utopian lifestyle. However, in Genesis 3, Eve, seduced by serpent, eats

the forbidden fruit and gives it to her husband Adam as well (*Holy Bible-Old Testament* 8) thus violating the rule for not eating the fruit from the tree in the middle of the garden. They are punished by God by being banished from Eden to live on earth that is full of challenges and serves as dystopia both for Adam and Eve. According to the Christian religion, this dystopic lifestyle will continue since human beings are corrupted and sinful and they will have their utopia when Jesus Christ returns to earth, known as the second coming.

Eclogue IV, the Messianic Eclogue written by the Roman poet Virgil (70-19 BC), is considered one of the important classical utopias. In an attempt to revive the soul of the Golden Age, Virgil projects a future that will bring prosperity and peace: "The voyager will cease to vex the sea / Nor ships of pinewood longer serve in traffic, / For every fruit shall grow in every land" (Mayor et al. 7). *The Deipnosophists* or *The Banquet of the Learned* that was written by the Greek writer Athenaeus is another classical utopia, in which a great amount of discussion is given to food and Telecleides, a comic poet, implies that the Golden Age did not exist but it may only after hard work in order to lead a prosperous life (Athenaeus 421-422).

It is when present life conditions do not satisfy people that they have aspirations toward an ideal world with harmony and better conditions. Dreaming of utopic worlds dates back to the beginning of human history. The ancient cultures' utopic dreaming has given place to a more concrete form of utopia. In Plato's *The Republic*, a better imaginary alternative world was created against the contemporary world of Plato. Although it was written around 380 BC, it is an important literary work regarding what kinds of characteristics that a state should have. Given in the dialogue form and having Socrates, the teacher of Plato, as the main character, *The Republic* implies that the ideal state should have four virtues: "wisdom, courage, self-discipline", and "justice" (Ferrari and Griffit 127).

The purpose of utopia is to create a better society than the contemporary one. However, the utopic purposes that try to achieve a prosperous and wealthy society with free-willed individuals may instead create conditions that lead to dystopic lifestyles since in all communities, different forms of rules are in practice to have stability or

prevent any actions against the order or regime. In *The Republic* Plato emphasizes a just society and tries to find the definition of *justice* in dialogues making Socrates his mouthpiece. According to him, the king must be a philosopher to rule his state fairly. Although the book intends to create a society much better than Plato's contemporary government, it creates a society divided into three classes: the money-making (producers such as farmers), auxiliary (warriors), and guardian classes (rulers) (*The Republic of Plato* 113).

Although the above mentioned literary works serve as precursors of utopia, it is with Thomas More's literary work titled Utopia that the works offering an ideal world to live in as an alternative to the real world have been called utopian literary works. More criticizes the defective aspects of his society. His Utopia, creates an imaginary society whose system seems to be working in the best way. The share of the jobs, civil or community services are done in harmony, the justice system is fair, and individuals are satisfied to be a member of the society. Actually, the aspirations for creating a better world had existed long before, which probably started with oral tradition of storytelling. The reason of creating a prosperous, happy, and harmonious society has reflected the aspirations of the writers like More, who was executed by King Henry VIII because of not approving the king's marriage to Anne Boleyn as he was deeply bound to the strict Catholic doctrines and stood against the religious practices of the king. In his *Utopia*, More creates an egalitarian society with no classes, no private properties, no crimes, no wars. Raphael, the traveller, has left the Utopia island, where he was delighted with the people living there, just because he wants to tell the Europeans about "this new world" (48). Although there are practices for the good of the whole society such as tolerance towards all religions, the control mechanisms in that utopian society limit the freedom to some extent. "If any man has a mind to travel... he may freely do it, with his father's permission and his wife's consent; but when he comes into any of the country houses, if he expects to be entertained by them, he must labour with them and conform to their rules" (More 76). The utopic societies must have rules in order to keep the social control mechanisms effective. Regarding marriage, their women and men cannot marry before eighteen and twenty-two, respectively (More 104). Any attempt to marry before these determined ages will be punished severely. The adulterer and the adulteress are made slaves.

Looking at these utopias written in the past from today's perspective, one will probably reach the conclusion that they contain anti-democratic elements that may not satisfy all individuals living in a society. Compared to Plato's utopia, More's may be a better projected one since it is a classless society. In both utopian works punishment is conducted or suggested in different ways. This reveals that each author, with his imagination world, created a world that would be utopian compared to their contemporary worlds.

Rather than creating an ideal society for all individuals, a collectivist approach is assumed and one's utopia becomes the other's dystopia. According to J.C. Davis the utopian mode is one which accepts deficiencies in men and nature and strives to contain and condition them through organisational controls and sanctions (qtd. in Sargent 13). There were few utopias published after More's *Utopia* in the 16th century and since Christianity had a great effect in that century, such novels contained religious elements to a great extent.

The City of the Sun (1602) written by the Italian philosopher and writer Tommaso Campanella is another utopian novel that is worth mentioning. All information about this land is provided by a Genoese sea captain to a grandmaster of the knights hospitallers in a dialogue form. The City of the Sun has its own specific rules and manner of administration. The great ruler, who is called Hoh is head over all, in temporal and spiritual matters, and all business and lawsuits are settled by him, as the supreme authority. The punishment system naturally exists in The City of the Sun as well. "When there is a case in which great injury has been done, it is punished with death, and they repay an eye with an eye, a nose for a nose, a tooth for a tooth, and so on, according to the law of retaliation" (Campanella 58). It is the duty of the superior magistrates to pardon sins (Campanella 62).

Campanella was inspired by More while writing his novel *The City of the Sun*. As in More's *Utopia*, the people of Campanella's utopia share everything with the

sense of commonwealth. The meals are eaten together, all the items and belongings of the people are for common purpose. However, the administration in *The City of the Sun* is not as democratic as the one in *Utopia*. The chief priest, who is called Hoh or Metaphysic, is head of the state. However, in More's utopia the state is secular, welcoming all types of religions. The control mechanism in the city is dependent on Hoh with an absolute power since nobody can oppose him. Campanella is under the influence of Plato in some aspects. The people of *The City of the Sun* like wars unlike the people in *Utopia*. The other similarity between Plato and Campanella is that by removing monogamy, Campanella advocates the use of women and children as common property. The marriage issue is arranged not according to the will of the individuals but for the good of the society, which ignores the free will of the individuals.

The effects of the Renaissance, which was a brilliant period in discoveries, science, arts, culture, politics, and individualism pioneered by figures such as Leonardo Da Vinci, Michelangelo, and the Medici family, were seen and felt in utopian novels to be written in following centuries. Bacon's *New Atlantis* written in 1626 is just one of them. *The New Atlantis*, which was published in 1627, takes its name from Plato's happy Atlantis island in *Timaeus and Critias* written in about 360 B.C. Critias, one of the four people having dialogues in the book, tells about Atlantis, the city of high civilization belonging to the golden age. "Once upon a time, the gods divided the whole earth among themselves, region by region. There were no disputes involved" (*Timaeus and Critias* 106).

Unlike *Utopia* by More, there are not a variety of religions in *The New Atlantis*. Bacon emphasizes that the people of this island are Christian and uses Christianity as the main religion of the island. Bacon, however, does not have the ideal of forming a politically and socially perfect community as More does in his novel but the primary purpose of Bacon is to improve the science as he thinks it is only this that will lead to the prosperity for everybody living in a society. In *The New Atlantis* the society is ruled by an oligarchy that consists of a group of intelligent people. The institution that is called Salomon's House is dedicated to the study of the works and creatures of God (Bacon 30). In *Utopia*, More tries to establish a society that pays attention to creating a more egalitarian community. Bacon, on the other hand, creates a society that is ruled

by a group of people that may be considered elite. Solomon's Temple becomes a centre of power for governing the people. In the eyes of Bacon power is to have a knowledgeable society.

Claeys and Sargent categorize the utopian genre according to its developmental stages, from its birth as a literary genre with More to the present since there are significant events that moulded this genre over the centuries. The authors mention four main historical stages for the utopian tradition:

First, religious radicalism in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries spawned a variety of egalitarian schemes ... [and] would eventually give rise to socialism in the nineteenth century. Second, voyages of discovery from the sixteenth century on encouraged a heated debate over the virtues and vices of primitive peoples, their relation to pagan and Christian traditions... Third, scientific discovery and technological innovation from the seventeenth century on began to hold out the promise of an indefinite progress of the human species toward better health, a longer life, and the domination of nature in the interests of humankind. Twentieth-century science fiction emerges as the characteristic genre expressing both the hopes and fears of our own era. The modern dystopia crystallizes the anxieties that increasingly accompanied the onward march of progress. (Claeys and Sargent 3)

It was not until the end of the nineteenth century that the word "dystopia" appeared. Although it is known to have been first used by the famous British philosopher John Stuart Mill in a speech in the British Parliament with the intention of giving an opposite meaning to the word "utopia", in her Phd thesis titled *Utopianism in Eighteenth-Century Ireland*, Deirdre Ni Chuanacháin claims that she had noted the first usage of the word dystopia by Henry Lewis Younge (b. 1694) in his *Utopia: or Apollo's Golden Days* (Dublin: Ptd. By George Faulkner) in 1747 spelled as "dystopia" used as a clear negative contrast to utopia (Sargent 15). "Dystopia" can also be called *cacotopia*, *anti-utopia*, or *negative utopia*. The term is the opposite of the word "utopia" in that while utopias envisage a world in which all human beings are living in prosperity, without strict control of the rulers and the system, in dystopias the world envisaged is a brutal one either with the oppressive regimes, societies, or with diseases and natural disasters.

Utopia writers tend to create an alternative world portrayed better than their real world with the dream of solving the defective issues in their societies. However, dystopia writers create a world that is much worse than their real world giving the message and the warning that if the necessary steps or precautions are not taken, the world may turn into a hell. The individual rights are controlled and shaped by the authorities. The purpose of the governments in totalitarian regimes is thus to normalize the individual to save the interests of the regime. The normalized individual, who was once rebellious against the authority, now is pacified and begins to yield to the power of the authority.

The world depicted in dystopias is the one that serves as a warning to the contemporary issues of real society in which the writer normally expresses his anxieties. In dystopias, the authorities and the control mechanisms they use aim at creating obedient and loyal subjects. Through this way they can continue their system in spite of unhappiness of the individuals in their societies. The control mechanisms the authorities use are carried out through institutions such as schools, hospitals, temples, legal system and this way the identity of the individual is constructed. Various institutions, functioning in a systematic and well-organized manner, serve this purpose under the dominance of their authorities. The power relations in the society apply strict rules on subjects in order to create its so-called harmony in spite of various individuals with different ideals, worldviews, or aspirations for happiness. Collectivism reduces the individual identity to bodies or humanoid robots that are programmed to keep the running of the system. As a result of this, instead of a democratic system, a totalitarian system is built. The freedom of the individual is limited for the common benefit of the society. Today in the world, the totalitarian regimes have been making use of technological products and mass media with the purpose of propagating their ideas and control the masses.

Although the authorities in the novels *The Fixed Period*, *A Clockwork Orange* and *Never Let Me Go* try to create an ideal society, they create a society disregarding the demands of the individuals by sacrificing individualism for collectivism. The desired utopian societies turn into dystopian societies for the individuals. The problem of the nature of utopia is that utopian ideals require control mechanisms as well and as

a consequence, dystopian societies are formed, which makes it impossible to attain a perfect society. It can be said that utopias are inherently dystopian in that they also use control mechanisms in order to discipline the life of the individuals through laws and a set of specific rules. In other words, dystopia "is a utopia that has gone wrong, or a utopia that functions only for a particular segment of society" (Gordin et al.1).

Satire is used as the basic element in dystopian novels. *Gulliver's Travels* (1726), written by Jonathan Swift, is a novel containing both utopian and dystopian elements as the narrator Lemuel Gulliver tells about his adventures in different fictional lands such as Lilliput, Blefescu, Brobdingnag, Laputa, and Houyhnhnms that have people and creatures of different sizes and characteristics specific to themselves. The British society with its faults and corruption is criticized. Both in the first type of utopias and dystopias the attempt of creating an alternative world, where the contemporary issues are dealt with in a satirical way, is observed. "...when our imaginative power was strictly limited by experience of our own worlds, we could make contact only with worlds closely akin to our own" (Jameson xii). As in More's *Utopia*, the attempt of creating an alternative world is observed in *Gulliver's Travels* too.

Mary Shelley's *Frankenstein* published in 1818 carries dystopian elements as well and it can be considered one of the first modern period dystopian novels. Regarding the monster created by Frankenstein, Claeys touches upon the effect of collectivisms on individuals. "The creature standing in part for the 'new man' of the revolutionary ideal, and also centrally focuses on the Godwinian (or Rousseauesque) theme of naturally virtuous individuals being corrupted by society" (Claeys, *The Cambridge Companion to Utopian Literature* 110).

The Industrial Revolution that started in England in the middle of eighteenth century and continued at the beginning of the Victorian Period brought fundamental changes to the social and working life for the British. "In England, the 1850s and 1860s were affluent decades for the middle classes" (Beaumont 12). Technological advances were thought to increase the welfare of the people but "[they] well illustrated Bacon's dictum that "knowledge is power" by providing concrete demonstrations of the

amazing capabilities of the human mind to understand, dominate, and control nature—but these same advances were dominating and controlling people as well" (Booker, *The Dystopian Impulse in Modern Literature* 6). The traditional and religious values, life styles changed to a great extent, and towards the end of the Victorian Period the positive atmosphere changed towards a negative direction. This was reflected in utopian novels as well. "The dawn of evolutionary utopianism which found its masterpieces in Well's *Time Machine* and Olaf Stapledon'd *Last and First Men* opened a new chapter in the modes of expression in utopian fiction" (Somay 44-45). Rather than the parallel worlds created both in *Utopia* of More and *Gulliver's Travels* of Swift, later period dystopian novels tended to create future worlds.

Nineteenth-century witnessed the scientific developments and imperial expansion. This is a century that contributes to both towards the welfare of the British society and paving the road to a nightmarish society with new control mechanisms. "For example, mechanization plays an important role in the industrial efficiency of the socialistic utopia of Edward Bellamy's Looking Backward (1888), but in Samuel Butler's Erewhon (1872) machines have been banished together because of their tendency to tyrannize the men who made them" (Booker, The Dystopian Impulse in Modern Literature 6). The latter novel is a fictional work criticising Victorian Period. There were some other important dystopian novels written in that period. The Battle of Dorking: Reminiscences of a Volunteer, written by George Tomkyns Chesney and published in 1871 tells about the invasion of Britain and thus opens a new era for fictional works telling about invasions. The Coming Race, whose author is Edward Bulwer-Lytton, is another dystopian novel written in the same year. In that novel, the government of the society that lives beneath the earth makes people believe that they live in a utopian society. The fictional works written in that period showed that optimism of The Victorian Period was replaced by a future of uncertainty. Booker expresses that it is thus in the course of the nineteenth century-in which technological utopianism reached its peak-that dystopian literature becomes an important and identifiable cultural force and by the time Newtonian science reached its zenith in the nineteenth century (along with the imperialism and capitalism that it had helped to produce), scientific discoveries were already beginning to undermine the unlimited

faith in the power of science that had been growing during the two previous centuries (Booker, *Dystopian Literature* 5-6).

While categorizing the novels, some may be classified as utopian, dystopian, science fiction or both as science fiction and dystopian. However, Claeys differentiates dystopian fiction from science fiction by stating that dystopia portrays feasible negative visions of social and political development, cast principally in fictional form, and that by "feasible" what is implied is that no extraordinary or utterly unrealistic features dominate the narrative. He gives the example of *The War of the Worlds* (1898) by claiming that it is not a dystopia since 'Martians' belong not to the realm of dystopia but to that of science fiction:

A voyage in a balloon in 1863 thus is not science fiction; a journey to the moon is. A voyage to another planet was science fiction in 1850 but will probably not be in 2020. Eugenic dystopias remain within the bounds of possibility. Conquest by alien beings, or robots, or the final calling of time by God at Judgment Day, may portray dystopic elements (as well as utopic, or both simultaneously). But texts portraying such events are not 'dystopias' as such. (Claeys, *The Cambridge Companion to Utopian Literature* 109)

Some novels such as *Time Machine*, written by the English writer H.G. Wells in 1895, can be regarded as both science fictional and dystopian in literature because of the elements they meld specific to both genres. The novel is one of the important dystopian novels that tells about the future. It is about time travel that takes the narrator to the year AD 802,701 and there the time traveller meets the Eloi, a peaceful people but weak in protecting themselves against the Morlocks, who prey on the Eloi to cover their need of meat. The Morlocks represent the working class living under the earth. Wells was affected by the conditions of his period in that until the Late Victorian Period capitalism was deeply established in the society. Beaumont expresses that *Time Machine* "is a dire warning to the bourgeoisie of what will happen to it if it does not implement minimal social reforms in the present – but one which, at the same time, takes fright at the deterrent image of the future that it flaunts" (Beaumont 5).

Although many science fictional works tended to have dystopian quality, there were still aspirations of creating a better world during this period. The ideal world in which people could live happily was portrayed in *News From Nowhere* (1890) written by William Morris, who depicts an industrial England with difficult life conditions transformed into a pastoral one. Yet, the developments that followed the Victorian Period would not offer a very optimistic world to the society.

The Industrial Revolution in England was expected to bring welfare and happiness for all of the society by improving the life conditions. However, with the two world wars in 1914 and 1939 in the twentieth century that followed the pessimism in the last period of the Victorian Era, peoples and the states that expected the technological progress would change everything for the better were disappointed. In *Civilization and Its Discontents* published in 1930, Freud expresses that man has taken great steps in knowledge of the natural sciences and technical application of them, and has established his dominion over nature in a way never before imagined. He emphasizes that mankind is proud of its exploits but is beginning to perceive that all this newly-won power over space and time, this conquest of the forces of nature, this fulfilment of age-old longings, has not increased the amount of pleasure they can obtain in life (Freud 13).

Twentieth century was a century of great changes regarding modernism and power struggle in the world. It was a result of mechanization and industrialization that some countries such as Germany wanted to expand their territories by invading the other countries. It is because of this that the twentieth century witnessed two great world wars and millions of deaths. Thus, the twentieth century prepared the ground for innumerable dystopian novels as a result of wars, economic crises, and social and political conditions.

At the dawn of the twentieth century the tendency in writing dystopian novels was towards political dystopian novels since totalitarian regimes were rising in the middle of Europe and in some other parts of the world. Scientific and technological innovations found their ways in dystopian novels too and such innovations were soon to be misused by the fictional totalitarian regimes representing the real ones in order

to control their societies completely rather than for the good of their own people. Such novels continued to be written before, during and after the two world wars. The process that led to the world wars and the destruction caused by these two wars was so huge that there was an increase in dystopian novels and a decrease in utopian novels as a result of the anxieties that were felt regarding a dark future. Therefore, it is not surprising that we have had more and more dystopian novels starting with the oppressive rulers like Hitler, Mussolini and Stalin who used oppression and systematic cruelties in their societies. Technological developments and innovations with dizzying speed, difficulties caused by the modern life, changes brought by science, climate change, overpopulation as well as suppression by totalitarian regimes are the commonly used themes for the dystopian novels of the twentieth century. The real world, with its problems and crisis that arose out of technology and industry, began to be represented with future distant lands through dystopias. Some of these novels such as H. G. Well's *Time Machine*, Aldous Huxley's *A Brave New World*, Orwell's *1984* (1948) were so popular that today they are still among novels that are widely read.

Yevgeny Zamyatin's dystopian novel *We*, published in 1924 in English is considered the first totalitarian novel and has some similarities with Orwell's *1984*. The story takes place in a very distant future in the world conquered by One State. All citizens are numbered and are called with numbers rather than their proper names. All citizens, along with the protagonist D-503 are watched by the secret police. They live in apartment buildings made of glass and their all activities are controlled by the state. The novels such as *We* project a dark world that may occur in the very near future. That is way it is not a coincidence that in the year 1925 the fascist regime in Italy reached the power. Dystopian novels such as *We* thus foresee the possible dangers for the humanity.

With the technological developments at the beginning of the twentieth century the purpose was to create an easy life for the humanity and thus lead them to have a prosperous life but what turned out to be was dystopia. One of the best examples of dystopian novels in this regard is *A Brave New World* published in 1932. It reflects the anxieties of a time during which mechanization and scientific developments reached a summit. The novel projects a dark future with a totalitarian state controlling its people

through science and technology. The freedom of the people is eliminated through conditioning. Creating five classes of people of different abilities during embryo stage under the titles Alpha, Beta, Gamma, Delta, and Epsilon determines the characteristics of the persons beforehand (Huxley 9).

Dystopian novels are a genre in which power relations, authority and control mechanisms are felt most. *The Aerodrome*, written by the British Rex Warner and published in 1941 was an example dystopian novel reflecting the anxieties regarding totalitarian regimes. The year 1948 witnessed the novel *1984* by the great British writer George Orwell. George Orwell, using his imagination blended with the realities he saw in his age and the experiences he had in Burma and the Spanish Civil War, wrote a novel in which there was a new world order with many social control mechanisms. His novel was a warning of totalitarian regimes such as Soviet Russia and Germany and the restrictions they imposed on their people. Today the novel *1984* is still one of the dystopian novels mentioned most since the future world that was thought to exist sometime in the future carries many characteristics that we have in ruling of some countries today. Since the totalitarian regime that is mentioned in the novel is always a possible one, the novel serves as a warning as well to all countries. The dystopian novels thus do not depict worlds that are not possible at all but worlds that are affected by the conditions of their periods during which the novels were written.

The novel 1984, which presents a dystopian world in which everything, even the mind is controlled and freedom is limited to a very great extent, just goes beyond the limits of imagination with the actions of a totalitarian regime. However, what makes this novel interesting and still readable is that it contains truth to a certain extent. It is the truth presented to some extent in the novel which makes people and individuals living in the world have fears about their future. With the development of the latest technology today, different countries spy on their citizens or on the governmental authorities either of their countries or the other countries. Still in some countries with different regimes, people's private lives are violated in various ways. Even internet connection is limited or forbidden just to avoid the risks that may affect the ideology of the rulers. Although Orwell wrote his novel 1984 just a short period after the end of the World War, and the year 1984 was a year in which the world turned out to be a

better place contrary to the world he created in his novel, his novel is still read and admired by many people as it is related to reality to a certain degree.

In 1984, Orwell gives place to language as well. Newspeak language, which is created by the Party, is used as an ideological instrument. In his essay "Politics and the English Language" Orwell conveys his ideas about the language and how it can be misused according to the aims and benefits of political parties. He gives the examples of the British rule in India, atom bombs dropped on Japan by the USA, and purges and deportations conducted by the Russians in order to consolidate their power and justify their actions by manipulating the language for their political aims:

Defenceless villages are bombarded from the air, the inhabitants driven out into the countryside, the cattle machine-gunned, the huts set on fire with incendiary bullets: this is called *pacification*. Millions of peasants are robbed of their farms and sent trudging along the roads with no more than they can carry: this is called *transfer of population* or *rectification of frontiers*. People are imprisoned for years without trial or shot in the back of the neck or sent to die of scurvy in Arctic lumber camps: this is called *elimination of unreliable elements*. Such phraseology is needed if one wants to name things without calling up mental pictures of them. ("Politics and the English Language" 2390)

In the following decades there were new dystopian novels dealing with issues from environmental problems to the negative effects of technology. Anthony Burgess wrote his *The Wanting Seed* in 1962, in the same year that his *A Clockwork Orange* was published. Both novels concentrate on freedoms that are limited to a great extent by the state. His former novel tells about a government that imposes infertility and homosexuality on its people in order to prevent the population increase.

Dystopian novels criticizing the fascist and communist countries gave way to many other dystopian novels of various topics in further years. Of course, the writer's own experiences and environment were important elements on his/her imagination in creating the fiction in the novel. *High-rise* (1975) by J.G. Ballard is a novel portraying the effects of modern life on people. The residents of a high-rise building lead a luxurious life but then begin to get into troubles. They deal with each other and after some time stop going to work and live in the apartment building in a chaotic

environment. Ballard stresses the lack of social life caused by modern life in our world. Margaret Atwood's *The Handmaid's Tale* (1985) and many other dystopian novels appeared in bookshops.

Consumerism, technology and robots, a new order in the world, scientific developments were some common themes dealt with in dystopian novels towards the end of the twentieth century. The simple forms of electronic machines and computers were created in the middle of the twentieth century. The structure of DNA was unraveled by James Watson and Francis Crick in 1953 (Alberts et al. 192). The first heart transplantation was performed in 1967. Neil Armstrong and Buzz Aldrin landed on the moon in 1969. Towards the end of the century there were many dystopian novels released by many American novelists. Euromancer was written by William Gibson in 1984. In recent decades, dystopian stories have appeared a lot not only in novels but in movies too because of the widespread pessimism. *The Terminator* directed by James Cameron and released in 1984 was about a post-apocalyptic future from where a cyborg is sent to kill Sarah Connor, whose son will save the humanity against the machines. This movie is significant in that it reveals the possibility of robots' rejecting human control and establishing their own control mechanism by destroying human beings. The Matrix, another movie released in 1999, also tells about a dystopian future. The Hunger Games by Suzan Collins consists of three dystopian novels that take place in Panem. Divergent trilogy written by American novelist Veronica Roth is another trilogy of dystopian novels taking place in post-apocalyptic Chicago. As clearly seen from the examples given above, the themes of the dystopian novels have a close relation with the anxieties regarding the future of human beings. Dystopia is a literary genre where power and social control mechanisms are very clearly observed.

CHAPTER TWO

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK OF THE RESEARCH

2.1. New Historicism

The three novels: The Fixed Period, A Clockwork Orange, and Never Let Me Go were selected for the study in this dissertation. According to New Historicism and the theories of Foucault, history is a series of ruptures and each period has its specific discourse and power mechanisms. Therefore, the discourses and power mechanisms to be mentioned in the following chapters differ from each other since they belong to the nineteenth, twentieth, and twenty first centuries. The Fixed Period is a product of imperial and colonial discourse. It portrays social issues such as colonization and aging within that discourse. Likewise, A Clockwork Orange, as a product of another discourse, deals with juvenile delinquency of 1960s, which was a serious problem not only in Britain but also in the world. The third novel Never Let Me Go deals with cloning, which is an important issue of its period. Revealing the horrible aspects of scientific progress, it is an important product of scientific discourse. The chosen novels are dystopian and each reflects the anxieties and concerns of its period clearly. In addition, power relations and control mechanisms are felt most in such dystopian novels. The literary theory New Historicism will be applied to understand the discourse of each period better.

New Historicism is a critical theory that seeks to understand how dominant power mechanisms in cultures are represented in texts belonging to a specific period and how these mechanisms change the course of the history. It claims that all human actions are based on power. New Historicism has been an influential literary criticism in literature in recent decades. It was influenced by the philosophy of Michel Foucault especially regarding power. Literature written down by authors contains details about power relations in society. The New Historicist seeks to comprehend which groups are struggling over power.

This literary theory appeared as a reaction against formalism, which aimed at dealing with the text in isolation without taking cultural and historical conditions into consideration. It studies the text along with other literary and non-literary texts that reflected the conditions, culture, ideology, and power relations of the period. However, Formalism deals with the formal features of a text. It is concerned with the definitions of the words, structures of the sentences, style, figures of speech, and so on. New Criticism, a type of Formalism, makes use of the strategy of *close reading*. New historicism is related to Poststructuralism as well. "... many new historicists make a further claim by arguing that even the poststructuralism to which it is indebted, especially deconstruction, can be as ahistorical as New Critical formalism. Sensing that...these new historicists follow Jameson's call, "always historicize" (Brook 184).

According to many critics, New Historicism was influenced by the "new left, cultural materialism, the crisis of 1968, post-modernist response to that crisis, post-structuralism as part of that response, and most particularly by the historiography of Michel Foucault" (Newton 153). New Historicism has used the French historian and philosopher Foucault's theories on power as one of the basic tenets. "Inspired by Michel Foucault's historical investigations of medical and penal institutions and his theoretical understanding of power, the New Historicists see the literary work as a vessel tossed in a social sea of competing interests, antagonistic values, and contradictions" (Greenblatt, *Introduction to Power of Forms* 2250).

New Historicism was introduced by American theorist and critic Stephen Greenblatt in the early 1980s. Greenblatt is renowned for his Shakespeare studies. His major works are *Renaissance Self-Fashioning: From More to Shakespeare* (1980), *Shakespearean Negotiations* (1988), *Representing the English Renaissance* (1988), *Learning to Curse* (1990), *Marvelous Possessions* (1991), and *Practicing New Historicism* (2000).

Questioning the unified and totalizing approaches of the traditional historicism, Greenblatt took a stance against making generalisations regarding the reading of the history. New Historicism does not deny that there were real events that took place in history. However, what tells us about the past are conveyed to us in written form and they are subjective. History cannot easily be interpreted without considering details. Therefore, the relations between the author, text, and society is of utmost importance in interpreting the past. Literary texts, in this aspect, contribute to the dynamism of the relations in that network.

Reading the literary and non-literary texts of the period from a new perspective constitutes the spine of New Historicism and makes it different from old historicism, which claims to evaluate the text from an objective point of view. Old historicism puts forward the events of the past, simply the history to the background of the text. New Historicism, however gives the same importance to both history and the literary text. "Literature and history are therefore no longer in binary opposition" (Green and LeBihan 112). Bringing a sceptical point of the view to the events which took place in the past, New Historicism "privileges power relations as the most important context for texts of all kinds" (Brannigan 6), and thus differs from old historicism.

Rejecting seeing the literary texts autonomous, New Historicism requires making use of sociocultural context of a period since texts always interact with the cultures and ideologies in which they are created. In *Representing the English Renaissance*, Greenblatt, referring to the Renaissance texts, expresses that literature existed in that period, however, not in an autonomous aesthetic realm. Its boundary was contested and renegotiated. It needed a cultural environment to be produced:

These contests and negotiations are all social; they do not occur in a private chamber of the artist's imagination, for that imagination, in its materials and resources and aspirations, is already a social construct. This does not mean that art can be reduced to social structures such as class, status, or kinship, any more than it can be simply collapsed into the material basis for its production and consumption. A culture's diverse social constructions are at once interconnected and differentiated, so that if, for example, a culturally dominant conception of social inequality shapes artistic representations, those representations have at the same time the power to constrain, shape, alter, and even resist the conception of social inequality. (*Representing the English Renaissance* vii-viii)

Greenblatt emphasizes the importance of texts that circulate in a society through exchange and negotiation and how they create a social synergy and contribute to the construction of identity. In forming our identity, we are not completely free. We are bound to some criteria or regulations that encircle us and usually we are not aware of them since everything seems to be normal. Greenblatt discussed the principles of New Historicism in *Renaissance Self-Fashioning: From More to Shakespeare*. He uses the term *self-fashioning* to refer to the process of constructing identity by focusing on leading literary figures of the sixteenth century England during the Renaissance. He mentions a set of governing conditions common in self-fashioning according to acceptable standards. The noble men of the Renaissance were culturally expected to attire and behave according to the norms expected from them. They were bound to cultural codes that were effective on their lives. "...power lies in the ability to persuade people to behave according to certain rules and principles even though and precisely to the extent that they *do not* believe in them" (Robson 61).

Self-fashioning is something that occurs outside us with cultural forces or values. We are surrounded with control mechanisms that penetrate into the core of our soul. "Self-fashioning is in effect the Renaissance version of these control mechanisms, the cultural system of meanings that creates specific individuals by governing the passage from abstract potential to concrete historical embodiment" (Renaissance Self-Fashioning 3-4). Regarding the place of the literature in these power relations, Greenblatt explains that literature functions in three interlocking ways: it displays the "behaviour" of its author, "the expression of the codes by which behavior is shaped, and as a reflection upon those codes" (Renaissance Self-Fashioning 4). The literary text also reflects the social and cultural values, and life experiences of the author. In addition, a literary work mentions and explain the control mechanisms which are regarded as "codes". Focusing on complex structure of power, Greenblatt suggests that self-fashioning takes place with submission to "an absolute power or authority". It requires an external force or power which may be "God, a sacred book, an institution such as church, court, colonial or military administration ..." (Renaissance Self-Fashioning 9).

In his epilogue to his *Renaissance Self-Fashioning: From More to Shakespeare*, Greenblatt expresses that during the composition of his book, initially he thought that the Renaissance middle-class and aristocratic males possessed a

shaping power but as his work progressed he had doubts about self-fashioning and found out that those human beings were the ideological products of the Renaissance within power relations:

I perceived that fashioning oneself and being fashioned by cultural institutions – family, religion, state – were inseparably intertwined. In all my texts and documents, there were, so far as I could tell, no moments of pure, unfettered subjectivity; indeed, the human subject itself began to seem remarkably unfree, the ideological product of the relations of power in a particular society. (*Renaissance Self-Fashioning* 256)

Man takes part in the fashioning of his identity. Individuals are required to fashion themselves in accordance with tenets asserted by the discourses or ideologies. Anything they do or demand will take place within the framework of that discourse. Greenblatt cannot imagine an identity constructed without being affected socially and culturally of its period:

Whenever I focused sharply upon a moment of apparently autonomous self-fashioning, I found not an epiphany of identity freely chosen but a cultural artifact. If there remained traces of free choice, the choice was among possibilities whose range was strictly delineated by the social and ideological system in force. (*Renaissance Self-Fashioning* 256)

New Historicism considers identity as culturally constructed. Robson states that Greenblatt would not accept the idea of an innate natural definition of the self, and even the freedom to choose as he recognizes that the sense that we shape our own identities may be an illusion. Nonetheless, it is an illusion in which we would like to believe (Robson 63-64). Greenblatt claims that the English Renaissance had its own ideological system and power mechanisms that required the individuals to fashion their identities within its own system. The individuals he analysed had identities moulded with the ideology of that historical moment. Language, defined by ideology, had a role in constructing identity.

Language is a part of forming identity since it is a tool that we use to negotiate and communicate with others. Language acquisition does not only take place between two persons. It requires contacting different people in a long time in a social environment. Through this way it becomes a collective construction. Greenblatt states that as critics we need to "grasp more sensitively the consequences of this fact by investigating both the social presence to the world of the literary text and the social presence of the world in the literary text" (*Renaissance Self-Fashioning 5*). Language is not born out of nothing. It is not created in a vacuum but in a social environment within the network of complex power relations.

Greenblatt expresses that although Shakespeare is the embodiment of human freedom and fashioned the language to say anything he imagined, he was a subject with limits. "Though he lived his life as the bound subject of a monarch in a strictly hierarchical society that policed expression in speech and in print, he possessed what Hamlet calls a free soul" (*Shakespeares's Freedom* 1). Greenblatt comments that the word "free" used by Shakespeare in his work is "the opposite of confined, imprisoned, subjected, constrained, and afraid to speak out" (1). Nevertheless, he was living within cultural limits.

Catherine Gallagher, Louis Montrose, and Clifford Geertz are the other important figures in New Historicism. American literary theorist Louis Montrose introduced the concept of "the historicity of texts" and "the textuality of history" into New Historicism. Montrose explains:

By the historicity of texts, I mean to suggest the cultural specificity, the social embedment, of all modes of writing-not only the texts that critics study but also the texts in which we study them. By the textuality of history, I mean to suggest, firstly, that we can have no access to a full and authentic past, a lived material existence, unmediated by the surviving textual traces of the society in question-traces whose survival we cannot assume to be merely contingent but must rather presume to be at least partially consequent upon complex and subtle social processes of preservation and effacement; and secondly, that those textual traces are themselves subject to subsequent textual mediations when they are constructed as the "documents" upon which historians ground their own texts, called "histories". ("Professing the Renaissance" 20)

According to New Historicism, the ideology of the period during which a text is produced is reflected in the text itself. Hence, material documentation gains

importance since they are products of a specific period and created by the society of its time. "All texts, all documents, are representations of the beliefs, values and forms of power circulating in a society at a given time in specific circumstances, and therefore all texts of a given time are in some ways interconnecting and interactive" (Brannigan 132). New Historicism states that the work affects its period as well as it is affected by its period. Thus, it is vitally important to comprehend the cultural, social, and economic conditions of the period in order to bring new interpretations for the literary texts to reveal the ideology of the time that prevails over subjects.

Althusser's concept of ideology and constitution of social subjectivity by ideology have common points with New Historicism. Althusser, focusing on ideology, explains that the school (but also other State institutions like the Church, or other apparatuses like the Army) teaches 'know-how', but in forms which ensure *subjection* to the ruling ideology or the mastery of its 'practice' (Althusser 7). Such institutions require individuals to be brought up, educated, and trained in accordance with what the prevalent ideology demands.

Similarly, Greenblatt's *Renaissance Self-Fashioning from More to Shakespeare* claims that self-fashioning is not autonomous. "[It] is achieved in relation to something perceived as alien, strange, or hostile. This threatening Other—heretic, savage, witch, adulteress, traitor, Antichrist—must be discovered or invented in order to be attacked and destroyed" (*Renaissance Self-Fashioning 9*). The new control mechanisms of the early modern period took stance against old and medieval attitudes. However, identity formation in the Renaissance period needed an "other" in order to define itself in its struggle against the still active heretic, savage, witch, adulteress, traitor, Antichrist.

The scope of New Historicism is comprehensive since it deals with anthropology, cultural studies, sociology, economics, literature, and history. Therefore, the new historicist has to analyse various texts under this interdisciplinary umbrella. Thus, the full understanding of a literary text along with its context is rendered possible. New historicism not only deals with power relations of the rulers and their subjects but also of the whole society since power exercises in all layers of

the society affecting the position of the rulers as well. Power functions in a cultural milieu. It is culture that shapes how the writers think and write.

Culture is the core element in New Historicist studies. Greenblatt devised the name cultural poetics for his theory in order to draw attention to the relation between culture and literary works. Gallagher and Greenblatt state that when we take culture as text, we can conduct the literary analysis of it from a wider perspective since we will have lots of materials to make use of. We will not limit ourselves only with the major works that are accepted as the canon. Implying that New Historicism has brought a new dimension to literary criticism, Gallagher and Greenblatt express that noncanonical literary works along with non-literary texts have gained importance: "There has been in effect a social rebellion in the study of culture, so that figures hitherto kept outside the proper circles of interest...have now forced their way in, or rather have been invited in by our generation of critics" (Practicing New Historicism 9-10).

In *Practicing New Historicism*, Gallagher and Greenblatt emphasize the importance of anecdotes in reaching details about the complex power relations to understand the ideology of the time. Anecdotes are a devise to recreate the history:

The anecdotes would open history, or place it askew, so that literary texts could find new points of insertion. Perhaps texts would even shed their singular categorical identities, their divisions into "literary" and "historical"; at the very least, "history" could be imagined as part of their contingency, a component of their time-bound materiality, an element of their unpredictability. Approached sideways, through the eccentric anecdote, 'history' would cease to be a way of stabilizing texts; it would instead become part of their enigmatic being. (*Practicing New Historicism* 51)

Since conditions differ from period to period, each period or era has its own exclusive social, political, and cultural atmosphere. All genres of literature are embedded in their discourse and ideology and they come to us as written texts. What we know about the past is the information we get through texts. In this regard, how the work reflects its period gains great importance. The text is affected by any kind of social developments or changes. It, however, affects its era by spreading the

information it contains along with its ideology. While doing the new historicist reading, a new historicist carefully scrutinizes the historical context of literary texts in order to find traces of culture, ideology, and struggles of power. However, the new historicists themselves are affected by their own time, which means when attributing meaning to the text, they will make their comments under the effect of the ideology of their time and personal experiences.

The new historicist is aware that they themselves, while analysing a literary text of the past along with non-literary documents, are biased as they are a product of a discourse. Thus, it is not possible for individuals to keep themselves away from their social, cultural, economic, or political climate, which is true for authors and historicists as well. As Abrams states: "New historicists acknowledge that they themselves, like all authors, are "subjectivities" that have been shaped and informed by the circumstances and discourses specific to their era..." (186). On the other hand, readers are likewise under the influence of the discourse of their era and will have expectations from the text accordingly. That's why the meanings we attribute to the texts we analyse today are liable to somewhat different interpretations and meanings in the future. The cultural background and experiences of the new historicist are effective in reinterpreting the past. This means that meanings are not constant but they are flexible.

According to New Historicism, history is not a unitary past. The new historicist, along with literary sources, makes use of contemporary documents to understand the hidden assumptions, cultural biases, and moral values of the time. "New historicists are determinedly suspicious of unified, monolithic depictions of cultures or historical periods, insisting that there were countless Elizabethan world views but not a monolithic Elizabethan world picture" (*The Greenblatt Reader 3*). It is through this way the past is reinterpreted and reconstructed. Louis Montrose's essay titled 'Eliza, Queene of Shepheardes' published in 1980 is regarded important since it shares common features with New Historicist reading. Montrose, who is accepted as one of the key figures of New Historicism today, focused on power relations within cultural context of Elizabethan era. "Elizabethan culture inherited and imported a richly heterogeneous pastoral tradition: pagan and biblical, satiric and romantic, rustic and courtly, religious and erotic" ("Eliza, Queene of Shepheardes" 166). He sought

sites of struggle to identify power holders. He expresses that pastoral images were grounded not only in literary history but also in contemporary religious and socio-economic experience and that they constitute one of the "symbolic formations" contributing to the establishment and continuity of the Elizabethan regime in a period of religious and socio-economic upheaval. He mentions how the royal image was constructed between Queen Elizabeth I and her subjects: "Royal pastoral was developed into a remarkably flexible cultural instrument for the mediation of power relations between Queen and subjects" (166).

New Historicism, standing against a universally accepted absolute truth, claims that the truth of the past can never be known since objective meaning is not possible. New Historicism asserts that there is no single interpretation or truth of history. "Truth, for many nineteenth-and twentieth-century philosophers, is no longer a stable category which is objectively knowable" (Brannigan 5). Eagleton, a critical theorist of Marxism, which shares some common tenets with New Historicism, states that historiography was a form of narration conditioned by the narrator's own prejudices and preoccupations, and there was no single determinable truth to any particular narrative or event, just a conflict of interpretations whose outcome was finally determined by power rather than truth (Eagleton 197).

Regarding *truth*, it can be said that truth needs to correspond with reality and it should not change even put in different situations. Furthermore, there must be a common sense for understanding it. Reality has been discussed by philosophers since ancient times. In eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, with the development of modern philosophy different theories have been developed regarding truth and reality. "Nietzsche, for instance, sees truth as a mobile army of metaphors, an image which sees truth operating not only as a flexible weapon defined by and acting in the interests of a ruling ideology, but also as a rhetorical rather than an empirical phenomenon" (Brannigan 5). New Historicism analyses and tries to seek meaning out of texts in order to understand the prevailing ideas of a specific period. It evaluates and reinterprets the past not merely based on facts or events but within the network of complex human reality embedded in power relations. Brannigan states that for critics such as Stephen Greenblatt or Alan Sinfield, literary texts are vehicles of power which act as useful

objects of study in that they contain the same potential for power and subversion as exist in society generally. Power depends upon subversive beliefs in order to reinforce its constructions of reality and normality (Brannigan 6,64).

New Historicism does not study only the powerful but also the marginalized groups, like female, people of different ethnicities, the mad, and so on: "[S]o much of the work in the new historicism has attempted to restore women, working people, and other marginal groups (although rarely, so far, black people) to the discussion of literary texts" (Fox-Genovese 217). Giving a voice to the suppressed and finding out the subversive voices of such characters are the basic tenets of this theory.

[There is] a tendency...to recommend that the reader, even if against an author's intention, shift his or her sympathy from the dominant to the subversive characters in a literary work—from the magus Prospero, for example, in Shakespeare's *The Tempest*, to his brutish and rebellious slave Caliban, who is taken to represent the natives of the New World who are oppressed and enslaved by English and European invaders. (Abrams 75)

While interpreting a literary work, all conditions should be taken into consideration. The text, the author, the culture of the period must be the basic tenets in literary criticism.

If interpretation limits itself to the behavior of the author, it becomes literary biography (in either a conventionally historical or psychoanalytic mode) and risks losing a sense of the larger networks of meaning in which both the author and his works participate. If, alternatively, literature is viewed exclusively as the expression of social rules and instructions, it risks being absorbed entirely into an ideological superstructure. (Greenblatt, *Renaissance Self-Fashioning* 4)

New Historicism attempts to inquire about the past with its discourse, culture, and power mechanisms that shaped the lives of people. By analysing texts of all kinds, the New Historicist reaches details about history as if having a live negotiation or meeting. In his seminal work *Shakespearean Negotiations*, Greenblatt starts the chapter by saying: "I began with the desire to speak to the dead" (1). The attempt to speak to the dead is initiated by the critic himself/herself"...for the dead had contrived

to leave textual traces of themselves, and those traces make themselves heard in the voices of the living" (1).

Power is pervasive and it is everywhere. This is the basic tenet accepted by all new historicists. The duty of a new historicist is to reveal the complex relations of power and expose it. Power relations are hidden in cultural milieu of a society. Literary and non-literary texts are invaluable sources for a new historicist to reinterpret the past from his/her world. Thus, the ideology of the past is clearly brought to the surface with this theory that sees history not as linear but as ruptures.

According to New Historicism "historical events are irrecoverably lost" (Barry 175). History is what we learn from texts and these texts pass through some elimination stages until they reach us. They may be written according to the subjective viewpoints of writers or new interpretations may be added. It is only through the texts that we can know about history. Thus, non-literary texts, along with literary texts, become significant. By evaluating different types of texts of contemporary periods, including the biographies and the autobiographies of writers, the prevailing ideology of the time can be pinpointed. The texts are affected by their historical moment. The societies arrange and organize them so the texts are passed on from generation to generation in narrative form. Thus, material documentation becomes a means of carrying the narrative to the present:

...history is the work expended on material documentation (books, texts, accounts, registers, acts, buildings, institutions, laws, techniques, objects, customs, etc.) that exists, in every time and place, in every society, either in a spontaneous or in a consciously organized form. The document is not the fortunate tool of a history that is primarily and fundamentally memory; history is one way in which a society recognizes and develops a mass of documentation with which it is inextricably linked. (Foucault, *The Archaeology of Knowledge* 7)

Initially applied to literary texts of the Renaissance period, New Historicism has brought a new approach to both history and culture. The changing standards of different historical periods bring different interpretations to history and literary texts. In New Historicism the texts of the past are evaluated from the perspective of present

conditions. Thus, texts are reinterpreted from a subjective point of view and this interpretation is shaped according to the historical dynamics of the period.

American historian and literary critic Hayden White, who is known for his concept of metahistory, regards history writing in a similar way that new historicists look at history. Resembling history writing to narration, he claims that history writing cannot be devoid of judgments. He gives the years 1830-1870 as the period characterized by sustained debate over historical theory and by the consistent production of massive narrative accounts of past cultures and societies. Giving examples of four renowned historicists, he states that they composed their narrative accounts of the past. It was during the nineteenth century that discussion about how a realistic conception of history might be judged (White 39-40).

The literary theory that is close to New Historicism is Cultural Materialism, which also appeared in 1980s. New Historicism in its range of analysis shows some similarities with cultural materialism, which emerged in England. They both examine the relation between power relations and literary texts. Cultural materialism, which was developed in the UK by the neo-Marxist British Critic Raymond Williams shares many similarities as well as differences with its transatlantic counterpart New Historicism.

Both theories refuse to see history as providing facts. Instead they search for all types of texts in order to reveal the relation between history and text. For the critics of these theories "texts of all kinds are the vehicles of politics insofar as texts mediate the fabric of social, political and cultural formations" (Brannigan 3). Unlike other literary criticisms, both reject the universal significance of texts by claiming that texts are literary products of their own time. Although new historicism and cultural materialism have the same focus, there are significant differences between the two. While new historicism studies "the functions and representations of power", cultural materialism concentrates on "defiance, subversion, dissidence, resistance", and "political opposition" (Brannigan 108). They both explore the possibilities of subversion. New historicism focuses on how power functions in the past and the 'very means by which power achieves its aims'. However, cultural materialism focuses on

'instability which can be its doing' (Brannigan 109). Examining the political struggles and focusing on the past and present, cultural materialism differs from new historicism that analyses the power relations in the past from the perspective of the present.

Greenblatt's *Invisible Bullets* (1988) is an important essay used in textual analysis in New Historicism. It covers Thomas Harriot's narrative about the natives in the New World and Shakespearean period drama. Drama and theatrical plays, and of course Shakespeare's plays, are seen as sites of struggle and a channel of power. *Invisible Bullets* tells about how the natives were made believe in the superiority of the Europeans and how they were subjugated with power mechanisms operating through ideology.

Two concepts that were introduced by Greenblatt in his essay *Invisible Bullets* as a means of control are "subversion" and "containment". They began to be used in New Historicism as key elements for defining the complex power relations. Greenblatt here describes Thomas Harriot's report about the native Americans in the Colony of Virginia in 1586. Harriot was "the author of the first original book about the first English colony in America" (The Greenblatt Reader 121). Since Christianity meant civilization for the colonists, they tried to impose it to convert the Indians using subversion. Harriot, by getting the natives to believe in the superiority and divinity of the white through "a sense of religion as a set of beliefs manipulated by the subtlety of priests to help instil obedience and respect for authority" (*The Greenblatt Reader* 125) and the tools they brought along with themselves and convincing them that the diseases they brought from Europe with themselves could kill the natives, finally converted the Indians into Christianity. The Indians thus doubted their own religion and believed in Christian God and that they could die in case of resistance or disobedience. The colonists used subversion for their own insidious purposes. "For critics such as Stephen Greenblatt or Alan Sinfield, literary texts are vehicles of power which act as

¹ the process of trying to destroy the authority of a political, religious, etc. system by attacking it secretly or indirectly / an act of changing something to its opposite, especially when this challenges fixed ideas or expectations

² the act of keeping something under control so that it cannot spread in a harmful way / the act of keeping another country's power within limits so that it does not become too powerful

useful objects of study in that they contain the same potential for power and subversion as exist in society generally" (Brannigan 6).

Brannigan treats the concept of *power* as the most elusive term in the vocabulary of New Historicism and Cultural Materialism. It is used related with domination and resistance that saturate our social, political, and cultural relations. It is productive as well and that it hovers between being oppressive and being productive, and one of the most elusive aspects of it is that it seems to emanate from us, and to be applied to us (Brannigan 15). He adds that "whereas for New Historicism subversion is always contained by state power, Cultural Materialism is slightly more hopeful" as there is possibility of oppositional intervention in the system (10). This makes New Historicism pessimistic compared to Cultural Materialism.

New Historicism does not assert that there is no resistance at all. However, resistance itself is contained since within complex power relations any possible resistance is regulated or checked through self-regulation or by the society in which prevailing ideological system imposes its effect on the individual. New historicists believe that subversion is produced in the interest of power, which cannot prove its function without subversion.

The concepts mentioned above are important elements that both new historicism and cultural materialism deal with in texts. The former, within the framework of power relations, believes that subversion "is always produced to be contained within the text". The latter, however, seeks for subversion in order to "contest the meaning attributed to it by the dominant culture" (Brannigan 114). In a reactionary manner to the conservative texts that ignored the representations of "women, gay and lesbian sexualities, colonialism and social marginality", cultural materialism assumes a politically committed role, which can partly be seen in new historicism (Brannigan 116).

According to Cultural materialists "whatever the *textuality* of history, a culture and its literary products are always to an important degree conditioned by the real material forces and relations of production in their historical era" (Abrams 188). These

two literary criticisms deny the separation of history from the formation of the text. However, as the British critic Graham Holderness describes, cultural materialism is "a politicised form of historiography" (Barry 1995). Its insistence on an engagement with issues such as gender, race, class, sexuality distinguishes cultural materialism from New Historicism.

Culture and literature are inseparable in New Historicism. Human beings do not live isolated from each other. As social beings, they should interact with each other in a specific environment and time. It is under specific cultural norms and values that they grow up. The language they learn is shaped and formed through culture. The American anthropologist Clifford Geertz has made important contributions to New Historicism. "There is no such thing as a human nature independent of culture," Geertz writes, meaning by culture not primarily "complexes of concentrate behavior patternscustoms, usages, traditions, habit, clusters "-but rather "a set of control mechanisms-plans, recipes, rules, instructions ... -for the governing of behavior" (Greenblatt, Renaissance Self-Fashioning 3). In order to explain that human beings are cultural artifacts, Geertz analyses the example of a cathedral from a wider perspective:

Chartres is made of stone and glass. But it is not just stone and glass; it is a cathedral, and not only a cathedral, but a particular cathedral built at a particular time by certain members of a particular society. To understand what it means, to perceive it for what it is, you need to know rather more than the generic properties of stone and glass and rather more than what is common to all cathedrals. You need to understand also-and, in my opinion, most critically-the specific concepts of the relations among God, man, and architecture that, since they have governed its creation, it consequently embodies. It is no different with men: they, too, every last one of them, are cultural artifacts. (Geertz 50-51)

Geertz has introduced a different interpretation that is called 'thick description' to the analysis of culture. It was a term coined by the British philosopher Gilbert Ryle in the twentieth century. 'Thick description' requires a wider interpretation of the behaviors of human beings in a culture by considering the context:

Thick description inspires interpretation and encourages the reader to look for meaningful exchanges where before there were only haphazard

movements to be seen. Greater acuteness of historical perception is stimulated by the example of the coming to life of unreadable gestures in the alien culture whose vocabulary the investigative anthropologist learns to use. (Hamilton 157)

All individuals are born and raised in a specific culture and discourse. New Historicism claims that we cannot exceed the boundaries of our ideologies while reinterpreting the past. The meanings we attribute to the texts belonging to the past will somehow be loaded with different meanings by the historicists in the future.

In order to understand the ideas circulating in a historical moment, it is important to understand the biography of the writer and his personal experiences. That's why at the beginning of all chapters allocated for the analysis of the novels, the dissertation starts by giving the biographies of the authors in order to find traces of social, cultural, and political climate of their periods on their lives and how they are reflected in the novels.

2.2. Michel Foucault

This part of the dissertation analyses the French philosopher and theorist Michel Foucault's theories of power, discourse, control mechanism, discipline, and punishment in order to understand the complex power relations that exist in three different periods in the three dystopian novels to be analysed in the dissertation. "Foucault's daring analyses of modern society quite often shared a great deal with the social criticism embedded in dystopian literature" (Booker, *Dystopian Literature* 23). Control mechanisms that exist in dystopian novels are similar to those functioning in our modern world. Thus, Foucault's theories on functions of power on individuals will be foregrounded for the analysis of the chosen novels.

New Historicism is used to interpret material documents to understand how power holders in each period consolidate their power through discourses. In this theory it is the oppressive power that prevails ultimately and Foucault's theories dwell on the power mechanisms in operation. Foucault, one of the leading figures in different fields of social sciences such as history, sociology, and psychology, is known to be associated with post-structuralism as well. With his works, he makes us see the subtle power relations that function in our modern world today. He helps us to understand the subject and agent relationship. His ideas were controversial to the established ones in society regarding sexuality, discipline, control mechanisms, and so on. As a modern philosopher of the twentieth century, he revolutionized the way we see reality. Thanks to him, we could develop a more profound vision for the network of power that functions in all societies.

Foucault, along with Greenblatt, Gallagher, and Montrose, is a leading figure in New Historicism. Foucault's theories especially regarding power have been very influential on the others since he brought what can be said an excellent interpretation for how power functions in a society in a specific time. He focuses on circulating synergy of power. Power is exercised in all layers of the society.

His seminal books are *Madness and Civilization: A History of Insanity in the Age of Reason* (1961), *The Birth of the Clinic: An Archaeology of Medical Perception* (1963), *The Order of Things* (1966), *The Archaeology of Knowledge & The Discourse on Language* (1969), *Discipline and Punish: The Birth of the Prison* (1975), *The History of Sexuality* (1976), and *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings*, 1972-1977 (1980). As a modern philosopher he contributed a lot to the social sciences from the aspects of knowledge, discipline, and power. In his works, Foucault underlines the changing power relations in a society. His evaluation of history brought fundamental changes to historicism in that he did not see history within cause and effect relation but in ruptures having a different episteme, discourse, and power relation. "Foucault's emphasis on continual change arises from an intense sense of cultural crisis that might be termed "dystopian" more rightly utopian, embodying a fundamental suspicion of any and all idealized visions of society" (Booker, *Dystopian Literature* 25-26).

The words *discourse* and *power* will be worth mentioning here since they are commonly used by Foucault and the New Historicists. The word *discourse* had been used by linguists for decades to refer to a unit of language. Foucault brings a broader definition to the word by defining it as "produced by the group of signs, acts of

formulation" and "constituted by a group of sequences of signs, in so far as they are statements, that is, in so far as they can be assigned particular modalities of existence" (The Archaeology of Knowledge 107). He adds that he calls the law of such a series as discursive formation and it is the principle of dispersion and redistribution, not of formulations, not of sentences, not of propositions, but of statements. Hence, discourse can be defined as "the group of statements that belong to a single system of formation" and different types of discourses such as "clinical discourse, economic discourse, the discourse of natural history, psychiatric discourse" can be mentioned (The Archaeology of Knowledge 107-108). In a broader sense, discourse is used to refer to the knowledge constructed in specific ways. Foucault regards discourse as a dynamic entity: "Discourse transmits and produces power; it reinforces it, but also undermines and exposes it, renders it fragile and makes it possible to thwart it" (The History of Sexuality I:101). In this case, all discourses mentioned above contain statements and texts and form their own language and knowledge. For the novels studied in this dissertation, some other discourses such as imperial discourse, colonial discourse, patriarchal discourse, discourse of juvenile delinquency, and scientific discourse can be mentioned as well. With all documents, authorities, subjects, statements, and language they form a specific system. "What defines the discourse as a discourse is the extent of their regularity and dispersion through society" (Brannigan 54).

From the ancient civilizations to modern times people have accumulated a lot of knowledge and passed them on the following generations. Foucault explains the term episteme in *The Order of Things* to refer to knowledge that belongs to a specific period of time. Definition and classification of knowledge is conducted differently in various societies. He divides the episteme into two groups: classical episteme that starts in the seventeenth century and the modern episteme which starts at the beginning of the nineteenth century (Foucault, *The Order of Things* xxiii-xxiv). The past is full of discourses and various ideas about world views. Episteme has a unifying system. Each specific era creates its own standards making use of binary oppositions. While reading the past, historicists are naturally under the influence of their modern episteme. In evaluating the past though literary or non-literary texts, the historicist cannot surpass his/her episteme, which renders objectivity impossible.

Foucault, as a historian in addition to being a philosopher, develops his own concept of history. He states that history means mass documentation developed by a society in a certain period of time and develops his theory about discontinuity of history. He uses the terms *ruptures* and *the new history*, to differentiate it from the old one (*Archaeology of Knowledge* 3-9). He uses the ruptures to refer to that have specific mode of ideas and power mechanisms. Foucault expresses that things we perceive, classify, describe are not the same in all eras. They are not fixed. They change forming its own system. Nietzsche has an important place in Foucault's modern philosophy. "Both Foucault and new historicism belong to this Nietzschean school of history, combining the philosophical interest in the definition of concepts and ideologies with the historical-anthropological interest in the social and cultural..." (Brannigan 46).

He reformulates the concept of power. He does not evaluate it from a Marxist perspective that assigns the power only to the authorities or rulers. Avoiding attributing a traditional point of view to it, "he was concerned to examine how power relations of inequality and oppression are created and maintained in more subtle and diffuse ways through ostensibly humane and freely adopted social practices" (McNay 2). According to Foucault power must be understood as the multiplicity of force relations immanent in the sphere in which they operate and which constitute their own organization. Power is also described as the process which, through ceaseless struggles and confrontations, transforms, strengthens, or reverses them. "Inspired by Michel Foucault's historical investigations...the New Historicists see the literary work as a vessel tossed in a social sea of competing interests, antagonistic values, and contradictions" (Greenblatt, Introduction to Power of Forms 2250). He further states that power is omnipresent and comes from everywhere. Having a different theory regarding power, Foucault provides us with a new concept of "power". He argues that it is not a certain strength we are endowed with; it is the name that one attributes to a complex strategical situation in a particular society. It is not something that is acquired, seized, or shared, something that one holds on to or allows to slip away (*The History of Sexuality* I: 93-95).

Foucault, dwelling on the functions of power in modern societies today by making comparisons with previous centuries, states that the extent of power is so profound that [it] reaches into the very grain of individuals, touches their bodies and

inserts itself into their actions and attitudes, their discourses, learning processes and everyday lives (*Power/Knowledge* 39). In modern times, it shapes attitudes, personalities, and the world view of the individuals. Power does not necessarily come from above. It is everywhere.

He does not regard power as completely repressive. It is productive as well since it has synergy. He states that power is insidious. Secrecy makes up an important part of power to operate since it is "indispensable to its operation" (*History of Sexuality* I:86). For him, power is inescapable. Humans, as social beings, live together. They cannot stand alone and thus they live in small groups, clans, or communities. Living together brings specific rules with itself and this requires making law and running them in larger societies. Power encircles us and as Foucault says, "...there is no escaping from power..." (I:82).

Foucault asserts that power does not only operate through repressive apparatuses but also by constructing norms of knowledge through which subjects modify their behaviours accordingly. He regards individuals controlled and monitored under the relation between power and knowledge. There is a strong relationship between knowledge and power. Knowledge and power go together. Foucault expresses that in the constitution of a field of knowledge the existence of power is a requirement. It is "power [that] produces knowledge" (*Discipline and Punish* 27). Knowledge, by gaining power, creates the truth. The knowledge we have in our world today leaves us no option rather than believe it. Power is related with resistance as well. With "Where there is power, there is resistance..." (*History of Sexuality* I:95), Foucault focuses on the mutual relationship between power and resistance. These are like conjoined twins in that one cannot stand all alone or exist as a separate entity.

In Marxist theory, power works for the interest of the dominant class. The lower class is repressed. However, in Foucault's concept of power, it is not solely a person or group responsible for the repression but the complex network of power in the society. According to Foucault, it is power that makes us conform to rules. Interestingly, it does not take place except us. We are a part of this mechanism. It is us

that make the cogs of the system work this way. It is power that produces marginalization, subversion and containment.

Giving information about changing periods and epochs along with classification of the marginalized such as mad people, Foucault expresses that "[by] a strange act of force, the classical age was to reduce to silence the madness whose voice the Renaissance had just liberated, but whose violence it had already tamed" (*Madness and Civilization* 38). Perceptions and cultural values, and of course labelling the marginalized differed from period to period. While madness was confined to special buildings in the classical age, in the Renaissance they were allowed to raise their voice by moving freely.

Foucault states that all the authorities, while controlling the individuals, use binary oppositions such as "mad/sane; dangerous/harmless; normal/abnormal" (*Discipline and Punish* 199) and decide for the status of the individuals. The forms of surveillance are determined within this relationship of binary oppositions.

He deals with sexuality starting from the seventeenth century and wonders why so many discussions have been produced about it in modern societies. He wonders about the effects of power generated for this issue and attempts to explain the regime of power-knowledge-pleasure triangle. The main issue for him is to see whether prohibitions or permissions are formulated and how sex is put into discourse. He expresses that his main concern will be to locate the forms of power, the channels it takes, and the discourses it permeates in order to reach the most tenuous and individual modes of behaviour (*History of Sexuality* I:11).

In *The History of Sexuality* he raises some questions regarding sexuality and the history of sexuality. Foucault states that sex has had changing circumstances from the past to present. In the Age of Reason discussion of it was not as common as it has been for the last three centuries. What is different today compared to the past on the issue of discussions about sex is that there is the variety and wide dispersion of devices for speaking about sex, "for listening, recording, transcribing, and redistributing what is said about it: around sex, a whole network of varying, specific, and coercive

transpositions into discourse" (*The History of Sexuality* I:25). Changing times and discourses transform our approach towards such issues. Sex is something freely spoken today especially in clinics, though it still differs from culture to culture.

He claims that in the eighteenth-century sex became a "police" matter-in the full and strict sense given the term at the time of collective and individual forces (*The History of Sexuality* I:24-25). He mentions that discourses about sexuality have been changed since the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Foucault suggests that control mechanisms have penetrated into our private life so deeply that even our sexuality, which is our privacy, is bound to the norms of the society we live in:

Power is essentially what dictates its law to sex. Which means first of all that sex is placed by power in a binary system: licit and illicit, permitted and forbidden. Secondly, power prescribes an "order" for sex that operates at the same time as a form of intelligibility: sex is to be deciphered on the basis of its relation to the law. And finally, power acts by laying' down the rule: power's hold on sex is maintained through language, or rather through the act of discourse that creates, from the very fact that it is articulated, a rule of law. It speaks, and that is the rule. (*The History of Sexuality* I:83)

Foucault describes the effects of power in social life, from prisons to sexuality. Giving information about various discourses, he dwells on medical discourse since it plays an important role in our modern world. "It was in the name of medicine both that people came to inspect the layout of houses, and equally, that they classified individuals as insane, criminal, or sick" (*Power/Knowledge* 62). It is of course dominant actors such as states or authorities that try to take advantage of it. They may manipulate it for their own interests.

In studying power, Foucault states that human subject is equally placed within power relations. Giving examples regarding power struggles from everyday life such as opposition to the power of men over women, of parents over children, of psychiatry over the mentally ill, of medicine over the population, and of administration over the ways people live, he explains that "this form of power that applies itself to immediate everyday life categorizes the individual, marks him by his own individuality, attaches

him to his own identity, imposes a law of truth on him that he must recognize... It is a form of power that makes individuals subjects" (*Power* 331).

Foucault implies that as time passes, the power mechanisms also change and in the eighteenth century this new power type established itself in that era, and economic and political problems became its objects of knowledge and areas of control. Governments of that century were dealing with a new problem now: "'population', with its specific phenomena and its peculiar variables: birth and death rates, life expectancy, fertility, state of health, frequency of illnesses, patterns of diet and habitation' (*History of Sexuality* I:25).

Focusing on the disciplinary form and circulation of power mechanism in *Discipline and Punish*, Foucault gives information about the prison of Mettray opened in 1840, and mentions how the inmates were organized and that they were trained and engineered into model regimes (293). Brannigan states that the prison is a place where various technologies of power are applied and technologies such as surveillance, training, assessment, information-gathering are applied on all individuals, on every aspect of society, and through these technologies fundamental power relations are established (Brannigan 51).

Foucault, in *Power*, mentions that a new political form of power has been continuously developing since the sixteenth century: the state. The state, he claims, is envisioned as a kind of political power that ignores individuals, looking only at the interests of the totality, or of a class or a group among the citizens. However, the state's power is both an individualizing and a totalizing form of power that can be called "pastoral power". He adds that Christianity postulates in principle that certain individuals can, by their religious quality, serve others not as princes, magistrates, prophets, fortune-tellers, benefactors, educationalists, and so on, but as pastors (*Power* 332-333).

Discipline is a control mechanism that regulates the behaviours of subjects in a society. It is realized through a complex system of surveillance. Discipline imposes specific norms on individuals. The normalisation process through discipline is a part of power mechanism in modern societies. Institutions such as schools, prisons, hospitals all serve this purpose of surveillance in order to normalize the individuals according to determined criteria. Foucault has theories regarding discipline as a control mechanism by arguing that disciplines constitute a system of control in the production of discourse, fixing its limits through the action of an identity taking the form of a permanent reactivation of the rules (*The Archaeology of Knowledge* 224).

In his *Discipline and Punish*, which reflects changes in the penal system of the Western countries and their conditions today, Foucault mentions disciplinary institutions and their effects on individuals, gives information about the punishment system starting from the seventeenth century, and explains that public torture and execution was the most frequent form of punishment (32). He analyses different ways and technologies that have been used to control the body since "a body is docile that may be subjected, used, transformed and improved" (*Discipline and Punish* 136). "... the carceral society depicted in *Discipline and Punish* is in many ways a classic dystopian model. Finally, Foucault's various meditations on history...contain much of relevance to utopian and dystopian thought" (Booker, *Dystopian Literature* 28). Foucault refers to any mechanism that aims at designing the behaviours of individual's in the modern world. Power needs individuals to produce its effects during subjectification. In the dystopian novels to be studied in the dissertation some characters that resist the power of the authorities are disciplined to serve the authorities and the system.

Foucault, regarding social control mechanism of the modern period, uses the prison model developed by the English philosopher Jeremy Bentham in the late eighteenth century. Mentioning the measures to be taken by the authorities at the end of the seventeenth century in case of plagues, he compares old methods of control mechanisms with the modern ones by explaining Bentham's Panopticon as a control mechanism where the prisoners always felt that they were being observed by the guardians although this may not always be true because of the structure of the prison. Foucault likens the control mechanism through Panopticon to modern day control mechanisms. For him this is a way for disciplinary power. Although it never existed in reality, the structure of Panopticon is defined by Foucault as follows:

..at the periphery, an annular building; at the centre, a tower; this tower is pierced with wide windows that open onto the inner side of the ring; the peripheric building is divided into cells, each of which extends the whole width of the building; they have two windows, one on the inside, corresponding to the windows of the tower; the other, on the outside, allows the light to cross the cell from one end to the other. All that is needed, then, is to place a supervisor in a central tower and to shut up in each cell a madman, a patient, a condemned man, a worker or a schoolboy. By the effect of backlighting, one can observe from the tower, standing out precisely against the light, the small captive shadows in the cells of the periphery. They are like so many cages, so many small theatres, in which each actor is alone, perfectly individualized and constantly visible. (*Discipline and Punish* 200)

Bentham places the central tower in the center so that the supervisor can see all small cells clearly. The prisoners, however, will always feel that they are being watched and as a result they will behave according to the instructions or norms. Whether the supervisor is in the tower or not, the residents of that place will always have the feeling of being watched.

Foucault's observation and theory about the modern prison based on Jeremy Bentham's Panopticon reveals that the way of controlling the subjects in a society always continues by using different methods in different periods, which gives the impression that Foucault creates a dystopian world by instilling that we are always being watched. It is through this way that individuals feel that they have to apply rigid constraints on their behaviors: "The Panopticon functions as a kind of laboratory of power. Thanks to its mechanisms of observation, it gains in efficiency and in the ability to penetrate into men's behaviour..." (*Discipline and Punish* 204).

In the modern world surveillance cameras, internet, cell phones and other technological devices may serve as panopticon since individuals feel obliged to pay attention to their behaviours and speaking. Although this may be good in preventing crimes, it may limit the individuals' behaving more freely and creatively since they will feel restrictions in their conscious or subconscious mind.

New Historicism believes that power is not something that can be appropriated. It is not possessed by any. It circulates within society, creating its own synergy, affecting all individuals and even getting them to contribute to its dominance. It is exercised by all individuals. New Historicism, taking its power from Foucault's concept of power, analyses different and all power relations. This literary theory enables us to evaluate the literary texts along with non-literary texts to illustrate the ideologies of three different periods from a wider cultural perspective.



CHAPTER THREE

POWER RELATIONS UNDER THE SHADE OF THE BRITISH EMPIRE IN TROLLOPE'S THE FIXED PERIOD

This chapter of the dissertation aims at doing the New Historicist reading of *The Fixed Period* (1882) by Anthony Trollope. There are a lot of clues in the novel about the life of the author Anthony Trollope, which is one of the core principles of New Historicism claiming that the author is a cultural product of his time. Furthermore, this novel provides us with the ideology of the nineteenth century, a world dominated both by imperialism and colonialism since the novel was penned during the late Victorian Period. Therefore, this chapter and the following chapters will first cover autobiographical/biographical information of the authors followed by information about discourses and ideologies specific to each period. Finally, the theories of New Historicism along with Foucault's will be applied to interpret the conditions of each period regarding discourse and power relations.

"Biography of Anthony Trollope" aims at creating a biographical context thus making a connection between the writer's life story and the literary text *The Fixed Period*, which is an indispensable characteristic of New Historicism. What is going to be given here is the biographical context including Trollope's autobiography, travel books, and letters. There is a direct interaction between the society that a person lives in and his autobiography. In an autobiography, the writer addresses the readers without any other narrators contrary to the biographies. It provides the readers with a systematic order of the person's life story and reflects his/her experiences. The letters, however, reflect the open or hidden intentions of the writer and give information about the personal life of the writer from a different perspective. They can be formal and informal according to where the letter is going to be sent. Like autobiographies, they too are considered an important source for the historians to evaluate the past or a specific period.

Trollope's autobiography, written in 1875-1876, is full of details about his life and constitutes an important source for the readers to understand his life story to a

great extent. His "An Autobiography" was firstly mentioned in a letter he left for his son Henry M. Trollope. The letter, which was dated 30th April, 1876, was not to be opened until after his death. He makes clear that his intention in writing his autobiography is not to reveal the details of his private life but to give information about the "literary career" of himself and others (Trollope, *An Autobiography* 1). Trollope's life can roughly be divided into three periods: the first period that ended in 1847 was a period of suffering. The second period extends from 1847 to 1868 during which the foundations of his successes were laid. The last period from about 1868 to his death in 1882, is one of retreat, questioning, and satire. The change from the optimistic middle period, to the steadily-growing pessimism of the last corresponds with a decline in popularity (Cockshut 131).

Trollope, one of the most prolific authors of Victoria period (1837-1901), was born on "24 April 1815 at Keppel Street, Russell Square, London" (Hall 3) as the son of a barrister. When he was seven, he had an unhappy childhood especially because of the financial matters of his father, whose clients deserted him because his purchases went wrong.

When he was twelve, he filled the vacancy at Wichester College and while he was studying there, his father's business went worse again. It was thanks to Frances Trollope, Anthony Trollope's mother, that they prospered economically to some extent thanks to setting up a great bazaar in Cincinnati. Thomas Anthony Trollope sent his wife to America to supervise the building. On her return to England, she wrote her first book, a racy and rather acid study of the American way of life. When her husband became bankrupt in 1834, she took the family to Belgium, and supported them by her pen" (Davies 5). His mother's taking up to writing probably encouraged her son Trollope to write and become one of the most successful writers of the time.

Trollope grew up in a family only nominally religious, and sharply intolerant of evangelicalism in its various forms (Hall 15). His way of bringing up and attitudes regarding evangelicalism would be felt to a great extent in his novels and attempts to enter the parliament.

Trollope's career starts with his assignment to a post office service. It was "his mother" who found this position for him in the General Post Office in London. However, "the first seven years of his clerkship were distinguished only by his continued loneliness, his occasional humiliations, his attempts to avoid petty debt collectors" (Fredman 8). His decision in 1841 to apply to Ireland for a postal appointment which nobody else wanted remarkably altered Trollope's life (10). He was an entrepreneur in bettering the delivery of the British Postal Service and successful in his profession. Thanks to this position, which created a sparkling effect for his career, he caught many opportunities for getting promoted and traveling to other colonies to write his travel books and his novels: "Trollope had a double professional life-as career civil servant and then as popular writer-and these professions ran parallel for nearly twenty years and mutually informed each other" (Turner 6).

There is no doubt that what caused Trollope to write his travel books was his assignment to work for the Post Office in Ireland. That he began to work in the Post Office in 1834 probably incited his career in writing novels. He was involved in a business that was about letters and he himself wrote numerous letters to his friends, family members, colleagues, and publishers.

Including Chronicles of Barsetshire and Palliser novels, he wrote forty-seven novels, twelve short stories, eighteen travel books and his autobiography and two plays, which made him one of the most prolific authors of all times in British Literature but "...Trollope did not publish his first book until 1847 at the age of thirty-two. By this time he had already established himself as a rising civil servant in the General Post Office...[H]e remained devoted to the civil service job until 1867, when he resigned with a view to entering Parliament" (Turner 6). He spent most of his time in Ireland until 1859, and remained in the Post Office until 1867 (Davies 8).

Ireland provided both the means and the motive of his first two books, written and set in Ireland and in many ways following the traditions of Irish fiction (Bigelow 196). Trollope wrote these two novels at a time when there was racial difference against the Irish: "Many nineteenth century thinkers, confounded by the apparent savagery of the Irish, accounted them (the Irish) 'white negroes'" (205). The long-

rooted discrepancies between the protestants and the catholics were observed by Trollope in detail. He was appointed to work as a regional surveyor for the British Postal Service in Ireland. "At a time when many English Protestants looked askance at their Irish Catholic subjects as less-than-civilized slackers with a fondness for whiskey and violence, Trollope learned to love the Irish" (Buzard 171).

In New Historicism not only literary texts but also non-literary texts take an important place in evaluating the conditions of the period in order to understand the dominant ideology and power relations. In this regard, Trollope's letters are significant since the letters reveal the character, ideas and soul of a person and the way how he/she looks at the outside world. Most of the letters were written between his publishers and himself. It was when he began to gain fame as a novelist at the age of 45 that his letters began to be collected by his admirers.

Victorian period novelist Anthony Trollope was one of the most successful writers and he always kept writing thus producing many literary products. There was a great demand by the publishers for his works, which is clearly seen in his letters. He was involved in a huge exchange of letters with the major publishing houses of the time: "Newby, Colburn, Longman, Bentley, Chapman & Hall, Smith Elder, Blackwood, Strahan, Virtue, Bradbury & Evans, Hurst & Blackett, Tinsley, Sampson Low, Macmillan, Isbister, Chatto & Windus" (Trollope, *The Letters of Anthony Trollope* xiv).

Trollope was sensitive to political issues as well. Living in Ireland nearly twenty years in the Post Office Service of Ireland, he had the opportunity of observing the political agenda of Ireland and the people there in general. He criticizes some Irish for not trying to better their life conditions but getting involved in a political life style and sayings unjustly:

...Here is Ireland the meaning of the word Communism-or even social revolution-is not understood. The people have not the remotest notion of attempting to improve their worldly condition by making the difference between the employer and the employed less marked. Revolution here means a row. Some like a row, having little or nothing

to lose. These are revolutionists, and call for pikes. Others are antirevolutionists, having something to lose and dreading a row. These condemn the pikes and, demand more soldiers and police. (*The Letters* of Anthony Trollope 17)

He was defending the British ideals and interests. In a letter written to Mrs. Harriet Knower he belittles the Fenians who fought for the independence of Ireland by saying "we are able to keep the Fenians down" (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 330). Trollope attaches the importance of social improvement to intelligence by saying that there is too much intelligence in England compared to Ireland and sees no threat of revolution in Ireland:

The Ireland that Trollope found in 1841 was the hothouse product of a colonial experiment begun during the religious wars of the seventeenth century, when virtually the entire island was regarded as confiscated land by conquering English troops. The land was awarded in huge swaths to loyal generals and political allies, setting up a system wherein a small number of foreign Protestant landlords received rent for land occupied largely by Catholics. By 1703 Catholic land ownership dropped below 15 percent. Most of the native aristocracy and gentry, those not killed in battle or deported as indentured servants to the sugar plantations of the Caribbean, fled to the Continent, leaving a country starkly divided by sect, language, class, and ethnic extraction. (Bigelow, 197)

However, Trollope gained respect during his stay in Ireland. But his gaining respect among the Irish would not let him free himself from the dominant ideology of the British. The Irish famine, one of the catastrophes of the time, took place towards the end of the 1840s. Trollope gave place to Ireland in his books with many details but he ignored all realities about the range of the Famine that was a disaster for Ireland. "He tended to minimize its scale and exaggerate its potential long-term benefits. Thus in Ireland he seemed curiously blind to the most significant social and economic trends of his century" (Bigelow 197-198).

The authors are normally affected by their life experiences and the conditions of the period during which they live. Thus, the works they produce are the crafts of the ideology of their time and involved in a circulation of power relations in both being affected and affecting, which is one of the basic tenets of New Historicism.

His Barsetshire novels cover *The Warden, Barchester Towers, Doctor Thorne, Framley Parsonage, The Small House at Allington*, and *The Last Chronicle of Barset* all written between 1855 and 1867. They are set in the fictitious county of Barsetshire. These novels were followed by another series called Palliser novels: *Can You Forgive Her?, Phineas Finn, The Eustace Diamonds, Phineas Redux, The Prime Minister, The Duke's Children* written between 1864 and 1879. "While these works are in part concerned with the professional lives of fictive politicians, government policy and party loyalty, election campaigns and jockeying for ministries, they are also at least as much about romance, marriage, and conflicts between parents and children" (Cohen 44).

Trollope's Palliser Novels, also known as the Parliamentary Novels, depict the parliament and politicians in a very realistic way. Trollope gives readers about the everyday life of the British politicians and of the time. "Of all his literary creations, Trollope loved the Pallisers most....The Barset novels, entertaining as they are, lean heavily upon caricature and farce. As tragedy is of higher seriousness than comedy, so the Palliser novels rather than the novels of Barchester represent Trollope's magnum opus" (Halperin 1). It is through the Barchester novels and the Palliser novels that we learn to understand Law, old Anglo-Saxon law, its traditions, its divisions of labor, its principles and its strange workings, and meet a great gallery of legal practitioners (Aproberts 270). Palliser is especially dear to Trollope not simply because he expounds and exemplifies Trollope's own political creed as conservative liberal, but also because in spite of his self-doubts he has achieved a position that was Trollope's lifelong ideal, that's to sit in the British Parliament (Fredman 22).

Certainly, Trollope is preeminent in presenting institutions-church and parliament most conspicuously. His characters "make themselves" so well in their relations to these and to each other that he had the experience of "living with" them, and we may find them the most varied and individuated bunch that ever stepped off a page, the most "real," the least theatrical, the least sentimentalized (Aproberts 267). His novels give a great place to judges, courts, solicitors, barristers, properties. He was a keen observer of his period and portrayed a realistic image of his characters in the society. "Arguably, no other Victorian author or critic was as aware of the

community's ability to make meaning or portrayed these intricate processes as skillfully" (Ben-Yishai 155).

For example, in one of his most known novels, *The Way We Live Now*, Trollope depicts a society that has lost its moral values. The novel, being a masterpiece of Trollope, portrays the commercial activity and greed and dishonesty of the people of the period:

Of the two novels, *The Way We Live Now* (1873) and *Mr. Scarborough's Family* (1881), which Trollope wrote independently of the Barsetshire and Parliamentary scenes, the former is the more acutely critical of his age because Trollope had earlier sensed disturbing changes in the fabric of society; but by the 1870s, and especially after returning from a sojourn in such relatively unsophisticated places as Australian bush stations, he was shocked and angered. He neither participated in nor sympathized with the manners and morals of the new age. (Fredman 26)

The Prime Minister, another novel written by Trollope can be considered one of his best among his political novels. The main character Palliser resembles Trollope in having his political ideas and struggles. This main character idealizes the ambition of Trollope to become a member of parliament first and then the prime minister: "I have always thought that to sit in the British Parliament should be the highest object of ambition to every educated Englishman." Trollope himself had stood for parliament in 1868, losing both the campaign and considerable campaign expenses. The election scenes in his political novels and in 'Ralph the Heir! Show how he profited from the experience as artist, even though he failed as candidate (Fredman 22).

During his life span, Trollope witnessed the industrial growth, social and political reforms of 1832 and 1867. Trollope, like many of his great contemporaries such as Dickens, Thackeray, visited an important symbol of the Victorian Age, the Great Exhibition that took place in Hyde Park in 1851. Victorian Period was a period of scientific and technical developments and innovations. Science developed a lot compared to the previous centuries. The word "scientist" was for the first time coined and used by the philosopher and historian of science William Whewell in 1834, Darwin's *Origin of Species* in 1859, telephone's invention by Alexander Graham bell

in 1876, lamp's invention by Thomas Edison in 1879, and many other innovations challenged the established beliefs and penetrated in all areas of life quickly. The same pace of changing was not very observable in Trollope's novels.

Trollope's life covers a lot of details regarding politics. He gave place to politics in his Palliser Novels and since his period was a period of great social and technical changes, there were policies to be made regarding keeping the power of the British Empire at the utmost level. Politics was not something stable: "He typically saw politics as a continually shifting process of change and conciliation" (Halperin 4). In his Palliser novels parliament is an interesting place with its realistically portrayed politicians.

There were two major political parties during the Victorian Period: The Conservative and the Liberal parties, the roots of which go back to the Restoration of Monarchy in 1660. The former is also known as the Tories and the latter as the Whigs. While the conservatives were rigid to social and political issues, the liberals were flexible in producing policies both for the external and internal affairs. Although there were such specific differences between the Conservatives and the Liberals, these differences were sometimes not very distinct: "The Liberal party of the time was no more "liberal" than the Conservative party. Indeed, the oldest great landowning families in mid-Victorian England were Whigs; and the most radical measures of the nineteenth century were enacted by Tory ministries" (Halperin 10).

Trollope described himself as a liberal conservative, stood for Parliament in the Whig cause at Beverley in 1868 (Handley xv). Trollope detested the Conservative party all of his life. Even when angry with the Liberals he refused to turn to their opponents, which can be seen in his Palliser novels as a series of attacks on the Tories (Halperin 10). Reading the fictional and non-fictional works by Trollope "again and again we encounter the novelist's feeling that while the stratification of society is inevitable, one should still do what one can to assist those at the bottom to help themselves upwards- and he saw the Conservatives as opposing such efforts, the Liberals as cooperating in them (Halperin 13).

He never approved one-man regime in the parliament. In a letter to historian G.W. Rusden, regarding governmental issues and cabinet matters, Trollope emphasizes that they are all agreed not to entrust the power of governing them to any one person (Trollope, *The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 564). He thus supports parliamentary system since it is based on the will of the people. He supported the self-rule of people. Regarding the condition of the colonies in a letter he wrote to G. W. Rusden, dated 23 July 1873, he says he is inferior and will certainly be shaken off when the power of shaking off shall have come. And the people who have so resolved to govern themselves in all things will achieve greater aims than they can reach while they are in any degree subject to a master. Trollope adds that the difference between himself and Rusden is that Rusden looks to England's greatness while he looks to the happiness of Englishman (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 594).

Trollope had great aspirations to become a politician in addition to being a prolific author who earned more than enough money at the time. In his speech at the Mechanics Hall that he made on the evening of Monday, 9 November 1868, he addresses the electors as he does in *The Fixed Period*: "I have come to Beverly fight the battle of freedom. Since I entered the borough I have been assured there is a binding power...on the opposite side to contend with; but if the electors give me and my honourable colleague their support I think this binding power may be broken through" (Tingay 16).

He travelled to many countries during his life and he realized some of his travels during his job in the British Postal Service. Few people could have travelled to so many and far places. Trollope masterfully wrote all details about what he saw during his travels to the colonies of the British Empire:

Both his trips to Australia were connected to the fortunes of his son, who had set up as a sheep-herder in New South Wales. Out of his travels came the substantial non-fiction books *The West Indies and the Spanish Main* (1859), *North America* (2 vols., 1862), *Australia and New Zealand* (2 vols., 1873), and *South Africa* (2 vols., 1877), in addition to numerous periodical pieces later collected in *Travelling Sketches* (1866) and, posthumously, *The Tireless Traveller: Twenty Letters to the*

Liverpool Mercury, 1875 (1941), this last describing his second trip to Australia. (Buzard 168)

The places he visited during his travels were generally the British colonies where the British Empire had set up its administrative structure by appointing governors to rule the people there. He was also examining these colonies to find out if they were appropriate for the settlers regarding the living conditions. "Everywhere Trollope went on the journeys that yielded these books, if he did not always move within the envelope of a little England abroad, he always remained within the portable boundaries of a racial identity he wanted to believe proof against alien influences" (Buzard 170).

Trollope gives a lot of information about the colonies he visits such as the facilities the people in the colonies have, administrative differences between the colonies, the manners of men and women, the buildings they live in, trade and businesses, the prices of items that are sold and many other things. Trollope, although being a realist in portraying his characters lively and the incidents realistically, mostly assumed a protective manner regarding the interests of his country. Although he was against slavery, he was aware that the developments leading to the freedom of the negroes in West Indies were to the disadvantage of his country (Trollope, *The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 113). Trollope was for defending the dignity of Britain. In an incident in which the British Ship Trent was stopped and some Confederate diplomats were taken by the American commander of the USS San Jacinto in the American Civil War that started in 1861, he thought that England should not have submitted to have her ships stopped and her passengers taken off (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 165).

He would use the word "Antipodean" for the colonies that lay in the southern hemisphere, far from Britain (Turner 13). In his book titled *Australia and New Zealand*, he differentiates the indigenous people living there from each other by ranking them differently. "The Australian Aboriginal, 'infinitely lower in his gifts than the African negro' and the Maoris of New Zealand, 'the most civilized' of 'all the people whom we have been accustomed to call savages..." (qtd. in Buzard 174) However, he prefers the Maori in New Zealand to the Australian Aborigines. He sees

them as (correctly) of Polynesian and (incorrectly) of Malay background, but does not go so far as others to give them an ancestry cognate with Europeans (qtd. in Birns 187).

He wrote many books based on his observations he made throughout his travels. In a letter he wrote to his mother dated January 27, 1859, he mentions how he wrote his book on the West Indies aboard Linwood and names the countries he visited and will visit as Jamaica, Cuba, Havana and then the USA where he is expected to be met by Rose, his wife (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 81). He was a man who liked writing aboard and finished some of literary works during his voyages, which reminds us of his writing his book about the law of the forced euthanasia on his way to England in *The Fixed Period*.

Trollope was very successful in observing and conveying his keen observations to his writing. He did not only focus on unusual incidents in his novels but also on the normal daily life, which made him different in narration from many other authors. He explains that such a style of reality is unique to himself. In a letter he wrote to his historian friend G. W. Rusden in Australia dated 26 September 1878 he says, "I have never consciously drawn a character or a plot from the writings of another author... Anything lighter than my books on the Colonies cannot be imagined, -or indeed more accurate. But large numbers of each of them have been sold because I know the knack of writing a book" (Trollope, *The Letters of Anthony Trollope* xiv). Trollope assumes that a story can tell truths without being "true," and that no damage is done if the authorial presence directs the reader's attention and attitudes (Fredman 39).

Trollope tells us about his travel experiences in Australia and New Zealand in many details that give us joy when reading. They are also authentic materials providing the readers with golden information about the colonialism of the British Empire. It is through such travel books that we understand the power relations and the ideology of the time much better. Trollope tells about the trial of an aboriginal negro he witnessed when he was at Gladstone. The negro was charged with breaking into a house. He had taken away a slab from the corner of a wooden store in the hope of getting a bit of tobacco. The negro was sentenced to a six-month imprisonment, and seemed to be perfectly satisfied. Trollope says: "He had in fact pleaded guilty, - but had probably

done so without comprehending much of the nature of the proceeding. I saw him afterwards in the prison at Rockhampton, and he seemed to be enjoying life in that retreat" (Trollope, *Australia and New Zealand I* 45-46). The binary opposition of civilized versus uncivilized can clearly be seen with this anecdote. The nineteenth century approach to the world as civilized and uncivilized is visible in a letter he wrote to Sir Rowland dated March 1864 when he refers to him as one of the essential benefactors, not only of his own country, but of "all the civilized world" (Trollope, *The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 256).

In a letter to Rusden dated April 26, 1879, Trollope makes his views regarding colonization clear, which differentiates his ideas regarding this issue from those of the other writers:

Frere, for whom personally I have both respect and regard, is a man who thinks that it is England's duty to carry English civilization and English Christianity among all Savages. Consequently, having the chance, he has waged war against these unfortunates, - who have lived alongside of us in Natal for 25 years without ever having raised a hand against us! The consequence is that we have already slaughtered 10000 of them and rejoice in having done so. To me it seems like civilization gone mad! (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 826)

Trollope, like the seventeenth century Turkish explorer and traveller Evliya Celebi in his *Book of Travel*, explains what he sees and witnesses in a lot of details. Regarding governmental differences in colonies he remarks the following:

The system of government is very nearly the same in all Australian colonies, though the system of politics in vogue may vary considerably. Protection at the present moment is rife in Victoria, but is not in favour in Queensland. In Queensland the interests of the squatters prevail; but in Victoria the squatters are not in the ascendant. In Queensland the ministers and people generally are inclined to be submissive to the Colonial Office at home, with an inclination to hang upon English advice, and to maintain English influences. In Victoria on the other hand, the Colonial Office in Downing Street is not highly respected, and the politicians of the day are inclined to think that they can best "paddle their own canoe". (Trollope, *Australia and New Zealand I* 153)

Trollope makes observation on the practice of religion in the colonies as an important issue. Since the colonies will be regarded as the children of the mother country, they will bear similarities as well. He explains that "as long as the colonies were Crown colonies, governed directly from home, - a certain amount of Church of England ascendancy was established" (Australia and New Zealand 221). He is happy regarding colonization. "From our little island we have sent forth a people speaking English who are spreading themselves over all the world. It is a much greater boast than that of ruling dependencies on which the sun never sets" (Australia and New Zealand 354). Regarding the dependence and independence issues of the colonies, Trollope emphasizes that at the commencement of colonization in Australia, all land was the property of the Crown.- and that on the transfer in each colony of the power of government from the Crown to the representative institutions, the land became the property of that colony (Australia and New Zealand 263). Trollope makes his idea regarding the independence of the colonies clear. He says: "When the time shall come in which the colonies can serve themselves better by separation than by prolonged adherence, England, I think, should let them go" (Australia and New Zealand 353). Trollope is not against the separation of the colonies from the mother country on condition that they become mature enough to govern themselves.

Regarding the British Colonies, in a letter he wrote to G.W. Rusden dated 29 October 1871, Trollope, referring to the ideas of Rusden, implies that Britain, even if her colonies separate from herself, must give help to them (Trollope, *The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 552). He did not mean the complete separation of the colonies with all kinds of ties but rather governmental ties, which were sometimes to the disadvantage of the British Empire since enlarging the number of colonies also meant a vast expenditure for the treasury of the country. In another letter he wrote to Rusden, dated September 26, 1878, he mentions that whenever he is asked whether the Colonies do in truth govern themselves well, he always asserts that as a whole they do so (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 790).

Making a comparison between the women in Britain and the newly established colonies, he sees the colonial-born women bright and quick and that they never appear to be stupid or ignorant, - because they are never bashful or diffident. Trollope, while

advocating that the women should get rid of their traditional roles by being seen weaker compared to men, does not draw certain boundary lines between what he defends and the traditional role of women (Trollope, *Australia and New Zealand I* 477-478).

Trollope is amazed by the beauty of the new colonies Australia and New Zealand. They were definitely giving the sense of better places than the choking crowds of industrially developed England. In a letter to Mary Holmes dated 3 January, 1873, he emphasizes that he has been in Australia and New Zealand for 18 months and has seen a much better life there than they have there (in England) (*The Letters of Anthony Trollope* 577).

Among his travel books Trollope considers his *The West Indies and the Spanish Main* as the best book that has come from his pen (Trollope, *An Autobiography* 109). He visited Jamaica about a generation after the abolition of slavery, and one of his chief interests was to determine how the sugar plantations were faring under the dispensation of paid labour. Though he favoured emancipation, his sympathies were stirred on behalf of the plantation owners, whom he recognized as fellow countrymen (Buzard 172). When Trollope wrote of the "negro" he hewed to the notion that race conferred fixed qualities designed to serve an everlasting objective: "God, for his own purposes…has created men of inferior and superior race" – the former to serve, the latter to lead (qtd. in Buzard 173).

Trollope wrote a travel book telling about North America as well. His message in this book was to bring together both Britain and America because of the "Anglos-Saxon brotherhood uniting England and its former colony. The political independence of the United States Trollope tended to regard as both appropriate and, where race was concerned, irrelevant" (Buzard 174). Trollope supported the freedom of the colonies but regarding the links between the mother country and her children ties must have been built. In other words, he wanted the colonies to represent Britain.

Although he criticized his country, especially the conservatives in power, he had an idea that would support the colonization for the interests of the British Empire.

While mentioning the indigenous people, he says no one will say that the English should have abstained from taking possession of Australia because such possession could not be secured without injury to the blacks (Buzard 176). Trollope thus stresses the importance of anglicizing Australia and New Zealand in spite of the costs of human life. The same success in colonization could not be shown in African colonies since the British could send a small number of British settlers to that continent because of the conflicts with native tribes and the Boers as well.

Although Trollope defends the Englishness of the Empire by saying that on reaching Sydney, the traveller should remember that he is visiting the spot on which their Australian empire was commenced, he tries to give accurate information to the reader about the discovery of Australia, which shows that he does not limit the truth with his novels but extends it to cover historical truth as well no matter it contradicts with the interest of his country. He claims that Captain Cook landed at Botany Bay, a few miles south of Sydney Harbour, - or Port Jackson in 1770, and took possession of the land on behalf of the English Crown. But Captain Cook was by no means the first to find Australia. Manoel Godenho, a Portuguese, is supposed to be the right claimant of that honour, and is said to have landed on the north-west corner of the continent in 1601 (*Trollope, Australia and New Zealand* I 196).

The main theme in *The Fixed Period* is aging. In Trollope's fictional work, the president John Neverbend starts a new law which requires forced euthanasia in order to give an end to the life of the elderly people who reach the age of sixty-seven. The purpose in doing that is to get rid of the financial problems the country will face. The elderly people, according to Trollope, lost their productive characteristics and were not very useful for the society. He was aware of the aging and the hardships accompanied by aging. Interestingly enough, the publication of the novel in 1882 coincides with his death in the same year. "Trollope makes Neverbend's plan seem reasonable, something that will eliminate a class of people too old to socially useful, and thus save the state revenue and maximize the efficiency of resources" (Birns 191). In a letter he wrote to Rusden dated 8 June 1876 he makes his fears and anxieties clear:

As the time for passing away comes near me I have no fear as to the future-I am ready to go. I dread nothing but physical inability and that mental lethargy which is apt to accompany it. Since I saw you I have written a memoir of my own life,-not as regards its activity but solely in reference to its literary bearing, as to what I have done in literature and what I have thought about it,-and now I feel as though everything were published and I was ready to go. No man enjoys life more than I do, but no man dreads more than I do the time when life may not be enjoyable. (*Trollope, The Letters of Anthony Trollope* xx)

Religion takes an important place in Trollope's life and he reflects his own belief on his novels. Althusser states that state institutions including church, teach "know-how" that ensure subjection to the ruling ideology: "Intolerance, censoriousness, self-righteousness, authoritarian oppression, however earnest and sincere their practitioners, could not in his view be allowed to threaten the civilized middle way along which he chose to tread" (Pollard 339).

Trollope was against Evangelical Protestantism, which was probably because of his mother's effect on him when he was little. "He believed in God, in a moral law, in judgment and immortality, and in very little else" (Cockshut 90). He was indignant at the attempt to deprive people of reasonable pleasures, he disliked people who would not be reticent about their feelings, and most of all he resented the claim to guide people in every detail of their lives (Cockshut 72). He believed in making a reform in the church in Britain and Ireland. He expressed that he would not be a member of any church that was made up with, and looked upon the state as its support and if the church could not exist except by endowment and establishment, that church could never bring souls to enjoyment of heaven (Tingay 19). Trollope claims that all material progress has come from man's desire to do the best he can for himself and those about him, and civilisation and Christianity itself have been made by such progress. He adds that the more a man ears the more useful he is to his fellow-men and this is the same with the Church, in art and authorship (Trollope, An Autobiography 89). Anglican though he was, he never subscribed to the idea of a church as anything more than an association of not very like-minded people (Cockshut 90).

The purpose of the following part of the dissertation is to trace how imperialism and colonialism were functioning especially in the second part of the nineteenth

century England, when the British Empire was expanding its territories under the Reign of Queen Victoria. How imperialism and colonialism were embedded in the discourses of the period will be analysed and thus a basis for the New Historicist Reading of the novel *The Fixed Period* will be founded. Various sources regarding the British Imperialism and colonialism will be analysed since while doing the New Historicist reading of the texts, it is of high importance to read them within the framework of historical context through literary and non-literary texts.

The various definitions of the words imperialism, colony, and colonialism should be made in order to make their meanings clear since they will commonly be used in this dissertation. The words imperialism, colony and colonialism have commonly been used especially from the past to the present related to the dominance of one country or the culture of one country over the other(s). The word imperialism has been used in a large scale covering different meanings since the function of imperialism differed from period to period. While it means power and expansion, it was also used to mean colonial expansion and dominance of one society over the others. Today it can be used to refer to the cultural effect of one country over the others in the form of "cultural imperialism". According to Williams, imperialism developed as a word during the second half of the nineteenth century and the word imperialist was even much older, meaning the adherent of an emperor or of an imperial form of government. Imperialism, and imperialist in its modem sense, developed primarily in English, especially after 1870. This word was used to refer to the civilizing mission of the powerful country on the primitive societies as well. "Imperialism acquired a new specific connotation in eC20³, in the work of a number of writers - Kautsky, Bauer, Hobson, Hilferding, Lenin – who in varying ways related the phenomenon of modern imperialism to a particular stage of development of CAPITALIST (q.v.) economy" (Williams 159).

_

³ the first period of the twentieth century

Comparing imperialism with colonialism, Archibald Paton Thornton, the British academic and historian, who wrote seminal books on the British Empire, defines imperialism as follows:

At its heart is the image of dominance, of power asserted; and power is neither used nor witnessed without emotion. The colonizer who triumphed over nature and circumstance takes his place in the national story as a hero of his time; but the imperialist, forever using others for ends of his own, has bequeathed to his posterity the controversies that pursued him through life. Imperialism is therefore more often the name of the emotion that reacts to a series of events than a definition of the events themselves. (Thornton 2-3)

In the preface to his *Imperialism*, dated August 1902, J. A. Hobson called it "the most powerful movement in the western world." He addressed his book to those who desired to understand political forces so that they might direct them. Imperialism, although under new auspices and in a different dress, has not lost its power in the western world (Thornton 6).

According to the literary critic Edward Said, "imperialism means the practice, the theory, and the attitudes of a dominating metropolitan centre ruling a distant territory; "colonialism", which is almost always a consequence of imperialism, is the implanting of settlements on distant territory. He adds that imperialism lingers where it has always been, in a kind of general cultural sphere as well as in specific political, ideological, economic, and social practices and that both are supported and perhaps even impelled by impressive ideological formations that include notions that certain territories and people require and beseech domination, as well as forms of knowledge affiliated with domination (Said 8).

The word *colonialism*, however, is defined as "a policy of acquiring or maintaining colonies." In derogatory sense it means "this policy regarded as the especially economic exploitation." Colony is defined as "a group of settlers in a new country (whether or not already inhabited) fully or partly subject to the mother country" (Pearsall and Trumble 285).

The list of empires from the past to the present, dating back to the BC, is indeed long. They have appeared in different parts of the world and have lasted either decades or centuries and definitely some have occupied and annexed more territories than the others. Europe, as one of the centres of civilization today, has been a cradle for many empires in the history. In expansion, European empires, like many other empires have used different tools, changing from technical superiority to religion. And most have used the civilization as a means of subduing the masses that were considered primitive and savage in the eyes of the imperialists or colonizers. Claeys states that Empires, however, often created political entities out of what they regarded as a condition of non- or pre-state barbarism, justifying their actions by their 'higher' civilisation (*Imperial Sceptics* 12).

Imperialism occurs when one nation tries to control another territory or country and impose its own values in order to benefit from the land, natural and human resources of that territory or country. In order to do that the purpose of the conquest must be justified. The ultimate purpose of the imperialism is to control. Claeys explains that through the great age of modern imperial expansion, from the late fifteenth to the mid-twentieth century, three main arguments underpinned European justifications for conquering the rest of the world: the superiority of Christianity; the supremacy of European civilisation; and the greater economic efficiency of more 'advanced' peoples in developing the world's resources (*Imperial Sceptics* 13). The western powers using these three arguments for centuries discovered and invaded territories in different parts of the world and set up their colonies. New Imperialism that starts in 1870s was a competition among the European Empires to get and control new lands, and use them for their economic and political purposes.

In the eighteenth century the British thought that they had to take their place in the race of colonialism because they would lose power and effectiveness in the international area especially against the powerful neighbouring empires. "Starting in the power stakes the English had to struggle to establish their identity and self-respect; the alternative was to be crushed by the power of continental Spain, and later France" (Johnston 3). What was behind all these aspirations as a motive was nationalist aspirations in many countries at that time. It can be said that in many cases it is nationalism that leads to imperialism. In nationalism a sense of consciousness regarding the identity and community is created. "Nationalism asserts itself when a community has become aware of itself, has reached a particular state of mind" (Thornton 145). It was these fervent nationalist and patriots who set England's destiny along the course of imperial greatness (Johnston 11). Regarding Britain, the technological advancement in almost all areas of life, which showed itself in The Great Exhibition in 1851 in London, empowered the self-confidence of the British that they were a real power in the world. The Victorian period was the brightest imperial century for the British. It was in 1875 that Queen Victoria was conferred the title of "Empress of India". "With the Jubilee celebrations of 1897, the reconquest of the Sudan in 1898 and the Boer War of 1899, imperialist sentiment reached a crescendo of popular enthusiasm" (Claeys, *Imperial Sceptics* 3). "Little England had become Greater Britain" (Johnston 93). There were various reasons that boosted the pride of being a British:

Contemporaries attributed many Imperial achievements to the progressive tendencies of their race-economic growth, law and order, good government, free institutions and civil liberties, and end to indigenous warfare, protection for the vulnerable, greater respect for women, and the spread of true religion. Such racial awareness, however, also produced its mirror images among the Empire's non-British peoples. In many of them, experience of Empire began to provoke a heightened sense of identity, an enhanced awareness of local potential, and an eagerness to bring out the best in their own societies by adopting the most attractive features of western ways and beliefs. (Porter 24)

Imperialism definitely had very strong economic motives. The effect of the Industrial Revolution in England continued throughout the nineteenth century and there appeared the needs of raw material and selling the manufactures to the conquered and annexed territories and countries. "The mercantilist world –view was very much influenced by the concept of total power- colonies, trade, people, military force, bases, prestige. The first part of the nineteenth century, however, was viewed more in terms of a flourishing, expanding economic base" (Johnston x). "By the 1820s political

economists had become convinced that falling domestic rates of profit could be offset by more lucrative ventures abroad" (Claeys, *Imperial Sceptics* 1).

The concept of imperialism changed its shell towards the end of the eighteenth century. The imperialism that started at the end of the fifteenth century with the discoveries and finding new settlement areas, which can also be called *Old Imperialism*, now was going to give its place to occupying other countries and colonizing them that can be called *New Imperialism*. "The British gradually abandoned the late-eighteenth-century consensus that the hierarchy of human societies rested on cultural not racial differences... Instead, there took hold a belief in the underlying reality of permanent racial divisions, and in the limits which this set to cultural change" (Porter 24). This was mainly rooted in Darwin's natural selection which was later to be coined by Herbert Spencer as survival of the fittest and was adopted by many. Adopting natural selection into the social life a new concept, Social Darwinism, was developed and it encouraged the Western powers, including the British Empire, to conquer the weaker countries and the lands of the native peoples since *the fittest survived*.

It must not be forgotten that the reform movements that took place in the nineteenth-century England contributed a lot to Little England's to becoming a world power. It is well- known that the French Revolution created a demand regarding more human rights and reforms in Britain as well. The British government did not ignore the changes that were brought with the revolution and in order to keep the stability and peace in the country and to give more rights to its people, it initiated a series of reforms throughout the nineteenth century. "Pressure to reform the system came both from below and from above. The former was strongly influenced by the French Revolution and its English connection, especially by the ideas of Thomas Paine's The Rights of Man, published between 1791 and 1792" (Lee 54). The reform attempts, aiming at improving the voting rights of the English, would take a concrete shape in the following decades.

In late nineteenth century, the British Empire began to have the largest territories in the world as a result of its expansion policies. It had already started to

expand its territories by conquering different regions in the world. New Zealand, for example, was annexed in 1840. In order to lessen the internal problems and riots, The British government was at times flexible in making policies that would both please the colonies and the imperial interests. "Ever since the Durham Report of 1839, the British government had encouraged internal self-government in the colonies, including New Zealand, New South Wales, South Australia, Tasmania and Queensland" (Lee 193).

The conditions of the age required the British politicians to make necessary policies both in internal and external affairs. Since the century was a century of conquest and expansion, foreign politics gained weight and there were times when strict policies had to be loosened. Even the Conservatives tended to change their policy regarding the empire in 1870s. "In preceding decades, they had often opposed Palmerstone's assertive foreign policy and had at times been accused of being 'Little Englanders'. In 1852, furthermore, Disraeli had referred to Britain's "wretched colonies" as 'a millstone round our necks" (qtd. in Lee 201). But Disraeli, after becoming a prime minister, would see the expansion necessary for the benefit of the country. Although there were differences regarding the policies between Disraeli and Gladstone, and naturally the Tories and the Whigs, and in spite of an age of developing liberalism in the country, "the bulk of public opinion agreed that there was no point in deliberately giving up or abandoning the existing empire" (Johnston 46). Trollope himself was interested in politics and witnessed the political arena in London very closely. Although he attempted to enter the parliament and failed, he was familiar with the politicians and the politics of his time, which can closely be seen in his novels.

Gladstone, regarding colonialism, thought that all colonies did not have to be dependent on Britain. "During a brief stint as Colonial Secretary, in 1845-6, Gladstone would claim that the colonies were to be conceived as maturing children of the motherland and they were to be endowed with institutions of responsible self-government at the earliest opportunity" (Koditschek 316). This idea is observed in Trollope's *The Fixed Period* since Britannula is depicted as a country that has just gained its independence from the British Empire. Although the empire expanded enormously, there were times when the new colonies had to be supported financially, which could also be a burden to the treasury:

Populist and progressive, the Liberals had a vision of New Zealand as the most advanced nation of the Empire, able, because of its newness, size, and natural advantages, to move ahead of the Old World. Their goal was to restore faith in the original migrant dream. It was supported by the return of higher agricultural prices from 1895 and capitalization on refrigeration which enabled frozen meat and dairy produce to be shipped to an apparently limitless market in Britain. The Liberals, who came to power on a policy opposed to borrowing, soon returned to the money markets to raise funds for government investment in land and agriculture. (Dalziel 593)

Great Britain had the largest territory towards the end of the twentieth century that any empire had ever had. It was with its naval force a supreme power, intimidating its colonial rivals. "By the closing decades of the nineteenth century the decision-makers began to think increasingly in terms of simply maintaining and protecting the huge power base that had already been established, in colonies, trade, investment, population, bases, prestige" (Johnston xi). However, the idea of expansion continued thereafter. And it was with the formation of the Commonwealth of Australia that the British Empire began to dissolve slowly followed by the Government of India Act in 1919, giving the right of self-government to the Indians, and the Irish Free State in 1921, which paved the way for independent Ireland.

When taking a look at the British Empire and its colonization, what is seen on the side of the Great Britain is the increasing prosperity, land, and most importantly power. Looking at the other side of the coin, what is seen is that the result of the British imperialism was mostly destructive on native peoples. In the example of Australia, New Zealand, and Tasmania many natives were killed because they could not battle against the British troops on equal terms since they were never as powerful as the British.

The British Empire supplied the necessary sources to control its colonies during the colonization period. "The expansion of British colonies and trade increased demands for troops and ships, and technological changes had to be absorbed if weapons were not to become outdated and if rivals were to be denied any offensive advantage" (Porter 16). Where possible, the British government tended to be flexible in providing self-rule to the white settler colonies as long as they served their interests.

"In white settler colonies by 1860, the wisdom of separating church and state, political anathema at home, was generally accepted, and controls over colonial trade or land policy had been reluctantly surrendered by London" (Porter 21).

One policy that was followed, which can be seen in *The Fixed Period* as well, was that the British Empire preferred loosening the control over its colonies that were ready to self-administer. But this means serving to the interest of the British Empire. "This approach was adopted for the various white settlement colonies such as the colonies in Canada and Australia, New Zealand, Cape Colony and Natal- where political maturity was believed to be rapidly developing because of the white settlers carried with them the essence of the British system" (qtd. in Johnston 46).

The British Empire wanted to make sure that its colonies were safe. Any attack would be serious threat to the empire, so the power of the army must have been felt everywhere in order to discourage the enemy. The British Navy, also known as the Royal Navy, was renowned worldwide especially during the nineteenth century:

Even during the period of unchallenged supremacy, the British government made sure that sufficient bases were obtained, scattered strategically around the world so that British naval power might be easily and effectively used in any ocean and so that British commerce might have ready access to markets anywhere in the world. In the second half of the century these strategic considerations were improved by the laying of land telegraphs and undersea cables to the scattered corners of the globe. By the end of the 1870s cable links hooked Britain not only to north America but to India, Australasia and South Africa. (Johnston 49)

It is worth mentioning the expansion of the British Empire in New Zealand since in *The Fixed Period* the story takes place in Britannula, a former colony of the British Empire. This fictional republic is near New Zealand, where Trollope mentions in his travel writings.

The British navy, one of the strongest of its own period, could set sail to the most distant corners of the world and conquer and annex lands. New Zeland was annexed by the empire in 1840 and "in the mid-nineteenth century it became the

furthest frontier of the British Empire" (Dalziel 573). The Little England was now Great Britain with a lot of territories even in the other corner of the world. "The empire on which the sun never sets" is a phrase that best defines to show how vast the Empire was. The British of course carried their system to wherever they occupied and made its own territory. "The British foothold in Australia ensured that New Zealand and its people would be incorporated into Imperial strategic and economic designs" (Dalziel 573).

Even in the colonies of white settlement a degree of systematization came in, with responsible government. Yet, in this case the moves were introduced in the name of freedom. Let such areas have greater political responsibility, so that they would be happy to stay under the umbrella of British imperial power. Rather than choose the way of independence which the thirteen American colonies had taken they would remain within the British empire and grow up as models of British society transplanted into foreign parts. Little Britain reborn. (Johnston 91)

Towards the end of his life, Trollope tended to be a pessimistic and naturally this was reflected on his novels. "In Trollope's last three completed novel, *The Fixed Period, Mr. Scarborough's Family,* and *An Old Man's Love* Trollope attempts an intensive treatment of a single theme; in most of them, there is also a single plot. Most of his protagonists are obsessed, and isolated in their obsessions" (Tracy 252). Trollope went to live at Harting in 1880 to live his last years, away from the busy city life of London.

The health which had been so strong was evidently failing, and he often spoke more seriously than in jest of his own novelette *The Fixed Period*, then coming out in Blackwood's Magazine, declaring it to be his own unaffected opinion that it would be well if England were to adopt the laws of Britannula, and abolish the miseries, weakness and faineant imbecility of old age by the pre-arranged ceasing to live of those who would otherwise become old. (Terry 231-232)

It is important to focus on why Trollope dealt with the theme of old age in his *The Fixed Period*. Although many writers will say that the novel is a satire, there were reasons for why Trollope chose the age sixty-seven as the age for ending the life of the individuals. Average life expectancy was quite low in Victorian period compared to 1980, the year envisaged by Trollope in his fictional novel, and today. Because of

various reasons such as hygiene, developments in medical science, quality in nutrition, better and regular working conditions, and increasing awareness of doing exercises, average life expectancy has increased.

The average life expectancy before the nineteenth century was indeed low and one of the main reasons was that there was no cure for many diseases. Smallpox, for example, killed millions of people. "The introduction of smallpox inoculation in the early 1720s, and its practice on a wide scale after the 1760s" began to save many lives initially among the wealthy people (Razzell 2). Razzell states that he found a sharp fall in mortality during the first four decades of the nineteenth century, after the period in which inoculation had been generally introduced (2).

Another reason that contributed to the increasing of the average life expectancy was definitely the increase in the standards of nutrition. "Higher levels of nutrition raised resistance to infectious disease among lower income groups" (Tranter 83). In the nineteenth century there were regulations made in different years by the government to keep the standards of nutrition high. "Between the early 1870s, with the passing of the Adulteration of Food, Drink and Drugs Act in 1872 and the Sale of Food and Drugs Act in 1875, and the early twentieth century major advances were achieved in the quality of the nation's food and, to a lesser extent, drink supply" (qtd. in Tranter 80).

The increasing education level among women has contributed a lot to the average life expectancy as well. The attempts by leading male and female figures such as the English philosopher John Stuart Mill with his *The Subjection of Women* opened the doors of equal rights for women in the nineteenth century. Thus, more women gained the right of education:

The more educated the woman, the greater her ability to provide satisfactory standards of food and child care without imposing undue strain on the family budget, the greater the ease with which she breaks with traditional methods of child care and the traditional resignation to illness, the more insistent she will be for effective medical treatment and the more likely to implement efficiently the advice received, the greater her influence on family decision-making processes, and, thus

the more likely these decisions are to favour the interests of the child. (qtd. in Tranter 88)

The real figures of 1980s regarding aging and health system seem to justify Trollope's envisaged anxiety in his dystopian novel *The Fixed Period*. "Health spending had increased relative to education. Whereas in 1979 more had been spent on the latter than on health and personal social services, by 1985 not only were the positions reversed but the gap was more than £2000 million (1982 prices)" (Small 103).

Kelsall expresses that in Britain, life expectancy for new born boys and girls rose from 40 and 42 in the mid-nineteenth century to 48.5 and 52.5 in the first decade of the (twentieth) century; it stood at around 59 and 63 in the early 1930s, had improved to 66.5 and 71.5 in the early 1950s, and in the early 1960s is very nearly 68 and 74 (26). The figures given show a parallel increase to the scientific, technological, and social developments in the society. These figures are more or the less the same for all developed countries but different from the figures in undeveloped countries because of poor sanitary, educational, social and economic conditions.

Aging populations in different societies have always urged government to take precautions against the budget deficit in treasury. To prevent the deficit and financial crisis and to continue funding for taking care of the elderly, retirement age has been increased by governments in many countries. As the average life expectancy and in line with this the number of the elderly increase, the costs for medical care increase too. "In 1950 there was one pensioner for every five people of working age; by 2030 it is estimated that there will be three to every five. To continue to fund pensions in the future it will mean that either the size of individual pensions will have to be reduced or those in work will need to pay higher taxes" (Jackson 130).

Brannigan claims that there are two lessons to be gained from adopting new historicist methods of analysis: the first is a means of relating a text to other texts of the same period and the second is a means of relating literary texts to history and politics (152). Therefore, some texts belonging to 1890s, a travel narrative *Travels in*

West Africa, Congo Français, Corisco and Cameroons and The Story of West Africa by Mary Kingsley and Heart of Darkness by Joseph Conrad, will be briefly analysed in order to determine the imperialistic attitudes, colonial discourse, representations, and the ideology of the period since New Historicism, based on the principle that history can be interpreted better only through texts of a specific period, deals with all other types of texts from travel narratives to contracts. The purpose of analysing these contemporary texts will be to understand the colonial discourse in The Fixed Period better. The emphasis will be on the concept "civilized" since the British, like Mr Neverbend in The Fixed Period, have always been proud of being a civilized nation and this concept is repeatedly used in Trollope's novel.

New Historicists, affected by Geertz's 'thick description method' dwell on anecdotes "to reveal through the analysis of tiny particulars the behavioral codes, logics, and motive forces controlling a whole society" (Veeser xi). It is through anecdotes that the larger pieces of operations may be understood better since they contain "a microcosmic image of the power relations" (Brannigan 133).

One of the most celebrated female travel writers is definitely Mary Kingsley, a Victorian Period woman who courageously travelled in West Africa and wrote about her experiences very successfully in two books: *Travels in West Africa, Congo Français, Corisco and Cameroons* (1897) and *The Story of West Africa* (1899). Kingsley tells about her experiences in the territories she visited in Africa humorously, which can be seen in different parts of the book. However, Africa was considered savage, brutal, and exotic in the eyes of the civilized Europeans. "But Kingsley seems to subvert the predicates of colonisation by falling under 'the charm' of the African forest, and finding it to her taste". Reading between the lines of her narrative, "one can see the binary opposition between European master and African slave" (Brannigan 134).

She mentions missionaries she encounters as well. The missionaries are there to convert the heathen natives to Christians, claiming that the natives' religion is primitive. She gives information about the children who attend the mission-school

and mission teachers who teach children to read the Bible (Kingsley 42-44). Kingsley shows how the children of the natives are educated and *civilized*.

Kingsley did not have imperialistic missions such as ruling or converting the natives. She gave detailed information about different African tribes, their life, culture, and language. Her approach was different from the European colonial power that did not even need to build a friendly communication with the natives since they were regarded as brutal or primitive in the eyes of the European master. A New Historicist reading of such events or anecdotes reveals that she did not have colonial preconceptions and thus subverted the colonial discourse of the time. On the other hand, it shows that subversion is contained in the text by showing that "in the context of an academic study which in itself proclaims mastery over the African native" (Brannigan 135).

Heart of Darkness is another novel to represent the European discourse in 1890s. The novel provides the reader with information about the natural environment of the Congo River and the black people who lived more than one century ago. The natural description is given from Marlow's point of view in a gloomy and pessimistic air. The novel presents London as civilized and Congo as uncivilized. The readers get the sense that the Africans are othered since there aren't many details that tell us about the life and customs of the Africans as Marlow always keeps himself away from them. Most of the details about the portrayal of the nature are mingled with the psychology of the narrator and thus even the nature itself is presented as savage.

This novel, although given from a very pessimistic view, provides the reader with information about the nature of the Congo river and the difficult life conditions of the black people. It reflects the traveling experiences of Conrad himself when he was in Congo. That is why it is possible to find some autobiographical information about Conrad through the narration of his character Marlow in the novel.

It is possible to see both subversion and containment of the colonial power in this novel as well. Marlow, speaking for Conrad, is against British colonialism and criticizes it. He does not justify the colonization of other countries by powerful nations since it is an attack to their life. He says: "The conquest of the earth, which mostly means the taking it away from those who have a different complexion or slightly flatter noses than ourselves, is not a pretty thing when you look into it too much" (Conrad 10). Although he is against the colonialism, he justifies Fresleven's hitting the chief of a village thinking that it was probably because Fresleven felt the need at last of asserting his self-respect in some way (13).

Colonialism in Britain during the imperial period was regarded as having a civilizing mission. "One of the most pervasive images of [the] relation between the modern European and the primitive native, when represented in Europe, was the image of European mother nurturing and protecting her colonial children" (Brannigan 138). The colonies during the British Empire were regarded as "offshoots or extensions of Britain" (139). Conrad subverts the image of the mother country by displaying this horrible act. "Marlow becomes aware here that black men have been rendered synonymous with the material objects that surround them: rusted-out machinery and tools apparently used and then discarded by the Company" (Franey 98). Brannigan states that the novel is complicit in [the] discourses by being the product of the imperialist discourse and that the relation of Marlow to imperialism and criticism of imperialism serve the interests of imperialist power (Brannigan 152).

The colonial power is subverted and contained since these texts are representations of European colonialism and they were usually written for English readers but not the Africans. New Historicism "provides a sense of how a text participates in sustaining the social order, and joins with other texts to form a discourse which contain subversion effectively by representing it, and controlling it within a defined and limited system of representation" (Brannigan 153).

The Fixed Period by Trollope carries the same colonial discourse since it was written in the same period with the travel narratives of Kingsley and the novel of Conrad. However, the location for the setting of the novel is an independent island off the coast of New Zealand. The doctrine of the Fixed Period in the novel aims at sacrificing the elderly for the whole community in order to lessen the economic and social burden of the society. Trollope, affected by the medical and scientific

developments of his period, uses compulsory euthanasia in his novel to create a society that will thrive on an island with less burden arousing from the old age. This idea, although not put in practice, aimed at creating a utopian world:

Trollope is both satirizing the concept while showing the real-life benefits of such a program. Further, he seems to have real sympathy for a fledgling nation and its leader fighting against the imperialism of Britain. In this way *The Fixed Period* is more than a microcosm and instead is an example of the confusing and often conflicting emotions people had about personal liberty and the Victorian values of self-reliance and civic duty. (Reeves 110)

Sending those who will be sixty-seven to the college is the main theme of this novel. The adoption of Fixed Period is discussed and accepted by the Assembly of Britannula since the members are young and they are not close to age sixty-seven to be sent to the college to wait for their death. Mr Neverbend believes that this doctrine will ultimately prevail over whole of the civilised world. He explains the reason behind his Fixed Period by putting forward some statistics which show that the sustenance of an old man is more costly than the feeding of a young one and because of this a euthanasia was to be prepared for them ($The FP^4$ Vol I:3,5-7). He further explains that when their population should have become a million, presuming that one only in fifty would have reached the desired age, the sum actually saved to the colony would amount to £1,000,000 a-year. Mr Neverbend makes sure that his doctrine becomes a law since only law can get the people to obey his Fixed Period (8,9). The elderly people reaching the age of sixty-seven will be sent to the college first and then euthanized. Neverbend justifies the new law by saying that their population at Gladstonopolis was so thriving (37).

Euthanasia, which means taking a deliberate action for ending the life because of suffering that is brought about by aging, is seen as the way of removing the elderly in Britannula in order to create welfare and a dynamic society. The idea of euthanasia already existed in Victorian Period but Samuel D. William's essay "Euthanasia"

⁴ Trollope, Anthony. *The Fixed Period* Vol I, Vol II. Blackwood's Magazine, 1882. All the future references will be to the abbreviated title *The FP* and the numbers of page.

published in 1870 sparked the debate of euthanasia and it was mentioned in other journals as well. "This essay was the first to use the term euthanasia to mean justifiable mercy-killing, rather than a good, peaceful death" (Reeves 98). It was Samuel Williams who first proposed "using anesthetics and morphine to intentionally end a patient's life" (Ezekiel 793). Williams justified euthanasia by claiming that the individual's life "can no longer be of use to others" except ending his pain (qtd. in Reeves 99). It was thought to be a means of eradicating "social undesirables for their good and for the good of society". Although the idea and practice of euthanasia goes back to the Ancient Greeks, there were times when it met huge opposition from different spiritual religions and humanists since it was regarded irrational to end a life bestowed by God and all human beings had a right to live to the end of their life.

Reeves claims that euthanasia, as an important component of advanced utopic or dystopic society, became linked with evolution and that the link has its basis not only in natural selection, but also in the social Darwinism that permeated Victorian social norms and in eugenics (Reeves 95). Social Darwinism that's known as natural selection of human groups based on Darwin's theory used on animals and plants as a result of observations of the nature fits the idea of the Fixed Period since survival of the fittest finds ground in that novel by letting the young and the middle-aged live and the elderly perish. The number of the increase of the elderly and the theory of survival of the fittest, a phrase proposed by the English sociologist and scientist Herbert Spencer, who was affected by both Darwin and Malthus, affected the Victorian society to a great deal. This period witnessed great changes in the outlook of the people on social issues due to technical and scientific progress caused especially by Industrial Revolution.

With the initiation of Poor Law in 1834, the British government aimed at collecting the poor from the streets and taking them to the workhouses to feed, and clothe them. The residents of those places were expected to work several hours a day in return of accommodation and food. "While Victorian literature focused on the children of the workhouse, the reality is that the elderly made up the largest single group of workhouse residents. By 1890, one-third of the average workhouse population was made up of the elderly…" (qtd. in Reeves 111).

In *The Fixed Period* Mr Neverbend envisions that his doctrine of the Fixed Period will prevail in all countries, especially in the "civilised world" (*The FP* Vol I:3). He is trying to justify his proposal by stating that the old will be a burden to the society since the sustenance of an old man is more costly than feeding a young one. In order to prevent that, a euthanasia was prepared to those expected to be sixty-seven. In addition, he claims that at sixty-five a man has done all that he is fit to do (21). Mr Neverbend thinks that this scheme will give an end to the sufferings of the elderly as well. Trollope projected a future world of a hundred years later. In an answer to the question about the population of England, Lord Marylebone answers "sixty million" (*The FP* Vol I:168), which is close to the real demographic figures of the UK of 1980s. Reeves expresses that there is confusion about the sincerity of Trollope's comment about *The Fixed Period* to a *Blackwood's Magazine* reviewer that "it's all true – I *mean* every word of it" (Collins qtd. in Reeves 114) but the social climate of the time implied putting the sufferers out of their misery.

Population increase is what the governments have to deal with since it brings a huge burden to the running social systems of the states. According to the Office for National Statistics of Great Britain, considering the population increase in the UK today, people aged 65 and over are the fastest-growing age group, and this group is projected to grow by 20.4% over 10 years and by nearly 60% over 25 years in England (Nash). The projection of Trollope regarding the elderly people being a burden for the society is confirmed, if not for his doctrine of the Fixed Period, through the challenges that the governments face in taking care of them through social security systems. According to the National Institutes of Health, as of 2016, "8.5 percent of people worldwide (617 million)" were aged sixty-five and over and this rate will continue to increase in the coming decades (Cire).

However, anxieties related with population increase were already rooted in the theory of English economist and demographer Thomas Robert Malthus, who published his *An Essay on the Principle of Population* in 1798. Population increase was seriously seen as a problem by him since he claimed that "the power of population is definitely greater than the power in the earth to produce subsistence for man". He further stated that while unchecked population increases in a geometrical ratio, subsistence increases

only in an arithmetical ratio. Human species would increase in the ratio of- 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32, 64, 128, 256, 512, and so on and subsistence as- 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, etc. (Malthus 13, 18). He was against the Poor Laws that goes back to the sixteenth century England since such laws aiming at providing a relief for the poor contributed to the population through fecundity.

Contrary to the fixed age determined by Mr Neverbend and his supporters in the novel, Tucker expresses that in the nineteenth century Poor Law Guardians, as an authority, labelled those with behavioural infirmity and physical deterioration as old rather than labelling them based on chronological age alone (Tucker 98). What was determining in being labelled as an old was whether the elderly could perform their jobs or not. Furthermore, there weren't regular working hours especially for the working-class people in Victorian Period. The rosters of the workhouses of Victorian Period that provided shelter and food including work for the needy ones "suggest that in 1851 fewer than one in eight workhouse inmates were 65; by 1891 the ratio increased to one-third in most regions" (Tucker 103). Increase in the number of the elderly people as a result of the population increase was observable.

Tucker states that Old Age Pension Committee of 1898 first named 65 as the retirement age for men. However, after considering the cost to the nation of paying from age 65, members of Parliament pushed old age up to 70 before the Old Age Pensions Act of 1908 (Tucker 104). That must be the first time when anxieties regarding the old age to be a burden appeared in the media of the UK as well.

Dystopias are satirical works that warn the societies for possible dangers. *The Fixed Period* is not purely science fictional since it reflects the concerns of its time. When the famous Canadian physician William Osler left his position as head of John Hopkins Medical School to accept a named chair at Oxford University, his 1905 farewell speech "The Fixed Period" (a direct allusion to Trollope's novel) bemoaned the uselessness of men over 40 and jokingly advocated chloroforming men over 60 (Tucker 107).

The old age, as one of the main themes in *The Fixed Period*, was probably sensed by Trollope to be a serious issue. However, it was not Trollope alone who dealt with this theme. Robert Browning's "Rabbi Ben Ezra" (1864), Matthew Arnold's "Growing Old" (1867), and Alfred Tennyson's "Locksley Hall Sixty Years After" (1891) are just some of the poems written in that period (qtd. in Tucker 7).

New Historicism seeks to find sites of struggle to identify power holders. What is apparent in *the Fixed Period* is that Mr Neverbend, as the president of Britannula, is a lawmaker and his law, which passed thirty years earlier, is now opposed by most of the people, and the British, as the greater power holder, colonize his young country. New Historicism owes much to Foucault who stated that power operates in circulation and does not only reside above and is not something that can be possessed solely by the rulers. Foucault dwelt on the complex power relations in a given society to show how the power holders construct the members or subjects and how they are constructed. It is the society or the power holders that normalize and abnormalize things for its individuals. "...power produces; it produces reality; it produces domains of objects and rituals of truth" (*Discipline and Punish* 194). However, as the time passes, such constructs change with the new energies and intricate power relations.

Greenblatt was influenced by Foucault's concept of power. Like Foucault, he states that power exists in all societies and it cannot be possessed by any. It circulates among all layers of the society and is exercised by individuals that make up a society: "Power exists to be exercised in the world. It will not go away if you close your eyes and dream of escaping into your study or your lover's arms or your daughter's house. It will simply be seized by someone else, probably someone more coldly efficient than you and still further from an ethically adequate object..." (Shakespeares's Freedom 81).

Trollope, who after a failed attempt to enter the parliament as a candidate, creates the character Mr Neverbend based on his personal experiences in writing his novel. Mr Neverbend cannot achieve his aim in starting the Fixed Period. He tells about how the Fixed Period was adopted by the Parliament about thirty years ago when they had a young Assembly and no opposition was made to this new system. (*The FP*

Vol I:3). Mr Neverbend, along with other parliamentarians, uses the power of the assembly to make laws. In deciding to send people to the college for forced euthanasia Mr Neverbend forbids any member of the House to use the word "murder" since he finds it revolting and implies that such a word has no place in law because euthanasia itself was a law now (8-9). Trollope himself was aware of the power of the British parliament in his time. New Historicism claims that the ideology of the period during which a text is produced is reflected in the text itself. Literary texts are seen as products of their times. Althusser, focusing on ideology, explains that the school (but also other State institutions like the Church, or other apparatuses like the Army) teaches 'knowhow', but in forms which ensure *subjection to the ruling ideology* or the mastery of its 'practice' (*Essays on Ideology* 7).

In an answer to the question "Did you really mean to kill the old men?" by the British Lord Alfred Percy, Neverbend replies "I did not mean it, but the law did" (*The FP* Vol II:192). Mr Neverbend, as a politician following the ideal of creating a much better society in the long term through the Fixed Period, forbids the use of the word *murder* but justifies the Fixed Period by claiming that "the law enacts it". Instead of *Necropolis* he uses *College*, preferring a euphemistic language in order to keep the citizens away from the idea of death, which was a way specific to many politicians to convince the citizens (*The Fixed Period* Vol. I: 8-9). Tucker, by drawing attention to the aging body, states that to the end of the Victorian Period parliamentary discussion of the reports was regularly covered in newspapers and periodicals, heightening contemporary belief that the aged were proliferating, in need of care, and threatening to become a national burden (104).

The Fixed Period reflects Trollope's disliking of imperial practices, which is clearly seen in his biographies and travel writings. He did not approve the policies of the statesman Disraeli and his policies of foreign affairs. In other words, he subverted the imperial power for its practices. Interestingly enough, by assuming an imperialist attitude, he was not defending the rights of the Aborigines in Australia. He, like the white people in Britain, had heard rumours about the so-called cannibalism and savagery of the black people in Australia and said: "Of the Australian black man we may certainly say that he has to go. That he should perish without unnecessary

suffering should be the aim of all who are concerned in the matter". As for the Maori people, he had been enchanted by the 'damsels' who splashed with him so sweetly in the pool, but he saw no future for them (Glendinning 417). However ambiguous he seemed to be in his approach towards the black people, in general he did not appreciate the practices of imperialism, which is shown in Mr Neverbend's separating his country from Britain in order to build a better country. However, by using expressions such as "the thick-lipped inhabitants of Central Africa, a bloody- minded cannibal, the cannibals of New Zealand" (*The FP* Vol II: 119,184,197), Trollope's subversion of the imperial power is contained in that he implies power holders have a higher civilization.

Mr Neverbend is exalting the British colonialism by saying that "It may be doubted whether a brighter, more prosperous, and specially a more orderly colony than Britannula was ever settled by British colonists (*The FP* Vol I:1)" The colony they have just built must be better than their mother country. Although Mr Neverbend is happy to have cut off the ties with Britain, he is pleased to call his newly built country Britannula "the rising Empire of the South Pacific" (14-15) and claims that in every way England had had reason to be proud of her youngest child as Britannulans had become noted for intellect, morals, health, and prosperity (*The FP* Vol II:65). The English biographer Victoria Glendinning expresses that Trollope's imagery "was that of a parent allowing her adult children-the colonies-to lead their own lives" (252).

Concerning the reason of becoming an independent country, Mr Neverbend explains that New Zealand had "public debt" and they left there in order to establish their country on that island that had been discovered (*The FP* Vol I:18). Britannula will be their home and the people there will not struggle with the economic problems. Trollope himself had witnessed that while in New Zealand, the country had economic problems.

Neverbend himself is behaving with the desire of control, which reminds us of biopolitics of Foucault. In his *The History of Sexuality*, Foucault uses two concepts: biopower and biopolitics to analyse the mechanisms of life processes managed under the regime of authority. He mentions that "the disciplines of the body and the

regulations of the population constituted the two poles around which the organization of power over life was deployed". Referring to the disciplining of the body and controlling the population, he adds that starting in the seventeenth century, the supervision of propagation, births and mortality, the level of health, life expectancy and longevity was effected through an entire series of interventions and regulatory controls (*History of Sexuality* I:139). The law thus has given permission to the power holders to manage the lives of the subjects, which is projected by Trollope in his *The Fixed Period*.

Although Trollope was a leading novelist in the Victorian Period and ran for candidacy in the parliament to defend the British interests, he was against colonialism. In the novel Mr Neverbend subverts the British colonialism. "Nothing could have been more successful than our efforts to live alone during the thirty years that we remained our own masters (The FP Vol I:2)." However, he fears the dominant power of imperialism. He fears that the British, with their great weapon "a 250 - ton steam swiveller" could crush them and give an end to their Fixed Period college and describes this as "gross tyranny" (16,19). In spite of assuming an attitude against the British, Trollope glorifies the power of British Imperialism. "He pointed to the gunboat in the bay when it came, and called it the divine depository of beneficent power" (The FP Vol I:26). Although Britannulans have their own flag, they still use the same language and monetary currency that the British use. The flag symbolizes their independence and their "language is spreading itself over the world, and is no sign of nationality" (141). Mr Neverbend even touches upon the hegemonic power of the British fleet by saying "...the John Bright must steam away, and play its part in other quarters of the globe (The FP Vol II:86).

Mr Neverbend emphasizes the characteristic interference of the British Empire by saying "I did know that were Britannula to appeal aloud to England, England, with that desire for interference which has always characterised her, would interfere" (*The FP* Vol I:71). Mr Neverbend, as the lawmaker in Britannula, condemns the British Empire for preventing his law to be put into practice and accuses Britain of "crush[ing] the free voice of those whom she had already recognised as independent" (*The FP* Vol I:67). Thus, Neverbend cannot apply the power he is provided with on his subjects just

because another power mechanism, in this case the fleet of the powerful British navy, prevents it. Foucault notes that power needs free subjects and without them it cannot function. "Power is exercised only over free subjects, and only insofar as they are free" (Foucault, "Subject and Power" 790). When taken to Britain by force, Mr Neverbend himself, who was once making laws to control his people, becomes a subject within power relations.

Regarding Sir Ferdinando Brown, who is appointed as the governor to rule Britannula instead of him, Mr Neverbend complains that the newly appointed governor makes "flowery speeches" and "collects his revenue, and informs them that to be taxed is the highest privilege of an ornate civilisation (*The FP* Vol I:25)." Language and ideology are two inseparable entities. Although language is used for communication, it becomes a tool in the hands of the power holders. The sentence "to be taxed is the highest privilege of an ornate civilisation" is just another means of controlling and convincing the subject in order to create docile bodies. Manipulation of language is another means of control and it serves the purposes of the power holders.

Trollope himself was a reformist in soul. He had worked for the improvement of the British colonial post office system. In the novel Mr Neverbend, referring to his Fixed Period expresses that "... there are reforms so great that a man cannot but be enthusiastic when he has received into his very soul the truth of any human improvement" (*The FP* Vol I:11). With Britannula, Mr Neverbend thinks that he created a country far better than Britain. During a cricket match with the British, referring to the eight British professional cricket players as "slaves" compared to his own cricket players, he scorns the British and implies his country Britannula is a freer country (*The FP* Vol I:131). Speaking to the Englishman Lord Marylebone, Mr Neverbend is proud of telling him that they have already freed themselves from the stain of capital punishment (141).

Blaming persons like Mr Bunnit who informs British authorities about Mr Neverbend's Fixed Period, Neverbend accused them of being "still clung submissive to the old country [England]" and knowing nothing of "progress and civilisation" (*The FP* Vol II:53). Even when he is taken to England as a punishment for his scheme, Mr

Neverbend believes his own reality and truth. Writing on board H.M. gunboat John Bright, he says that the British soldiers are taking him to Britain so that his Fixed Period may "die away in Britannula" but in the future, since his Fixed Period will live, "men will prosper ...and thrive" (*The FP* Vol I:52). However, what is a utopian ideal and project for Neverbend is dystopian for many of his citizens. Starting from the fifteenth century, European colonialism conquered and annexed the territories of *the other* people under the pretext of bringing them civilisation and making them happy. They did this in a covered way to exploit almost all sources of the native people.

Regarding civilization and happiness, Sigmund Freud, the famous Austrian psychoanalyst, claims that liberty has undergone restrictions through the evolution of civilization. Saying that civilization does not mean happiness, Freud expresses that human life in communities only becomes possible when a number of men unite together in strength superior to any single individual and remain united against all single individuals. The strength of this united body is then opposed as right against the strength of any individual, which is condemned as *brute force*. This substitution of the power of a united number for the power of a single man is the decisive step towards civilization (Freud 17).

Trollope sensing that the number of the elderly would increase one hundred years later dwelt on the issue of "aging." The governments will have to either increase the working duration of the individuals or reduce the pensions they will get when they get retired to find a solution to this problem unless the authorities come up with great projects that will deal with the increasing population of societies and the elderly people in parallel with that. The medical care of the elderly may become a very serious issue if the national budgets are insufficient. Jackson expresses that in Britain the chances of dying are largely determined by age. In 1990 81 per cent of deaths in England and Wales were of people aged 65 and above (OPCS 1991b), the most common causes of death being heart disease, respiratory diseases and cancer. As an indication of the increase in the number of the elderly he adds that between 1984 and 1994 the number of 16-19 year olds in the population fell by approximately one million and that the number of people over retirement age is expected to rise from 10.4 million in 1991 to approximately 13.5 million in 2030 in Britain (Jackson 32,124,129-130).

Neverbend draws attention to the negative contribution of technological developments by giving the example of John Bright, a huge ship of war: "It is an evil sign of the times,—of the times that are in so many respects hopeful,—that the greatest inventions of the day should always take the shape of engines of destruction!" (*The FP* Vol II:57). Technological advances may not be used only for the good or the welfare of societies. They may be used as in *The Fixed Period* to intimidate and control the others. With the interference of Britain to control Britannula, Mr Neverbend expresses that they are to be "slaves" because England wants so and they are robbed of their constitution, their freedom of action, and they are reduced to the lamentable condition of a British Crown colony (109).

Foucault claims that "that there are no relations of power without resistances" (*Power/Knowledge* 142). He argues that as long as there is a power relation, there is resistance to this power since it needs to be functioned. Power cannot stand alone. It needs its oppositional force to exist. Neverbend is resisted by his society because of applying power through his newly created system but it is he himself who resists another power mechanism functioning by imperial force. Foucault states that power is not an institution, and not a structure; neither is it a certain strength we are endowed with; it is the name that one attributes to a complex strategical situation in a particular society (*The History of Sexuality* 1: 93).

Regarding the scheme of the Fixed Period, Neverbend claims that they had all been too much in a hurry, and had foolishly endeavoured to carry out a system in opposition to the world's prejudices, which system, when successful, must pervade the entire world (*The FP* Vol II:137-138). However, he does not give up his Fixed Period and thinks that "with all its advantages, was of such a nature that it must necessarily be postponed to an age prepared for it" and that "the world should not allow itself to endure the indignities, and weakness, and selfish misery of extreme old age" (179-180).

Apart from his project regarding the Fixed Period, which is thought to bring welfare to the society, Mr Neverbend is trying to give the image of a utopian world to Britannula: "Everything that human nature wants was there at Little Christchurch. The

streams which watered the land were bright and rapid, and always running" (*The FP* Vol I:28-29). He implies that in addition to all this natural beauty, the Fixed Period will contribute to the creation of this utopic world, which later turns out to be a dystopia for the others.

Victorian society was a patriarchal society. The construction of the role of woman by patriarchal discourse kept the women away from the public sphere. The women of that time were expected to do house work, not the jobs that the men were involved in. Foucault states that discipline produces subjected and practised bodies, 'docile' bodies (*Discipline and Punish* 138). The power relation does not exist only between the state and its subjects but also between wife and husband, who may try to impose control mechanism of the patriarchal discourse on his wife by restricting her manners and free-will.

Trollope very realistically portrays not only the behaviours of the men of his time but also of the female characters in his novel. Although he does not tell a lot about women in his novel *The Fixed Period*, he provides the readers with information about the ideology of the time. Reflecting the discourse of the patriarchal society of the time, the novel subverts the patriarchal domain. Neverbend is opposed by Eva, Mr Crasweller's daughter, and his wife Sarah for the law the Fixed Period. Sarah, for example, can freely discuss with her husband. However, subversion of patriarchal discourse is contained in the text. Neverbend describes Eva as perfect in symmetry, in features, in complexion, and in simplicity of manners and having "a coaxing, sweet, feminine way" (The FP Vol I:31,99). When Sir Kennington asks Eva for a drive and spends a couple of hours with her on the cliffs, Sarah says: "A girl shouldn't get herself talked about in that way by everyone all round. I don't suppose the man intends to marry her" (133). In the first volume of *The History of Sexuality* Foucault notes that according to current received wisdom, the end of the seventeenth century marked the beginning of a repressive regime of censorship and prudishness with regards to sexuality. Reversing this argument, he suggests instead that never before had there been so much attention focused on sexuality and the nineteenth century in fact saw the emergence of an enormous proliferation of knowledge and the development of multiple mechanisms of control in relation to sexuality. This is reflected in *The Fixed Period*.

Social constructs determine whether behaviours are *normal* or *abnormal*. The term *normal*, or *normalizing* deriving from *norm* put the subjects within a framework of behavioural codes and manners. The gender difference, which is constructed by societies, makes the subjects behave with already determined behaviours that are considered appropriate in communities. Turning into habits in the long term, these behaviours are accepted as normal while the others are regarded as abnormal. Regarding the gender differences constructed in societies, Foucault emphasizes that the word sexuality did not appear until the beginning of the nineteenth century, it was established with the development of diverse fields of knowledge (embracing the biological mechanisms of reproduction as well as the individual or social variants of behavior); the establishment of a set of rules and norms—in part traditional, in part new—which found support in religious, judicial, pedagogical, and medical institutions; and changes in the way individuals were led to assign meaning and value to their conduct, their duties, their pleasures, their feelings and sensations, their dreams (The History of Sexuality Vol. II: 3-4). Thus, the nineteenth century, with the accumulation of knowledge on sexuality, created various control mechanisms on the subjects. Increasing knowledge about the individuals contributed to power to control the individual not only physically but also over their mind.

The Fixed Period had been chosen "with reference to the community at large" (*The FP* Vol I:41). The people were convinced about the good of the Fixed Period for all of the society. In other words, they believed in the truth of this. *Truth*, related to subjects, power, and knowledge, takes an important place in Foucault's works. Truth is something that happens in history: it is not something that already existed with a universal feature. It is also produced by power mechanisms. Regarding penal practices, Foucault claims that each period has its own perception of truth shaped by the discourse and that "...the truth-power relation remains at the heart of all mechanisms of punishment and that it is still to be found in contemporary penal practice- but in a quite different form and with very different effects" (*Discipline and Punish* 55). In

addition, Foucault stressed that the dominant class determined what it was 'right' or 'not right' (*Power/Knowledge* 3).

At the end of the novel, Mr Neverbend becomes a colonial subject after the annexation of Britannula by the British. Foucault, implying that power is omnipresent, states that "it needs to be considered as a productive network which runs through the whole social body, much more than as a negative instance whose function is repression" (*Power/Knowledge* 119).

Drawing attention to the old age, Trollope touches upon a social issue that may create serious problems for the society in the long term. His protagonist Mr Neverbend, as a politician and orator makes a law that aims at finding a solution to this problem. Analysed within the framework of the New Historicism the complex power relations are seen clearly. Foucault claims that *power* is neither an institution nor a structure. It cannot be possessed either. That's why, it is power that dictates its law on the people of Britannula. Similarly, it is power that dictates its law on Mr Neverbend when he is incapacitated by the British Empire. *The Fixed Period* subverts the British colonialism accusing the empire to invade and annex other lands such as Britannula. However, this resistance is contained through Trollope's glorifying the British Navy. The purpose of creating a utopian society under the rule of Mr Neverbend creates a dystopian climate.

CHAPTER FOUR

POWER MECHANISM IN THE TURBULENT BRITAIN OF THE TWENTIETH CENTURY IN BURGESS' A CLOCKWORK ORANGE

New Historicism is based on one of the tenets that there is a relation between the author's life story and the literary product. Hence, in this part of the thesis, the details regarding the biography of Anthony Burgess will be revealed in order to emphasize the relation between his real life story and the narrative of *A Clockwork Orange*. Considering the important events in Burgess' life will shed light on recognizing his period and the society he lived in.

Anthony Burgess (1917-1993), one of the most prolific writers of the twentieth century, wrote thirty-three novels, three symphonies and many nonfictional works. He was born "in 1917, in Manchester, the son of a pianist father and music-hall mother" (Dix 3). "John Burgess Wilson is Burgess's full given name... His father, Joe Wilson, was in the Royal Army Pay Corps" (Stinson 1). His mother, Elizabeth Burgess, was a golden-haired singer and dancer who, as a performer on the British musical comedy stage, was styled tautologically "the Beautiful Belle Burgess" (Aggeler, *The Artist as Novelist* 3). She died of influenza along with Burgess' six-year-old sister, Muriel, when Burgess was only one year old. Burgess expressed that he had no idea about his mother since he lost her at an early age: "I had to grow up without something I envied in others- you know, the mother, the home atmosphere...I wonder whether this does something to one in later life- whether one becomes less able to give affection or to take affection- because one never had this early filial experience (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 7). In 1922 his father married an Irish widower who was to be Burgess' stepmother.

It cannot be denied that parents have a great effect on their children's behaviour. Children usually take their parents as a model as they grow up. Burgess uses music in many of his novels. It is no coincidence that Burgess uses symphonies in his *A Clockwork Orange*. His father had an important role in getting him to have an interest in music and symphonies. Biswell states that Burgess and his father regularly

attended the twice-weekly concerts given by the Hallé Orchestra at the Free Trade Hall from about 1929, when John was twelve and that it was at his first Hallé concert that Burgess heard music of Richard Wagner, which he didn't warm to at first, though he retained a memory of the Rienzi overture (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 15). His father Joe Wilson played piano at orchestras and pubs and thus made Burgess close to music. In addition to the theme of music in his novels, Burgess deals with religion as well in his novels. He was born as a Roman Catholic and reflects his perspective on religion frequently in his novels, especially in *A Clockwork Orange*, that is going to be analysed according to the New Historicism in this chapter. Burgess did not follow the practices of his religion strictly. In fact, he was rebellious as a young boy and developed his own faith of Christianity and he did not approve the authorities either since free will was an important tenet for him.

The education life of an author deeply affects the works he/she creates. "The first school he attended was the Bishop Bilsborough Memorial School" (Aggeler, *The Artist as Novelist* 5). He was so successful in his studies that he could earn scholarships to study at "Xaverian College" that was a good Catholic school in Manchester (Stinson 5) and thus he made sure that he could study until he was sixteen at that school. When he took exams for studying at university, he was not successful to earn state scholarships so he returned home to help his father and stepmother in their business. "He wanted to study music at Manchester, but he lacked the science background required by the music department, which laid a heavy emphasis on physics, meaning acoustics" (Aggeler, *The Artist as Novelist* 6). He then entered the English Department to obtain a degree in English Literature at Manchester University. "Along with literary journalism, the most important activity of Burgess's student days was the courtship of his first wife, Llewela Isherwood Jones (Lynne). She was born in Tredegar, Wales, in 1920, and her family history combines literary, scientific and academic elements" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 69).

Burgess received his B.A., with honors, in English language and literature, in June 1940. He had taken his final examinations in a glass-roofed gymnasium on a day when Nazi bombers, on a daring daylight raid, had inflicted significant damage on Manchester. By October of the same year he found himself part of the Royal Army Medical Corps,

posted to a field ambulance unit in Northumberland. Having demonstrated his skill as a pianist, though, Burgess was soon sent to divisional headquarters to join the entertainments section, where his chief contribution was writing special arrangements of popular songs for a dance hand that traveled to various units of the division. (Stinson 7)

Lynne was interested in literature as much as Burgess, which made them exchange and share ideas with each other. "[They] were married at the Register Office in Bournemouth on 28 January 1942 while he was visiting her on leave" (Biswell, *The* Real Life of Anthony Burgess 88). In November 1943, he was sent to the British Garrison in Gibraltar, an overseas territory off the coast of Spain belonging to the Great Britain "and there he remained until 1946" (Aggeler, The Artist as Novelist 7). While he was in Gibraltar, he received some news that his wife Lynne, during a black-out in London, had been attacked by some American men, probably deserters, "who had robbed her in the street and kicked her as she lay screaming on the ground. One of these assailants tried to break her finger to remove her gold wedding ring. She had been pregnant, but she miscarried as a result of the beating she received" (Biswell, *The* Real Life of Anthony Burgess 107-108). She then involved herself in alcohol and lost her normal life style because of the subsequent disorders in her body. She took up drinking heavily and was even thinking of committing suicide. "She died of cirrhosis of the liver many years later, in March 1968, but Burgess always felt that this attack was an important cause of her death" (Stinson 9). It is this attack that caused his wife to die and Burgess, never forgetting the violence applied on his wife as a defenceless woman, was inspired to fictionalize this real story in his A Clockwork Orange by creating the character Mrs. F. Alexander who is raped and killed by Alex and his friends.

When the Second World War was over, Burgess turned to his civilian life as a pianist and a teacher and did different jobs as well. "He was reasonably happy as a civilian instructor at an army training college, taking pride in his teaching of speech class, and becoming professionally interested in dialectology" (Stinson 9). [In 1954] he was astonished to receive a summons to the Colonial Office to be interviewed for a position in the Far East. He was subsequently offered a post on the staff of a public school for Malays in Kuala Kangsar, Malaya, which he accepted with little hesitation

(Aggeler, *The Artist as Novelist* 9). This gave them the opportunity of seeing different territories and cultures and Burgess would make use of his experiences and observation there in writing his novels. "Neither Burgess nor Lynne had travelled outside of Europe before, and most of what they knew about Asia and the British colonial territories came out of other people's books" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 154).

Malaya has a great importance in Burgess's career since it was between the years 1954-1960 that he stayed in Malaya, which is Malaysia today, and that he conveyed his experiences as a teacher with the people of Malay, who wanted independence from the colonizing Great Britain. Burgess gave a lot of information about cultural differences in his trilogy in a comic tone. "Time for a Tiger, his first published novel, appeared in 1956. Thanks in part to the encouragement of reviewers and his publisher, it was followed in 1958 by The Enemy in the Blanket. Beds in the East, which appeared the following year, completed the Malayan Trilogy" (Aggeler, The Artist as Novelist 9). The novels tell about the experiences of a colonial officer Victor Crabbe so they can be regarded as autobiographical since they are based on Burgess's experiences in Malaya. Biswell claims that the trilogy also reflects the shortcomings of Burgess's and Lynne's marriage through different characters. "The multiple adulteries of Victor and Fenella Crabbe provide a precise reflection of the extra-marital affairs that Burgess and Lynne were pursuing in Malaya (Biswell, The Real Life of Anthony Burgess 190). The Malayans' struggle of independence may have strengthened his inspiration for free will, which is a very important element in A Clockwork Orange regarding either choosing evil or good in life. Burgess went to Borneo towards the end of 1950s to continue his teaching. "It was then...[that] he collapsed on a classroom floor while lecturing, was invalided to London, and was diagnosed (so Burgess has consistently claimed) as having a fatal brain tumour. Lynne told him that the neurologists were of the opinion that he had about a year to live" (Stinson 10). Lynne had been entrusted with a sealed envelope containing X- rays of her husband's head and a confidential letter addressed to the specialists at the Hospital for Tropical Diseases in London. This letter is now lost. According to Burgess's account of it in Little Wilson and Big God, Lynne secretly unsealed the envelope and

read it, disclosing its contents to him three months later (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 205).

It was during the year 1960-1961 that Burgess proved that a person could be very prolific if he knew his time was limited in life. Having a great fear and anxiety that his wife Lynne was going to have a financial crisis after his death, he wrote five novels in a year including his probably the most famous novel A Clockwork Orange. However, Heinemann, the publisher, thinking that writing five novels in a year would turn the critics against Burgess, asked him to use a pseudonym for two of the novels. "Thus, Inside Mr. Enderby and One Hand Clapping appeared under the name 'Joseph Kell.' The Worm and the Ring, The Doctor Is Sick, and The Wanting Seed appeared under the name Anthony Burgess" (Stinson 10). In writing his A Clockwork Orange, he was affected by "overhearing the expression 'as queer as a clockwork orange' in a London pub in 1945... and the contemporaneous rise of an aggressive youth culture in the late 1950s" as well (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 360). He made use of his real experiences while writing his novels and thus reading them do not only provide us with completely fictional narratives but also with the dynamic power relations in the society of his time. Burgess used all his experiences in his novels, from his university years and joining the army to this travels and visits abroad. The three novels Burgess wrote "A Vision of Battlements (published in 1965 but written shortly after the war), Napoleon Symphony (1974) and Any Old Iron (1989)" were the literary products as a result of his experiences (79).

Burgess uses the element of violence in many of his novels. In *The Clockwork Testament*, which is the third of his four *Enderby* novel series, "when Enderby rides on the subway, he feels threatened by 'noisy ethnic people', 'gangs of black and brown louts' who wear swastikas and other 'symbols of destruction' on their jackets. On closer inspection, the loud youths turn out to be having a discussion about literature, and when a nun is nearly raped on the train — an episode which knowingly echoes the assault on F. Alexander's wife in Kubrick's version of A Clockwork Orange — it is three well-dressed white university students who are responsible for the attack" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 352).

One of the other issues that draws our attention in A Clockwork Orange is Burgess's use of Nadsat, a fictional language he created from his experiences in Manchester and the other countries he travelled to. Biswell states that Burgess studied phonetics in a more formal way under the linguist G. L. Brook as part of his undergraduate degree in English (Biswell, The Real Life of Anthony Burgess 29). During his teaching career "he delivered lecture courses on phonetics, English drama, the modern novel and the techniques of journalism. He also taught philosophy, philology, German and music, including a piano-playing course for beginners" (115). Burgess uses languages and dialects masterfully in his novel A Clockwork Orange since he had such experiences in his real life. His interest in phonetics and dialects was already rooted in his childhood. "As a boy, Burgess had a wide vocabulary of dialect words which came more naturally to him than the Standard English forms: a 'cuddy' was a horse; a 'petty' was a lavatory; a back alley was an 'entry' " (Biswell, The Real Life of Anthony Burgess 30). Nadsat is the language that is used by the teenagers in the novel. It was during his stay in Leningrad when he saw "the gangs of violent, welldressed youths that reminded him of the Teddy Boys back home in England" that he decided to devise a new language for his novel based on Russian, to be called Nadsat (Russian suffix meaning 'teen') (Burgess, A Clockwork Orange xxi).

Burgess probably did not have a happy marriage in his life. 'Unfaithfulness' is a term that appears in his life when he tells about his marriage. Burgess has no hesitation in announcing that Lynne was unfaithful to him. He was under the effect of religion even in not getting a divorce. "Burgess was enough of a Catholic to believe that divorce was out of the question, and Lynne, who attached no theological sense of sin to adultery, knew that their marriage would hold regardless of how well or how badly she behaved" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 328). According to Burgess if a couple were married in the sight of God and the Church, what went on in divorce courts had no bearing on the matter. This attitude is characteristic of Burgess's Catholicism: although he called himself an unbeliever, he still felt constrained by the rules he claimed to have abandoned in his teens. His intellect had rejected a system of faith on rational grounds, but he was still very much connected to it emotionally (284). Lynne did not mind going to the pubs and clubs and the places she visited most

frequently were those in Bloomsbury and Soho. It was after the terrible attack in London that she began to drink heavily and go out with different men. "Lynne's precarious mental state had become a source of anxiety to her doctor in Etchingham. Towards the end of 1960, she had made two suicide attempts within the space of a few weeks, swallowing a potentially lethal dose of Nembutal sleeping tablets on both occasions. As with her earlier pill-swallowing episode in Malaya, Burgess discovered her and was able to make her vomit up the tablets before they could do any serious damage (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 233). "...that he is consciously bitter about living for more than twenty years with a step-mother who did not show him any love, and that he long harbored repressed rage over the casual infidelity of a wife he loved is facile to be sure, but probably contains some partial truth" (Stinson 8). It seems he carries the deep traces of his life in creating his characters since it is not very possible to come across couples as husband and wife who are happy from their marriage in his novels. In fact, marriage did not bring a lot of happiness to him and this was a turbulent period of his life.

That there is a relation between the literary product and the society of the time through the biography of the writer is considered a basic tenet in New Historicism. There are great similarities between the fictional events in his novel *A Clockwork Orange* and actual events in Burgess's life. Burgess could observe the youth in his environment during his travels abroad. The youth in the street meant violence and a threat for him. "Burgess's mission to find a sword-stick had certainly been accomplished by March 1966, when he visited the United States on a lecture tour. He withdrew his weapon from its cherrywood case and waved it at a gang of youths who threatened to rob him in New York. The would-be robbers fled" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 279). It seemed to him that gangs were anywhere in the world like a common phenomenon and he himself was exposed to robbery. "(While having a journey through France and Italy in 1968), they broke their journey in Avignon, where they were robbed of passports and other valuables, and in Rome, where they stayed with a friendly lawyer called Andrew de Gasperis" (335).

Burgess wanted to see different countries and cultures in the world because he believed that would make him gain new experiences which would prepare the ground for his future fictions. He visited Leningrad with his wife Lynne in 1961.

The wish to gather material for a Cold War fiction was clearly a strong incentive, especially since Heinemann had offered to advance Burgess's travel expenses, which they were willing to offset against future royalties. Beyond the financial appeal of a book commission, there was also the likelihood of being able to exploit his journey by writing articles and radio features about it. Having accepted Heinemann's offer, he was left with the immediate problem of finding enough money to pay for Lynne's passage to Leningrad, since she refused to be left behind in Etchingham. As it turned out, her presence as his unpredictable companion was to provide a focus for his Russian travel narratives, both fictional and journalistic. (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 236)

Burgess was also interested in Russian novelists and visiting Leningrad would be a good opportunity for him to see the original places of the narratives of Russian novels. "Burgess had been impressed by Alexander Pushkin's verse-novel Eugene Onegin, parts of which he had memorized in the original Russian, and he read Fyodor Dostoyevsky's Crime and Punishment in English translation shortly before he sailed (Biswell, The Real Life of Anthony Burgess 237). "Before the trip, he spent about six weeks reviving his Russian; acquired during the war, and this enabled him to gain a great deal from the experience" (Aggeler, The Artist as Novelist 13). Politically naive at the best of times, he knew nothing of the USSR beyond what he had read in the newspapers. He wrote that 'One expects to find a totalitarian state full of soft-booted, white-helmeted military police, conspicuously armed, [...] a certain coldness, a thinness of blood, all emotion channelled into love of Big Brother' (qtd. in Biswell, The Real Life of Anthony Burgess 235). However, Burgess saw a different Russia during his stay in Leningrad. The image of Russia that he created in his mind before his visit was not the same as the image he formed by seeing the life there in person. It was during this travel that he wrote *Honey for the Bears* and *A Clockwork Orange*.

Burgess knew that having a knowledge of Russian language would be advantageous in understanding the life and culture of the Russians. In order to do that he obtained books and dictionaries for learning that language at basic level. "...[I]t

occurred to him that it might be possible to write a novel narrated in an invented slang which would be a hybrid of English and Russian, with elements of Romany, Lancashire dialect and Cockney rhyming slang" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 237). By modifying the Russian language, he aimed at getting the reader to learn some basic Russian words.

The letters are regarded as an important source in New Historicism since this theory makes use of not only literary but also nonliterary sources in order to have a better understanding of the period. The letters are unique in providing us with the intentions of the writer. Of course, while corresponding with other people, Burgess mentioned *A Clockwork Orange* and the creation of Nadsat in some of his letters. In a letter "written in April 1961, Burgess writes: I'm in the early stages of a novel about juvenile delinquents in the future (I'm fabricating with difficulty a teenage dialect compounded equally of American and Russian roots)" (qtd. in Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 256). However, while his Nadsat language was originally planned as a fusion of Russian and American (rather than British) English, the American element seems to have been dropped at some point before he completed the 1961 typescript, which shows little evidence of Americanisms (*The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 257).

As Burgess and Lynne leave a restaurant at 3 am in Leningrad, they come across young Russian Teddy boys, called *stilyagi*. They were armed with coshes and broken bottles. It was the internationalism of well-dressed, violent youth that drew the attention of Burgess. "The enactment outside the Metropol of ritualistic, dandified violence provided a solid rationale for Alex and his three droops (drugi being the Russian word for 'friends'), about whom Burgess had already begun to write in *A Clockwork Orange*" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 241). What seemed to Burgess was that when the novel was written, it was possible to see violent youth not only in Manchester or any other cities of England but also in different parts of the world as a universal truth. The youth tended to commit crimes and people were indeed frightened of them. Meeting Russian people in Russia during the cold war period made Burgess change his mind about the Russians. In a letter he wrote to Geoffrey Aggeler

on October 10, 1969, he states that "the Russian soul is right; it's the state that's wrong" (qtd. in Aggeler, *The Artist as Novelist* 14).

Violence is a striking element that exists *in A Clockwork Orange*. In a 1985 television interview with Isaac Bashevis Singer, Burgess said: "In my version, the English version, [Alex] grows up, he understands that violence is an aspect of youth. He has energy. He'll be able to use it to create. He will become a great musician [...] I wanted to show that violence is in our nature. We can't ignore it. We can't pretend it doesn't exist" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 262).

The violence that is dealt with in Burgess' novel is a reflection of contemporary events that arose as social problems in England. The society itself was passing through difficult times because of many social and political issues:

Unemployment was climbing towards one million, which was the highest level it had reached since 1945. A six-week miners' strike had begun on 9 January, and the blockade of power stations by striking mineworkers had resulted in a series of power cuts. Factories, deprived of electricity, sent workers home. Heath⁵ declared a temporary state of emergency, which did little to resolve the immediate crisis. Meanwhile, the sectarian and military violence in Northern Ireland was escalating: 173 soldiers and civilians had died as a result of political terrorism in 1971, and the Paratroop Regiment shot and killed thirteen Catholic demonstrators during a civil rights march on Sunday 30 January 1972 (the killings which have come to be known as 'Bloody Sunday'). (qtd. in Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 359)

It was in 1962 that *The Wanting Seed*, the other dystopian novel by Burgess, was published along with *A Clockwork Orange* in the same year. The novels received immediate success and a movie was made based on the novel *A Clockwork Orange*. The story of *The Wanting Seed* takes place in a futuristic world where overpopulation is seen as a great danger and fertility and heterosexuality have been forbidden. Instead, homosexuality is recommended in order to prevent the population growth and thus starvation. In England, after a short time, a new law gave the homosexuals some rights, which may resemble the issue put forward in *The Wanting Seed*. In fact "to

⁵ Conservative prime minister of Great Britain from 1970 to 1974. britannica.com

homosexuals the Sexual Offences Act (1967) by no means brought full liberation" in England (Harrison, *Finding a Role?* 215). Burgess had immensely involved in reading dystopian novels such as Huxley's *Brave New World* published in 1932 and Orwell's 1984 published in 1949 and it is not very interesting that his novels bear some similarities with these novels.

In his biographies and in the interviews he made, it is clear that Burgess is against giving the control of individuals in the society to any institutions that may have the right of shaping the persons even for choosing the good. The novel *A Clockwork Orange* is a very good example reflecting his philosophy and "indeed, Burgess has put himself on record in writing, 'My political views are mainly negative: I lean toward anarchy; I hate the State' " (qtd. in Stinson 21).

What Burgess emphasizes is that what is good for the state may not be morally good within a spiritual framework. In addition, "good and evil, spirit and flesh, have so interpenetrated one another in the modern world that it is no longer possible to separate them" (Coale 7). Good and evil cannot exist alone and they both give each other the reason of existence. In the eyes of Burgess, the choice of any of them should not be prevented since that would mean creating a spiritless human being.

Burgess, like many authors, feels that increasingly in our century, soul-sustaining avenues of choice are being closed, by Big Government (and the social engineers in its employ), by big business, and by big labor unions. Man is reduced to a cog in a machine, a mechanism, or "a clockwork orange." Eliminate man's ability to choose evil, and you destroy his moral self, the very essence of his humanity. (Stinson 24)

In *A Clockwork Orange*, we come across good and evil as two opposing forces but one cannot exist without the other. Alex uses his freedom of choice by preferring evil over good and this becomes the main theme of the novel. Burgess says it is better to choose evil rather than to be denied the right of choice (DeVitis 111). Burgess's pervasive tendency to view all human experience dualistically quite possibly stems from an acute early awareness of being a Catholic in Protestant England (Stinson 3-4).

Burgess seems to be believing both in the concept of original sin and the duality of good and evil, which may suggest a contradictory situation. In an interview with John Cullinan, answering a question about why he thinks the novelist is predisposed to regard the world in terms of "essential opposition" as unlike the Manicheans he seems to maintain a traditional Christian belief in original sin, Burgess replies: "Novels are about conflicts. The novelist's world is one of essential oppositions of character, aspiration and so on. I'm only a Manichee in the widest sense of believing that duality is the ultimate reality; the original sin bit is not really a contradiction" (Aggeler, *Critical Essays on Anthony Burgess* 44).

This part of the dissertation will focus on conditions of 1950s and 1960s through literary and non-literary texts in order to display the relation between literature and history for the New Historicist reading of *A Clockwork Orange*. "New Historicists study literary texts not as autonomous objects but as material products emerging out of specific social, cultural, and political contexts" (Cain et al 27). While many theories disregard history in formation of the literary text, New Historicism gives equal weight to both history and the literary text abolishing the hierarchy between both of them. As the text is produced within a society, it can also affect the society as an element in changing its culture. Similarly, *A Clockwork Orange* was not only affected by the conditions and prevailing ideology of its time, it also, in a mutual relation, affected the society.

Conditions that existed in 1880s in creation of *The Fixed Period* were far more different than the post-war period of England. The major changes that took part in the second half of the twentieth century with scientific developments and cultural changes led power and control mechanisms to operate differently. Written in 1962, *A Clockwork Orange* depicts a society with repressive atmosphere and violence that was shaped during the post-war period. It is not a coincidence that the number of dystopian novels increased in 1950s and 1960s since totalitarian regimes began to take hold of the power. Novels such as *1984* reflect the anxieties over totalitarian governments and free-will of the individuals.

1950s and 1960s is renowned for the youth culture of worldwide that influenced not only Britain but also all of the world. "It was the era of sex, drugs and pop revolution, but also of anti-war protest and inner-city riots" (Savage). The novel that is going to be analysed in this part clearly shows the rising violence of the youth and their clash with a totalitarian government that tries to control and shape the free-will of the individuals under the pretext of creating a peaceful society. *A Clockwork Orange* is a novel about ultra-violent crimes committed by Alex and his droogs⁶. As a dystopian novel, it portrays a pessimistic and brutal world, which would be a criticism of the British culture. The violence of 1950s and 1960s has traces in the novel. Alex mentions reading the gazetta⁷ which "was the usual about ultra-violence and bank robberies and strikes and footballers making everybody paralytic with fright by threatening to not play next Saturday if they did not get higher wages" (*CO*⁸ 46).

The novel is about a group of young people who, like many other gangs, has become outcast as a result of the system and uses violence on weak, powerless people. What is remarkable here is the criticism of the dominant ideology of the time. As the title of the novel suggests, the purpose of the authority is to eliminate the vices by the youth through transforming them into machine-like beings and normalize them to adapt to the society. As the government tries to create a perfect utopian society by eliminating extreme violence, it makes use of scientific developments to change the behaviours of the subjects in order to create well-mannered and docile bodies. Head explains that F. Alexander's book titled *A Clockwork Orange*, the same as the title of the novel by Burgess, seems to be a plea for the organic development of humanity, and a rejection of the dehumanization of the machine world (Head 25).

How the dominant ideology was created in 1950s and 1960s will be one of the main purposes of this chapter since history and literature are inseparable from each other, which is a requisite that the New Historicism is based on. Major changes took

⁶ friends - English equivalents for the Nadsat Glossary added to Burgess, Anthony. *A Clockwork Orange*. London: Penguin Classics, 2013.

Burgess, Anthony. A Clockwork Orange. London: Penguin Classics, 2013.
All the future references will be to the abbreviated title CO and the numbers of page.

⁷ newspaper

place in the second half of the twentieth century especially after World War II and as a result dominant ideology, along with power and social mechanisms, changed. This change was so huge that the cultural life was different to a great extent from the life in Victorian Period. *A Clockwork Orange*, in this regard, reflects its period effectively, though satirically since it is dystopian.

The beginning of the second half of the twentieth century was shaped with televisions, fashion, pop culture, drugs, and many frenzies especially for the youth. "The 1960s remain in the folk memory as a golden age of pop culture" (Savage). The society was transformed into a consumer society manipulated by the dominant ideology. Horkheimer and Adorno state that: "All mass culture under monopoly is identical, and the contours of its skeleton, the conceptual armature fabricated by monopoly, are beginning to stand out" (Horkheimer and Adorno 95). Individual, thus became the object of the ideology rather than individuals with free-will.

Burgess was influenced by the dystopian novels written before 1962, the year when the UK edition of *A Clockwork Orange* was published. He had already read many dystopian novels before writing his novels. "Burgess had read George Orwell's *Nineteen Eighty-Four* shortly after publication" (*CO* xvii-xviii). He had learned about the use of conditioning and behavioural changes by using technology from B. F. Skinner and Pavlov. In a summary of Skinner's theories he found, it reads:

And even today we find a distinguished psychologist, Professor B. F. Skinner of Harvard University, insisting that, 'as scientific explanation becomes more and more comprehensive, the contribution which may be claimed by the individual himself appears to approach zero. Man's vaunted creative powers, his achievements in art, science and morals, his capacity to choose and our right to hold him responsible for the consequences of his choice - none of these is conspicuous in the new scientific self-portrait.' (*CO* xix)

Burgess believed in the importance of free will and developed counterargument against Skinner who dismisses genetics, culture, environment and individual freedom of choice as insignificant factors when it comes to determining human personality in his *Science and Human Behaviour* published in 1951 (*CO* xix-xx). Regarding the chapters, the UK edition consists of twenty-one chapters while the American edition, published by Norton only a year later, skips the last chapter since the editor thought a happy ending would not be right for such a story (Mcdowell). Burgess remarks that his book is divided into three sections of seven chapters each and 21 is the symbol of human maturity and an age of voting and adult responsibility (*CO*, Norton x).

Affected by the social, economic, and cultural changes, novels written in the mentioned decades dealt with the identity problems of the youth. "Frightened by the prospect of another war and/or of the possibility of living under dictatorship... a number of novelists, such as George Orwell, Anthony Burgess, William Golding, chose to write stories which the critics labeled as 'anti-Utopias' or as 'scientific romances' " (Ciugureanu 87). Changes in cultural values and social order were dealt with in the novels written during the post-war period. Emergence of youth culture and their representatives formed in different groups are worth mentioning since this is closely related to *A Clockwork Orange*. Burgess himself was affected by the rivalry between the youth groups, coffee bars, music, and violence applied by the young on innocent people. Ahmed & Rahman mention these leading groups and their affiliation with the novel:

A Clockwork Orange presents the Mod subculture originated in London in the late 1950s and peaked in the early to mid 1960s. The term Mod derives from modernist. The mod lifestyle is sometimes referred to as 'modism'. Elements of the mod lifestyle include music, clothes and dancing. The 'Teds' (Teddy Boys) also known as the 'Mods' who emerged as a subculture group in London in the 1960s having a dandy-like style consisting of strange dress which was a fashion of the day, such as, an Edwardian style suit, suede shoes, three-button suits, Fred Perry and Ben Sherman shirts, Sta-Prest trousers and Levi's jeans, cropped hair, short- hemmed trousers and very narrow brimmed Trilby hats commonly referred to in Britain as pork pie hats. (Ahmed and Rahman 64-65)

They further mention that pop music for the young was a powerful way to express themselves and the band like Beatles contributed to the formation of youth culture (69). Young people like Alex, although he likes classical music, were fond of music since they thought this helped them to form an identity they desired.

Harrison expresses that before 1960s consultation [at schools] with parents and pupils was extending, discipline was becoming less harsh, uniforms were in retreat, by 1967 the phrase 'generation gap' was being used in the USA, and in the same decade it came into regular use in the UK, young people from the mid-1950s were being drawn together as never before by shared grievances (against adults, with their institutions, rules, and regulations) and by shared tastes, the sixties did, however, greatly diversify fabrics, styles, and colours: leather jackets with the rockers; flowered shirts and faded second-hand uniforms with the Rolling Stones, and the considerable cultural achievement of the sixties owed much to art school. He continues by saying that [the sixties] came to be identified with a new style of anti-system, direct-action, politics, and in a climate so challenging to authority and tradition, sociology flourished (Seeking a Role the United Kingdom 474-497). Alex says that they were dressed in the heighth of fashion, which in those days was these very wide trousers and a very loose black shiny leather like jerkin over an open-necked shirt with a like scarf tucked in. At this time too it was the heighth of fashion to use the old britva⁹ on the gulliver¹⁰, so that most of the gulliver was like bald and there was hair only on the sides (CO 193). This is a clear example of how novels reflect their times, which is a corner stone of the mutual relation between history and the literary text in New Historicism.

Burgess, inspired from the bars and pubs of his time, depicts Korova Milkbar in Chapter 1 as a place often visited by Alex and his droogs to have their milk plus drug before committing violence (*CO* 7). The Municipal Flatblocks in the novel give the impression that a socialist government is in power. So does the books of a man who cries out that they belong to the municipality as they are ripped up by Alex and his friends (12). When he arrives in his building, he finds the lift broken and walk the ten floors up (37).

He is a typical British youth of his time who is not obedient and respectful to his parents. Alex, who is fifteen, plays hooky and is frequently being checked for his uncontrolled behaviours since he was eleven by a corrective officer, who is called P.

⁹ razor

¹⁰ head

R. Deltoid. His parents avoid asking questions about what he did, where he was since this will probably cause trouble and arguments with their son. Alex's father's speech reveals the insecure atmosphere of its time: "We daren't go out much, the streets being what they are. Young hooligans and so on" (CO 55). In an interview in Italy in 1974, Burgess says that he was so appalled at the prospect of the state taking over more of the area of free choice in the late 1950s that he felt he had to write the book before them and that within ten years of time the climate changed so fundamentally that makes it hard for them to believe what life was really like in the 1960s (Burgess, Interview in Italy 1974).

Regarding of the teens of the 1960s and rising crime, Garland expresses that this generation of teenagers enjoyed greater affluence and mobility than earlier generations, as well as longer periods outside the disciplines of family life and full-time work. Teenagers were able to spend more time outside the home, had greater access to leisure activities, and were subject to less adult supervision, and more liable to spend time in subcultural settings such as clubs, cafes, discos, and street corners (Garland 91).

Unlike the housewife characters in *The Fixed Period*, we see working women in *A Clockwork Orange* that was written approximately eighty years later. Alex says that his mum worked at one of the Statemarts...filling up the shelves with tinned soup and beans (*CO*, 42). Christopher states that since the 1950s Britain has experienced a period of accelerated social and cultural change. This has coincided with the disintegration of the British Empire, an expansion of the Commonwealth and the immigration of people of numerous nationalities, languages and cultures. The entry of women into the labour market and their increasing independence has brought about fundamental changes in their position in society and their relations with men (Christopher 1). He further explains that worries about women's independence intensified following the publication in Britain of an American study called *Sexual Behaviour in the Human Female*, better known as the second Kinsey Report (1953). It revealed that women could enjoy sex as much as men, and that discontent and adultery in marriage were common (Christopher 3). Alex gets to Taylor Place, a music shop, and there he meets two young girls who are not more than ten. After flirting with them,

he takes them home to have sex (CO 49). British society was about to be transformed. Its ethic of individualism and pleasure-seeking contrasted sharply with the collectivism which marked the beginning of the decade (Christopher 6). Society became younger due to the post-war 'baby boom' and by 1959 there were over four million single people aged between 13 and 25. 'Teddy Boys', urban working-class gangs, were considered threatening and news about incidents by 'Teds' presented a shocking image which frightened people and sold many newspapers (Christopher 4). The changes covered almost all areas of life including religion, which in fact had already shaken the established religious belief in Victorian Period with Darwin's The Origin of Species. The churches in England began to lose more power during 1950s and 1960s as a result of the above mentioned changes.

While doing the New Historicist analysis of the text, the new historicists try to find examples of power and how it is dispersed throughout the text. The history of the studied period is thus reinterpreted. Power and how it is subverted and contained in the novel are studied for this end. Throughout the first part of the novel, which consists of seven chapters, we witness the crimes of Alex and his droogs, who are socially disapproved. We have Alex as the first-person narrator. Although, first-person narrators are known to be telling their stories subjectively, we penetrate into his world to know about his ideas and philosophy. This situation reminds us of one of the basic tenets of New Historicism that asserts that histories are written down subjectively, but not objectively. All three novels that are studied in this dissertation have first-person narrators who tell about their stories.

As in almost all novels, the title *A Clockwork Orange* reflects its content. It is related to be unnatural in that orange is a natural product and cannot be described with the word *Clockwork*, which figuratively refers to a human being that does not behave with his free will:

...by definition, a human being is endowed with free will. He can use this to choose between good and evil. If he can only perform good or only perform evil, then he is a clockwork orange—meaning that he has the appearance of an organism lovely with colour and juice, but is in fact only a clockwork toy wound up by God or the Devil or (since this

is increasingly replacing both) the Almighty State. (Burgess, Norton xiii)

Burgess, who is interested in languages and dialects, says that he thought the title would be appropriate for a story about the application of Pavlovian, or mechanical, laws to an organism which, like a fruit, was capable of colour and sweetness and that he had also served in Malaya, where the word for a human being is *orang* (Burgess, 1985 79-80). Thus, he purposefully and successfully uses polysemy to enrich the meaning in this title.

Alex, the protagonist of the novel, will be caught by police officers after killing a woman who has a lot of cats and will be rehabilitated through scientific methods of the time. The purpose of the techniques used on him will be to deprive him of his ability to choose good or evil on his own. The government will try to create a utopian society by removing the motives of violence in the youth. Ignoring individual freedom of making choices and using Ludovico's Technique on Alex in addition to confinement, the authorities in the novel turn into a totalitarian regime and create a dystopian world with excessive control over subjects. What's remarkable in the novel is that although it is Alex who uses power and violates the rights of ordinary and unguarded people, later he becomes a victim of F. Alexander, the government, and even his friends who become officers and torture him. From the viewpoint of New Historicism, power is everywhere, it is omnipresent, and cannot be possessed by any:

The state has a considerable interest in dehumanizing. It tends to arrogate itself all matters of moral choice, and it does not care much to see the individual making up his own mind... The State is the instrument whereby the ruler manifests power over the ruled. In so far as this instrument must meet as little opposition as possible in performing its function, it may be said that evil as manifested in the State can never be wholly disinterested. (Burgess, 1985 48)

Burgess further states that the laws of the State are always changing and, with them, the values of right and wrong (Burgess, 1985 46). Thus, controlling subjects in a society will always continue though with different power and social control mechanisms. New Historicism itself is not optimistic in overthrowing power.

It may be interesting that Alex, who is responsible for the killing of two women and injuring some people, is interested in listening to classical music, especially Mozart. Burgess expresses his surprise by giving the example of a commandant at the Nazi death camp, who, having supervised the killing of a thousand Jews went home to hear his daughter play a Schubert sonata and cried with holy joy. Burgess concludes that the good of music has nothing to do with ethics. Art does not elevate us into beneficence. It is morally neutral, like the taste of an apple (Burgess, 1985 46). "New Historicism...begins its quest to be political by denying that any social world is stable and that artworks are separated from the power struggles constituting social reality (Cain et al 2250).

In the novel, Alex is exposed to an operation that is called Ludovico's Technique, which aims at depriving the subject of his free-will for not committing crimes or being involved in violence. Under the control of the state, Alex, with the guiding of the doctors, is forced to watch some movies and documentaries about Japanese and Nazi atrocities that contain a lot of violence. The doctors convince that he will be cured since whenever he wants to commit a crime, he will feel sick and give up doing further. Alex, as a confined prisoner cannot give harm to the people outside. Drugged and strapped down to a chair with eyelids open, under the treatment of Ludovico's Technique, he will be programmed like a robot and abstain from actions that the society does not tolerate. He will be conditioned to link violence and pain with sickness he feels. The behaviours of the subject are thus contained in power relation according to the New Historicism. "A real subjection is born mechanically from a fictitious relation. So, it is not necessary to use force to constrain the convict to good behaviour, the madman to calm, the worker to work, the schoolboy to application, the patient to the observation of the regulations" (Foucault, *Discipline and Punish* 202).

Ludovico's Technique can be considered panopticon since they have the same control mechanisms. Alex will not indulge in crimes such as theft, assault, murder, and rape. His own body will keep him away from committing violent acts. In other words, an automatic power inside him will prevent his self from making decisions and doing actions even if this tends to be demonic. According to Foucault panopticon is an important mechanism, for it automatizes and disindividualizes power (*Discipline and*

Punish 202). Programming of Alex through conditioning, whether justified or not, is a power in itself. "New Historicism tends to see power structures as a panoptical gaze of Big Brother" (Lai 18).

Alex is made to sign a paper, the content of which he does not know (CO 192). The authorities try to keep him under their control by getting him to sign the paper. However, this is done in a tricky way because the minister provides Alex with a stereo that is put down next to his bed and Alex is asked which classical music he wishes to listen. Alex is allowed to hear Beethoven's Ninth Symphony. His freedom is limited since he will still be exposed to the repressive power mechanism of the government. This incident reminds us of Thomas Harriot's report about the native Americans in the Colony of Virginia in 1586, which is described by Greenblatt in his *Invisible Bullets*. Foucault discusses how the society is carceral:

The frontiers between confinement, judicial punishment and institutions of discipline, which were already blurred in the classical age, tended to disappear and to constitute a great carceral continuum that diffused penitentiary techniques into the most innocent disciplines, transmitting disciplinary norms into the very heart of the penal system and placing over the slightest illegality, the smallest irregularity, deviation or anomaly, the threat of delinquency. (*Discipline and Punish* 297)

By calling the society carceral, Foucault implies that the system controls and manipulates the individuals. "...this great carceral network reaches all the disciplinary mechanisms that function throughout society (*Discipline and Punish* 298). In relation to this, the institutions (schools, factories, the army, etc.) mold behavior according to a norm, subordinates individuals to institutional demands, examines and watches over all subjects, and punishes deviants (Cain et al 1618). They administer individuals using the same strategies and techniques of control that prisons employ. This resembles Michel Foucault's interpretation of Jeremy Bentham's architectural figure, the Panopticon. "A panoptic (all-seeing) power keeps subjects under constant surveillance" (1618). Foucault describes the modern penal system through panopticon with which discipline and punishment work.

The body of the king, with its strange material and physical presence, with the force that he himself deploys or transmits to some few others, is at the opposite extreme of this new physics of power represented by panopticism; the domain of panopticism is, on the contrary, that whole lower region, that region of irregular bodies, with their details, their multiple movements, their heterogeneous forces, their spatial relations; what are required are mechanisms that analyse distributions, gaps, series, combinations, and which use instruments that render visible, record, differentiate and compare: a physics of a relational and multiple power, which has its maximum intensity not in the person of the king, but in the bodies that can be individualized by these relations. (*Discipline and Punish* 208)

Garland claims that the crime control changes of the last twenty years were driven not just by criminological considerations but also by historical forces that transformed social and economic life in the second half of the twentieth century and the social deference and taken-far-granted moral authority that underpinned the idea of doing rehabilitative work with juveniles, in prisons and on probation ceased to be so readily available. As the ethics of work and duty lost their appeal and the idea of a moral consensus was progressively undermined, the idea that state employees could 'correct' deviants came to seem authoritarian and inappropriate rather than self-evidently humane (Garland 75, 92).

Burgess makes use of the theories of the American psychologist and behaviourist B. F. Skinner, who made a lot of studies on *conditioning*. In *A Clockwork Orange*, modification of behaviour, in order to serve the purposes of the state, is seen as a solution to prevent the violence in the society. "[Burgess] is careful to distinguish his libertarian approach to the issue of free will from the behaviourist psychological theories of B. F. Skinner, the author of *Beyond Freedom and Dignity*" (Biswell, *The Real Life of Anthony Burgess* 360). Skinner saw that life conditions were beginning to change for the worse because of problems such as population increase, nuclear threat, and famine. Among the problems he mentions is the disaffection and revolt of the young as well. At the beginning of his book titled *Beyond Freedom and Dignity*, he mentions some possible solutions for these but these will not be enough to make the world a better place. He suggests: "we need to make vast changes in human behaviour, and we cannot make them with the help of nothing more than physics or biology, no matter how hard we try" (Skinner 10). What he suggests is a technology of behavior

to realize the conditioning of human beings ignoring their free will. This, he thought, would pave the way to a better society. Affected by the conditions and problems of his period, Skinner wrote a utopian novel that was published in 1948. In the preface to his utopian novel *Walden Two*, Skinner focuses on "behavioral engineering" to solve the daily life problems of people (Skinner, *Walden Two* vi). Depriving human beings from their free will was of course what Burgess was against.

In the novel A Clockwork Orange, Dr Brodsky and the interior minister have started a new rehabilitation program by conditioning human beings with the tendency of committing crimes to behave better. And this new application has been based on the model of Pavlov's experiments with dogs. The conditioning, according to Burgess, limits the persons' freedom of choice. "...youth was continuing to express disdain for the modern state, a British politician put forward very seriously a proposal obstreperous British youth should be conditioned to be good. At this point Burgess says, "I began to see red and felt that I had to write the book" (Aggeler, The Artist as Novelist 173). The purpose of applying Ludovico's Technique on Alex is to make him a docile person so that he may not injure any other people as soon as he is released from prison and turns back into society. The methods that are used for this technique were inspired from B. F. Skinner's and Ivan Pavlov's social conditioning. For manipulation of human behaviour, Skinner states that the principal technique of psychotherapy is designed to reverse behavioral changes which have come about as the result of punishment and that very frequently this punishment has been administered by religious or governmental agencies:

There is, therefore, a certain opposition between psychotherapy and religious and governmental control. The opposition is also seen when the psychotherapist advocates changes in established controlling techniques. For example, he may recommend a modification of police action against young offenders or certain types of psychopathic personalities. (Skinner, *Science and Human Behavior* 371)

Skinner implies changing power relation by giving the example of opposition. The recommendation from the psychotherapist to modify the police action against criminals will be based on the knowledge of the psychotherapist. New Historicism equals knowledge with power.

Alex uses his free will when committing violence. However, with the Ludovico's Technique his free will is removed and he loses his individualism. Instead, he behaves like a programmed robot. The idea of morality, which Burgess emphasizes, is thus dismissed by the government. The application of the Ludovico's Technique itself is a torturing one: "Each morning he is injected with a strong emetic and wheeled into a screening room, where his head is clamped in a brace and his eyes pinned wide open; and then the lights go down" (*CO* xi). He is turned into a guinea pig for the state. Injected with sickening drugs and compelled to watch horrible scenes in films, he is conditioned to relate violence with sickness:

And then I was forced to viddy¹¹ a most nasty film about Japanese torture. It was the 1939-45 War, and there were soldiers being fixed to trees with nails and having fires lit under them and having their yarbles¹² cut off, and you even viddied a gulliver being sliced off a soldier with a sword, and then with his head rolling about and the rot¹³ and glazzies¹⁴ looking alive still, the plott¹⁵ of this soldier actually ran about, krovvy¹⁶ like a fountain out of the neck, and then it dropped, and all the time there was very very loud laughter from the Japanese. The pains I felt now in my belly and the headache and the thirst were terrible, and they all seemed to be coming out of the screen. So I creeched¹⁷: "Stop the film! Please, please stop it! I can't stand any more." (*CO* 116)

What is Burgess is against here is that when free will is taken from an individual, his feelings and emotions are removed. However, all human beings deserve to live the life to the fullest by choosing evil or good with their free will. As he is forced to watch various violence movies, he begins to develop a different interest for Mozart since he feels sick when associating music with violence (*CO* 152).

¹² testicles

¹¹ see

¹³ mouth

¹⁴ eyes

¹⁵ body

¹⁶ blood

¹⁷ screamed

Alex, once a powerful figure, now is powerless and under the surveillance and control of the government. Pope, in his *The English Studies Book: an Introduction to Language, Literature and Culture,* explains the difference between subject and agent as the passive and active dimensions of the same process. "...each of us is potentially a subject/agent...We are subjects in so far as we are 'thrown under' things – politically oppressed or psychologically repressed. But at the same time we are also agents, capable of 'doing things' and 'making things happen' " (Pope 242-243). Alex, in this case is both an agent and a subject depending on the context. He is an agent as he leads his gang, and he is a subject under the total control of the government. Similarly, parents will not be agents as long as they are not authority figures for their children, but gangs using power in streets will be. In raping F. Alexander's wife with his droogs, Alex is donated with power and violence is a means for him and his friends to have an identity in the society. New Historicism deals especially with marginalized people such as Alex.

Regarding gender issues in *A Clockwork Orange*, it can be said that it reduces women only to bodies. We do not get a lot of information about them, about their likes or dislikes. We get brief information about Alex's mother as well, who is depicted as a working woman. They are, rather than being men's equals, seen as a commodity for sex. We rather have a masculine world which is affected by the real social, economic, and political conditions of 1950s and 1960s. At the beginning of the novel, Alex and his friends see three girls, whom they call "devotchkas" in Korova Milkbar and think about having sex with them (*CO* 8). Later, they go to Duke of New York, a pub they visit often, and see "baboochkas" (14) and offer them drinks and other things to show them their power of purchase.

F. Alexander sees Alex, who was beaten by his old friends who are now police officers, as a victim of modern age and thinks about using him as a propaganda device.

F. Alexander and his liberal friends are against the Ludovico's Technique started by

¹⁸ old women

the government. However, they will not hesitate to sacrifice Alex for their great cause since they see him as "a martyr to the cause of Liberty" (*CO* 177).

Alex finds the news that mentions about himself in the paper. Just under his photograph is a caption that says "the first graduate of the new State Institute for Reclamation of Criminal Types, cured of his criminal instincts in a fortnight only, now a good law-fearing citizen" and he sees the photograph of the Minister of the Interior, who boastfully looks forward to "a nice crime-free era" (*CO* 145). The government is content with usurping the individual rights of Alex.

New Historicism asserts that subversion is always contained by the dominant power or ideology. As an opponent of the government, F. Alexander is against the practices of the dominant power by claiming that men should not be turned into machines. At the end of the novel Alex dreams of having a son who might be violent as well. He thinks that his son, even his son's son, will one way or the other be involved in committing crimes, which he considers a natural phase of being mature arising out of making a choice either for the good or the bad. Looking from the perspective of New Historicism, this will continue in subversion and containment relation.

After his so-called successful treatment, Alex is released but now he becomes a victim of the violence of those he had victimized once and who are powerful now. He is beaten by Billyboy and Dim, who are police officers now, after a little drive into the country (161). However, contrary to the civil terror, this is state terror. Applying violence is justified under the umbrella of authority. Ironically, 'streets must be kept clean'. For Greenblatt, literary works are "fields of force, places of dissension and shifting interests, occasions for the jostling of orthodox and subversive impulses" (Cain et al 2250). Both Billyboy and Dim are agents, not subjects anymore and Alex, within the shift of power relation, becomes a subject. and returns home just to find Joe, a new lodger of his parents. Alex cannot do anything against Joe, who treats him in a humiliating way. Although he feels angry at Joe's manners, he can do nothing because of the effect of the aversion therapy that will make him sick. He feels alienated. This is not only the alienation of a victim but of the modern man as well. He is free but feels powerless:

Alienation as we find it in modern society is almost total; it pervades the relation of man to his work, to the things he consumes, to the state, to his fellow man, and to himself. Man has created a world of manmade things as it never existed before. He has constructed a complicated social machine to administer the technical machine he built. Yet this whole creation of his stands over and above him. He does not feel himself as a creator and center, but as the servant of a Golem, which his hands have built. The more powerful and gigantic the forces are which he unleashes, the more powerless he feels himself as a human being. He confronts himself with his own forces embodied in things he has created, alienated from himself. He is owned by his own creation, and has lost ownership of himself. (Fromm and Ingleby 121)

Alex's gaining his freedom does not stem from humanistic motives but from power. Alex, who is *normalized* now, will give more power to the government that expects to gain a victory from elections. The government moves with the motive of holding its power.

Power functions differently through social control mechanisms due to changing social, economic, scientific, cultural, and political phenomena. Garland comments that in our contemporary society the grip of tradition, community, church and family upon the individual grew more relaxed and less compelling in a culture that stressed individual rights and freedoms and which dismantled the legal, economic, and moral barriers that had previously kept men, women, and young people 'in their place'. The result was a shift in the balance of power between the individual and group, a relaxation of traditional social controls, and a new emphasis upon the freedom and importance of the individual and the new social and cultural arrangements made latemodern society a more crime-prone society (Garland 89, 91).

Foucault argues that premodern power intervened in subjects' lives only intermittently. Unless they broke the law, most premodern persons lived in deep obscurity, unnoticed by various authorities. But modern societies intervene from day one to shape, train, and normalize individuals. Compulsory schooling, public health measures, passports, employment records, family counseling, and the like are all very recent social practices-none more than 250 years old. In each case, an institution molds behavior according to a norm, subordinates individuals to institutional demands, examines and watches over all subjects, and punishes deviants. Such a society, Foucault argues, not only needs prisons because it inevitably produces deviants but also is

itself prisonlike, "carceral," from top to bottom. The institutions that administer individuals (schools, factories, the army) use the same strategies and techniques of control that prisons employ. (Cain et al 1618)

He focuses on the effect of modern power on individuals by stating that modern power categorizes individuals by analysing, differentiating, identifying, and administering individuals. Furthermore, human sciences, formed under modern power, legitimate the actions that follow the sorting process: "The psychological exam, for example, tells us what needs to be done: is this murderer a criminal who must be sent to prison, or an insane person who must be sent to a hospital?" (Cain et al 1620). Dr. Branom, as a medical representative of the state, tells Alex that they have to be hard on him since he has to be 'cured' and he is being made 'sane' and 'healthy' (*CO* 118, 119). We leave it to medical archaeology to determine whether or not a man was sick, criminal, or insane... (Foucault, *Madness and Civilization* 65)

When Alex is imprisoned because of the crimes he committed and exposed to the treatment of Ludovico's technique, his free will is taken. For Burgess, this is not correct since free will exists in the core nature of human beings. Pieters points out that Greenblatt does not believe in an unchanging 'human nature'. To him human beings are subjects, determined and defined by the circumstances in which they live (Pieters 31).

Alex is sentenced to a fourteen-year imprisonment for his violence. However, when he hears about the Ludovico's Technique just after two years of his imprisonment, he accepts to be cured (CO 127). After his treatment, Dr Brodsky introduces Alex to the people watching them as 'subject': "Tomorrow we send him with confidence out into the world again, as decent a lad as you would meet on a May morning, inclined to the kindly word and the helpful act" (134). The success in Alex's treatment will give the government a great advantage in winning the coming elections since this will lead to the treatment of other subjects and eliminating their free will (144).

Discussions about free will started centuries, even millenniums ago. Rene Descartes, a French philosopher of the Age of Reason, expressed his ideas of free will by saying that he cannot complain that the will or freedom of choice which he received from God is not sufficiently extensive or perfect, since he knows by experience that it is not restricted in any way (Descartes, *The Philosophical Writings* Vol II:39-40). "Descartes opines that though our physical bodies are constrained by natural laws, our spirits have —unbounded freedom that it is our spirits that are ultimately behind the free actions that we perform" (Ezeh 75). However, the constructed values regarding what is right and what is wrong change from period to period. For example, the penal methods of the middle ages sound horrible for us, for the modern people today. Technological and scientific developments contribute to our changing of perceptions and cultural values. Although for Descartes the will or freedom of choice was not restricted in his time, today this seems to be possible through conditioning.

After his attempt to commit suicide because of being exposed to listen to Beethoven loudly by F. Alexander and his friends, Alex is taken to hospital and is visited by the Minister of Interior, who does not want to lose votes in elections. Voting boxes will either endow them with continuing and more power or deprive them of it. They cure Alex using deep hypnopaedia and Alex feels his old motives of violence returned. When he is shown a picture of bird-nests with eggs, he wants to destroy them (CO 189). His free will is restored now, which shows the vast influence of the power holders. This also refutes Descartes's view that free will cannot be controlled.

Prison chaplain, who gives preaches to the prisoners every Sunday morning, is satisfied with Alex's reading the Bible. The state believes that the manners and behaviours of the prisoners will change. This is used as a control mechanism. Justification or legitimizing is done through different apparatuses to serve the ideology of the period. Althusser asserts that "an ideology always exists in an apparatus, and its practice, or practices" (Althusser 40). Althusser divides such apparatuses into two groups as "Ideological State Apparatuses (ISAs)" and "Repressive State Apparatuses". All the subjects in a society are exposed to them since they make how the ideology works. Althusser gives the details of these apparatuses:

With all the reservations implied by this requirement, we can for the moment regard the following institutions as Ideological State Apparatuses (the order in which I have listed them has no particular significance):

- the religious ISA (the system of the different Churches),
- the educational ISA (the system of the different public and private 'Schools'),
- the family ISA,
- the legal ISA,
- the political ISA (the political system, including the different Parties),
- the trade-union ISA,
- the communications ISA (press, radio and television, etc.),
- -the cultural ISA (Literature, the Arts, sports, etc.). (Althusser 17)

He differentiates the ISAs from the Repressive State Apparatuses by saying that the Repressive State Apparatus functions 'by violence', whereas the Ideological State Apparatuses *function 'by ideology'*. For Repressive State Apparatuses he gives the examples of the Army and the Police as executive forces of law endowed with power. He adds that "the Army and the Police also function by ideology to ensure their own cohesion and reproduction" (18-19). ISAs are inseparable parts of ideology and form the main constituents in societies.

Alex conveys his messages about free-will in a subversive manner against the ideals of the government through ISAs. He criticises the judges and the schools for constraining the free will in individuals since such apparatuses will not let the individuals reveal their 'self':

... badness is of the self, the one, the you or me on our oddy knockies¹⁹, and that self is made by old Bog or God and is this great pride and radosty²⁰. But the not-self cannot have the bad, meaning they of the government and the judges and the schools cannot allow the bad because they cannot allow the self. And is not our modern history, my brothers, the story of brave malenky²¹ selves fighting these big machines? I am serious with you, brothers, over this. But what I do I do because I like to do. (CO 46)

Alex claims that our modern history is made up of the struggle of a small group of people, who have not admitted to be subjects, against big machines, in other words governments donated with excessive power. Alex, thus acts as a subversive power. "The problem that his choices are invariably destructive is not a problem after all, since Burgess debates upon the society's right to deprive him of this freedom to choose whatever he may like" (Simion 66). Alex will have to bear the consequences of his actions but he still aspires to act with his free will and choices. Simion expresses that he finds joy in every form of violence, from destruction, theft of objects to sexual and nonsexual assault (66).

As Alex tells about his story to F. Alexander, he comments that "A man who cannot choose ceases to be a man" (CO 169). The ideology or the system creates subjects that will endorse the system and work for it. It does not tolerate subjects assuming the role of agents to erode the ideology. Ideology creates control mechanisms and creates an illusive reality, which supports the statement "man is an ideological animal by nature" (Althusser 45). All individuals are shaped within an ideological environment and their choices are determined within this framework. Eagleton defines ideology as the general material process of production of ideas, beliefs and values in social life. Such a definition is both politically and epistemologically neutral, and is close to the broader meaning of the term 'culture' (*Ideology* 28). He adds that the term *ideology* would seem to make reference not only to belief systems, but to questions of power (5). Beliefs, societal norms, cultural

19 alone

²⁰ joy ²¹ little

values, and social issues belong to an ideology that is created through rulers that have power. Ideology determines our world view, our position in a society as well.

Burgess emphasizes the function of religion in our life. Since he was a Catholic and did not totally exclude himself from religion, it is worth mentioning his view on original sin, which is clearly seen in his fictional works. Original sin is described as "the state of disobedience to God which everyone is in from birth, according to Christian teaching, because Adam and Eve ate the fruit from the Tree of Knowledge in the Garden of Eden" (Murphy 987). When telling God about eating the forbidden fruit, they both are dismissed from the Garden of Eden. What is significant about this story is that it is the first time that the ancestors of human beings, Adam and Eve, learn about the good and the bad. The conflict that exists in Burgess is "Augustinianism versus Pelagianism. Augustinianism takes its name from St. Augustine (354-430), Pelagianism from his contemporary Pelagius" (ca. 355—ca. 425). Pelagius wished to emphasize that man is the pilot of his own moral destiny. He enjoined his listeners to feel the power of their free will and to exercise it for the good (Stinson 21). Augustinianism, however, saw human nature as corrupt and sinful because of its ancestors. Burgess did not believe that man was perfectible by changing his environment if he was sinful. "Burgess, like his contemporaries William Golding and Graham Greene, is a strong believer in original sin. Attempts to remove evil from the world are hopelessly bound to failure and can only have the effect of meddlesomely infringing upon the individual's right of choice" (Stinson 22). Burgess believed that impulsive power behind his novels was Manichaeanism, the dualistic religious system that apeeared in the third century A.D. "The Manicheans believed that right from the inception of all things, opposed coequal forces were set against each other in eternal conflict: Light-Darkness, Good-Evil" (Stinson 22).

Manichaeans recognized that there was a nearly hopeless intermixture of Light and Dark elements on this earth. The larger, looser, more encompassing meaning of the word Manichaeanism, then, came to signify any of various dualistic beliefs that viewed evil as a positive agency emanating from a power coequal with the power of good. To know either one of these powers was, by opposition, to know something of the other. The inter-penetration of good and evil is one of Burgess's main themes, as it is also for Graham Greene, who is an important

influence on Burgess. Manichaeanism, then, is not a serious religious belief for Burgess, but a ready-made system symbolically very useful for explaining the dynamic of the universe. (Stinson 23)

When Alex tells F. Alexander that he was beaten by police officers, he sees Alex as another victim of the modern age and sympathizes with him (CO 166). F. Alexander blames the government for the creation of such a social life and he devotes his life to fight against the modern age which has made streets unsafe and killed his wife. He does his best to make the government lose the coming elections and uses Alex as a weapon against them, especially when he discovers Alex's real identity. Alex's jumping out of the window appears in newspaper headlines as "BOY VICTIM OF CRIMINAL REFORM SCHEME" and "GOVERNMENT AS MURDERER" (CO 185-186). "Alex becomes a pawn in the struggle between two political systems, and is subsequently de-programmed so that he can return to a life of gang violence" (Head 25). Power in Foucault's account does not belong to anyone, nor does it all emanate from one specific location, such as the state. Rather, power is diffused throughout social institutions, as it is exercised by innumerable, replaceable functionaries. It operates through the daily disciplines and routines to which bodies are subjected (Cain et al 1618).

The prison chaplain admonishes Alex for he will be conditioned through Ludovico's Technique: "Does God want goodness or the choice of goodness? Is a man who chooses the bad perhaps in some ways better than a man who has the good imposed upon him? Deep and hard questions, little 6655321" (CO 105). He knows that Alex will be deprived of humanity, which is essential for using his own free will. For him, even choosing the bad is better than a good person whose free will is constrained. Alex is numbered as 6655321 on the day he is put in prison. It seems that being numbered this way adds a reductive quality to the identity of the prisoners in the legal system. It may also suggest the existence of a one-party state, which gives a dystopian quality to the novel.

Answering a question about his life and an element of biography in the novel, Burgess mentions the attack by the American deserters on his wife, who ultimately died, and says: "it's the job of the artist, especially the novelist, to take events like that from his own life, or from the lives of those near to him, and to purge them, to cathartise the pain, the anguish, in a work of art". He clearly expresses that he attempted to put himself in the novel as F. Alexander, who is subject to the deprivations, and to the violence of wild youth. (Burgess, *Interview in Italy 1974*)

Languages can also be used as a control mechanism. Newspeak, a word invented by Orwell himself, in 1984 is created by the Party as an ideological instrument. The purpose of Newspeak, whose vocabulary gets smaller every year, is to narrow the range of thought and thus the authority will make thought crime literally impossible because there will be no words in which to express it (Orwell, 1984 83). Nadsat is used as an invented language by Alex and his friends in A Clockwork Orange to define their own identity. It is through this way that marginalized youth groups such as Alex and his gang express their rebellion and resistance against the state.

New Historicism accepts Foucault's insistence that power operates through myriad capillary channels; these include not just direct coercion and governmental action but also, crucially, daily routines and language. Because discourse organizes perception of the world by its categorical groupings and because symbols bind social agents emotionally to institutions and practices, conflicts over images resonate throughout the social order. (Cain et al 2250)

In invention of Nadsat, which mostly consists of Russian words and English slang words, Burgess made use of Eric Partridge's *Dictionary of Slang and Unconventional English (CO* xxxi).

A Clockwork Orange focuses on the British youth of modern times. The message that can be taken from it is that although they are individuals, they, like the rest of the society are a product of the ideology no matter how rebellious they are. Although Alex is cured and gains his power at the end of the novel, he imagines having a family like the rest of the society. It is actually his meeting with old friend Pete, who is married now, that changes his motives for continuing committing violence: "Perhaps that was it, I kept thinking. Perhaps I was getting too old for the sort of jeezny²² I had been leading, brothers" (CO 202). Now he is twenty-one and mature enough to set up

_

²² life

a family. Head expresses that Alex is finally redeemed, not by state intervention, but by the arrival of maturity (25), which confirms Burgess' idea that individuals, using their free will, should make their own decisions for choosing either evil or good.

The novel portrays the youth culture of 1960s based on the experiences of Burgess who was disturbed by the state taking more control over the young. Burgess defended that individuals had to make their own choice whether that should be a wrong one. A life shaped by external forces without the free-will of the individual would turn him/her to a machine as the title suggests. Alex subverts the dominant power of the authorities by criticising the judges and the schools, the ideological state apparatuses. However, he himself is contained within the power relations in accordance with the New Historicism, which asserts that subversion is always contained by the dominant power or ideology. The attempt of the authorities in trying to create a utopian society through Ludovico technique brings a dark world with itself since the free-will of the individual is eradicated.



CHAPTER FIVE

POWER FUNCTIONS AND THE HEGEMONIC TECHNOLOGY'S EFFECTS ON FREE WILL OF THE LATE TWENTIETH CENTURY IN ISHIGURO'S NEVER LET ME GO

New Historicism aims at examining and analysing the biography of the author in order to reveal the relation between the personal and private experiences of the writer and the text written by him since the text is moulded not only by economic, social, and political conditions but also by personal experiences of the author living in a discourse specific to that period. While doing the New Historicist reading of *Never Let Me Go*, various sources including the Nobel Prize Speech by Ishiguro and interviews held with him will be made use of.

Kazuo Ishiguro, who was awarded the Nobel Prize in Literature in 2017, was born on November 8, 1954 in Nagasaki, Japan ("Biobibliographical Notes: The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017"). He was the son of a Japanese oceanographer. It was in 1960 when he moved to Britain with his family and here at an early age he met a different culture. They settled in Guildford, Surrey (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 3) and he was raised in the Japanese style. He describes his upbringing as a "very typical middle-class southern English upbringing" (Bryson). Although his family planned to stay in England for a short time, they stayed there permanently, making England his home country and "adjusting to a new reality in which he was not to see 'another non-English person' for years" (Shaffer 1; Hensher 21). His family, however, would "often exchange observations about the curious customs of the natives without feeling any onus to adopt them" (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017"5).

The setting in $NLMG^{23}$ bears strong resemblances to landscape and countryside Ishiguro lived in. In his Nobel Lecture he describes it as "a cul-de-sac of twelve houses

²³ Ishiguro, Kazuo. *Never Let Me Go*. London: Faber and Faber, 2005

All the future references will be to the abbreviated title *NLMG* and the numbers of page.

just where the paved roads ended and the countryside began. It was less than a five minute stroll to the local farm and the lane down which rows of cows trudged back and forth between fields" (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 4).

Ishiguro's nostalgia stems from his conscious and subconscious rootedness that occurred after he migrated to England with his family. Lewis states that he was suddenly exiled from this safe haven, an exile made even more unsettling by the uncertainty about when or whether the family would return (qtd. in Stanescu 2). Memory and loss are two of the themes Ishiguro commonly uses in his novels, including *NLMG*. The childhood of a person provides him with unforgettable memories, which are difficult to erase. Ishiguro, regarding his permanent stay in England expresses that he had a happy childhood in England but had strong emotional relations he had in Japan that were suddenly severed at a formative emotional age (Stanescu 2).

After his graduation from secondary school in 1973, he "served for a brief period as a grouse-beater for the Queen Mother at Balmoral Castle, Scotland". He also hitchhiked around the United States and Canada during his "gap year" before taking up study at the University of Kent in Canterbury in 1974 (Sim 83). Between 1974 and 1978 he attended University of Kent earning his BA. In 1975, suspending his studies he worked as a community worker in Glasgow area housing estate. In 1979 he worked with the homeless at a resettlement center in London. It was in the same year that he met his future wife Lorna Anne MacDougall (Shaffer and Wong xiii). In late 1979 he enrolled in the creative writing Master's program at the University of East Anglia, where he was taught by Malcolm Bradbury and Angela Carter, famous English novelists. He obtained his M.A. in 1980, having secured a contract from Faber and Faber for a novel in progress (Sim 83). The courses and meetings he had with Bradbury and Carter paved the way for his literary career and contributed a lot to his career as a novelist. He credits teachers Angela Carter and Malcolm Bradbury for inspiring him in the early years (Shaffer and Wong viii). His working as a community worker engaged him with meeting many people and helping them, which probably created a sense of community we witness at Hailsham. "Having worked as a social worker in Glasgow and London in the 1980s, Ishiguro probably shaped his understanding of human awareness and suffering, and these are elements that are present in all of his novels" (Lalrinfeli 13).

It was in 1982 that he gained his British citizenship. When they moved to London with Lorna in Spring 1983, their living room had no sofa or armchair, but two mattresses on the floor covered with cushions (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 6). Living in a plain home without a lot of stuff reminds us of his protagonists in *NLMG*, who waited to be *completed*²⁴ in the Cottages without luxury goods. That he worked as "a social worker with the homeless in Glasgow and London hostels" probably contributed to his development of sympathy and empathy, which touches upon the emotions of his readers (Shaffer *Understanding Kazuo Ishiguro* 2). His marriage with Lorna Anne MacDougall in 1986 shows how couples can live together for many years without being obliged to marry, which is a sign of social change upon individuals considering previous century. Compared with the social values of Victorian Period, living together for couples without marriage is a sign that can be contributed to cultural change.

When analysing the novel and his experiences in life, it can be said that there are a lot of common points from the places he lived in to the people he met. Ishiguro expresses that when he had been accepted on a one-year postgraduate Creative Writing course at the University of East Anglia, he'd arrived with a rucksack, a guitar and a portable typewriter in Buxton, Norfolk – a small English village with an old water mill and flat farm fields all around it. The university was ten miles away, in the cathedral town of Norwich and he had rented a room in a small house owned by a man in his thirties, who was cold or just wanted to avoid him (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 1). His such experiences helped him create a landscape and characters such as Keffer, who is a grumpy old guy who turns up two or three times a week in his muddy van to take care of the Cottages and doesn't like to talk to Kathy and her friends much (*NLMG* 114). Ishiguro's looking out from his one window of "ploughed fields stretching away into the distance" (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize" 1-2) is a reminiscent of Kathy's last scene in the novel when she finds herself "standing before acres of

²⁴ die

ploughed earth" looking out on the fields after losing her best friends Ruth and Tommy (*NLMG* 281). Ishiguro states that he was engaged in writing in the winter and spring of 1979-80 and that he spoke to no-one aside from the other five students in his class, the village grocer, and his girlfriend Lorna (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 3).

Ishiguro was interested in music and he wanted to become a rock star. "He devoted the early part of his life to dreams of a career in music, writing his own songs and recording and sending out demos" (Shaffer and Wong 198). In an interview regarding the title of the novel *NLMG*, Ishiguro expresses that the song by Judy Bridgewater of the same title is fictional and the words *Never Let Me Go* helped evoke that era of the world he was interested in (213). When he was in Whitstable, he enjoyed the thriving music culture there and he even imagined to be the next Bob Dylan. He expresses that song writing served as his apprenticeship for becoming a fiction writer later on and that he wrote over 100 songs in that time (McGuinness 5-6). He emphasizes the importance of music in his life since "a human voice in song is capable of expressing an unfathomably complex blend of feelings" (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 9).

NLMG reflects displacement and homelessness which are seen with Ishiguro's characters. Hailsham is the home of the clones and as they grow up and begin to donate their organs for their possibles, it becomes the only phenomenon they can build a bridge with to reach their childhood memories. Ishiguro's migration from Japan to England, from one specific culture to another with certain traumas brought up by the effects and memories of World War II, seems to have created the sense of displacement and homelessness in him. "The notion of exile always emphasizes the absence of 'home,' of the cultural matrix that formed the individual subject; hence, it implies an involuntary or enforced rupture between the collective subject of the original culture and the individual subject" (JanMohamed qtd. in Stanescu 4). Ishiguro himself puts this into words: "I think a lot of [writers] do write out of something that is somewhere deep down and, in fact, it's probably too late ever to resolve it. Writing is a consolation or therapy" (qtd. in Stanescu 4). Although Ishiguro declares himself as

British rather than Japanese, the readers usually feel some kind of nostalgia for the past and a yearning for the rootedness in his novels.

In an interview, he states that he considers himself British since he has grown up and been shaped by Britain and completed all his studies there but he still keeps his Japanese ties since he lived with his parents speaking Japanese. Since he didn't feel himself completely British or Japanese, he had "no society or country to speak for or write about" and "nobody's history seemed to be [his] history" (qtd. in Stanescu 1). Rather than being a nationally renowned writer, he prefers being considered an international writer for his literary achievements. For the country he belongs to, he is announced as British since he grew up there and was moulded with British culture.

The England he arrived in 1960 was still nominally a very Christian community. Regarding the English class system, he felt himself an outsider (Shaffer and Wong 200). Ishiguro, does not dwell on religion in *NLMG*. In addition, class system is what he focuses on by depicting the clones as *abnormal* and the human beings as *normal*, the upper-class. As an author, he is a product of his cultural and social milieu, which can be clearly seen not only in *NLMG* but also in his all novels.

The world-famous author Ishiguro has written many novels which have been found successful in literary circles and translated into many languages thus making him internationally renowned. Ishiguro has written eight novels so far, some already translated into over forty languages and he has received many awards both nationally and internationally. In 2008, the British newspaper *The Times*, ranked Ishiguro 32nd among "The 50 greatest British writers since 1945" (*The Times*). He usually uses first-person narrators who dwell on their past. "The themes Ishiguro is most associated with are already present here: memory, time, and self-delusion" ("Biobibliographical Notes: The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017").

Ishiguro, until becoming a professional writer, had read books by many other writers. Two of the Russian writers impressed him to a great deal. "He affiliates himself to a classic European canon, and indicates Dostoevsky and Chekhov as

congenial spirits and significant influences, 'two god-like figures in my reading experience" (Stanescu 3).

His first novel *A Pale View of Hills* (1982) is a story about a Japanese woman living alone in England. She is dealing with the suicide of her daughter within the framework of postwar memories. "The novel won the Winifred Holtby Prize from the Royal Society of Literature in 1983 and was translated into thirteen languages (Sim, *Kazuo Ishiguro* 84)". His second novel *An Artist of the Floating World* (1986) is again about the memories of a Japanese painter who look back on his life. In both novels, whose characters are Japanese "the war has severely damaged the nation's landscape, both literally and metaphorically. Bombs had demolished cities and families had been torn apart just as societal customs and traditions were undermined, and replaced by Western values and ideologies" (Lalrinfeli 21).

The Remains of the Day (1989), which is considered Ishiguro's best novel by many literary critics, is the writer's another novel dealing with postwar trauma and memories. The protagonist butler Stevens, under the service of Nazi fan Lord Darlington, tells about his memories. He does his job with great discipline, which makes him ignore even a possible love affair with Miss Kenton. "It won the prestigious Booker prize [in 1989] and was made into a successful film in 1993 by Merchant-Ivory Productions starring Anthony Hopkins and Emma Thompson. The movie eventually garnered eight Oscar nominations" (Sim 84).

His fourth novel *The Unconsoled* (1995) is another novel based on memory and nostalgia. Ryder, a famous pianist, is invited to a Central European city to give a concert. *When We Were Orphans* (2000), following *The Unconsoled*, is the story of Christopher Banks who later becomes a detective and searches for his parents that mysteriously disappeared. The setting of the novel is Shanghai and London.

The Buried Giant (2015) is his latest successful novel which is based on fantasy. An elderly couple, who suffers from a memory loss, sets off on road for finding their lost son missing for years in an England of King Arthur, Romans, dragons, knights, and giants. "This novel explores, movingly, how memory relates to

oblivion, history to the present, and fantasy to reality" ("Biobibliographical Notes: The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017").

As it can clearly be seen in his works, *memory* is a common theme Ishiguro uses in his novels. There is some kind of nostalgia for the past and with *NLMG* the memories for the protagonist becomes a life vest with which she can have an identity. "At the same time his novels are full of individuals who are unconsoled, who look back on their lives and realize that they had spent the bulk of it mired in self-deception. Coming to terms with the past becomes for that reason a pressing concern" (Sim 83). Shaffer states that his novels engage historical and political realities but these remain behind emotional and psychological landscapes of the characters. Ishiguro himself remarks 'I would look for moments in history that would best serve my purposes' (8). Biculturality, displacement, and alienation are some other themes he is dealing with in his novels. "Some interviewers try to corner Ishiguro into confessing to a parallel between the author's life and those of his repressed characters" (Shaffer and Wong viii).

Although Ishiguro was not an eye-witness of the Second World War, he felt the trauma to a great extent. Two atomic bombs that were dropped on Japanese cities Hiroshima and Nagazaki in 1945 killed more than one hundred thousand people. In all over the world to the casualties were tens of millions making it the most tragic war. That's why he considers the England of 1980s as a "politically stable country that hadn't really had a major war for a long time" (McGuinness 6) and this gave him and writers like him the opportunity of travelling in their imaginations to the past.

Shortlisted for Man Booker Prize, *NLMG* is one of the best novels written by Ishiguro. Answering the questions of Cynthia F. Wong and Grace Crummett in London in 2006, Ishiguro expresses that he started to write the novel in 1990, and then gave up. But when he started writing his novel, there were no clones at all but just students. He was looking for a story to do with nuclear weapons and a cold war mentality and he planned the lives of his characters doomed accordingly. He quit writing it and instead penned his *The Unconsoled*. After several tries, even after writing his *When We Were Orphans* he finally wrote *NLMG*. Talking about the clones, he says that

around 2001 there was a lot of stuff about cloning, about stem-cell research, about Dolly the sheep:

I remember one morning listening to a debate on the radio about this, and I thought, "If I forget about this nuclear power dooming the students, and if I try and go down this road, if I thought of these people as clones, what would it do to these people?" I could contrive a situation for them I could see a metaphor here. I was looking for a situation to talk about the whole aging process, but in such an odd way that we'd have to look at it all in a new way. (Shaffer and Wong 213)

NLMG became so popular because the cloning issue interested many readers. Like many other authors of the postwar period, Ishiguro was affected by the conditions of his time and the cultures that affected him. Although he was born in Nagasaki and only six years later he moved to England with his family, he could not cut off his ties with Japan because of his parents and because of his customs at home. When he started writing *NLMG*, technology and genetic engineering had already leaped far beyond the expectations of many people. Although the story takes place in 1990s, it definitely has futuristic qualities.

Drawing a parallel between his characters in the novel and the real people in the world, he says "A normal life span is between sixty to eighty-five years; these people [in *Never Let Me Go*] artificially have that period shortened. But basically they face the same questions we all face" (Shaffer and Wong 197). We all face the same question since average life expectancy is around eighty in developed countries. The difference between his clones and us is that since they will live for a shorter period, childhood memories will be more valuable for them. As Kathy talks about her memories for her early years at Hailsham, she says "they tend to blur into each other as a kind of golden time" (*NLMG* 76) and that she treasures from her plenty of memories.

The imaginations of an author in writing fiction is affected by the culture and environment he lives in. Ishiguro makes use of some objects that were used by the youth of 1980s and 1990s. As a person who lived and experienced those years, he uses, for example walkman in *NLMG*. Those years were walkman's heyday. "[The clones]

listened to music on Walkmans and speculated about their teachers. They were typical teenagers" (Shaffer and Wong 197). Hailsham is depicted as a boarding school designed and managed especially for the clones. However, they act in the same manner that normal children play in the garden or when they play sports. Ishiguro, in another conversation with Karen Grigsby Bates on NPR Radio in 2005, expresses that the kids in the novel are literally sealed off from the rest of the world and when his daughter was younger, he tried to keep her in a bubble, sealed off from the realities of the world that actually awaited her (199). Teo states that Ishiguro's experience of being a parent may have had a strong influence on the writing of *Never Let Me Go* (85). The Cottages without fences or guardians will be another world for the clones to face the realities.

Ishiguro further states that some cold system says to Tommy and Kathy that they will be useful as organ donors (Shaffer and Wong 218). This reminds us of the Panopticon used by Foucault to define modern disciplinary society. In modern sense, it does not necessarily refer to a building that functions as a prison with inmates but as a mechanism of power limiting the free-will. Even when they leave Hailsham at the age of sixteen for the Cottages, Panopticon still works for them because their life is not their own in real sense. "They may be in England, but they are aliens in their country, a host of Frankenstein's children" (Messud 30).

Some writers or critics consider Ishiguro as a postcolonial writer because of his origin and his migration to England with his family. Barry Lewis observes that Ishiguro aligns himself "with the postcolonial emphasis on the marginal, the liminal, the excluded" (qtd. in Guo 2). Ishiguro, in his Nobel Lecture, emphasizes that Salman Rushdie and V.S. Naipaul had forged the way for a more international, outward-looking British literature and their writing was post-colonial in the widest sense. He adds that he wanted, like them, to write 'international' fiction that could easily cross cultural and linguistic boundaries, even while writing a story set in what seemed a peculiarly English world (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 8).

Ishiguro, as an international writer, is sensitive for victims of wars. In October 1999 invited by a German poet, he visited concentration camps. He was accommodated between the first Auschwitz camp and the Birkenau death camp two

miles away and he felt he'd come close "to the heart of the dark force under whose shadow [his] generation had grown up". He stood before the rubbled remains of the gas chambers (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 10). In the novel *NLMG*, one of the specific examples of war is when Kathy and her friends, affected by reading some poetry, talk about soldiers in World War Two being kept in prison camps (*NLMG* 76). In his Nobel Lecture, Ishiguro expresses that he feels obliged to have the duty to pass on the memories and lessons of the Second World War from their parents' generation to the one after their own (11).

Personal experiences play a great role on imagination world of the writers. Ishiguro is probing the social issues that create traumas on individuals and in *NLMG* he is doing that by imagining a past that represents a possible future. Ishiguro states that although they moved to England when he was little, his parents' talk about their friends, anecdotes or events from their lives in Japan provided him with images and impressions. And although he did not return to Japan during that time, this made his vision of the country more vivid and personal. But memories of Japan was getting fainter as he grew older each year (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017"5-6). The creative process for [him] is never about anger or violence, but regret and melancholy (Sim 82).

Ishiguro's writing originates from an intense feeling of sympathy with that part of humanity predestined to be victimized by a complex and merciless order of things, from the victims of the Hiroshima and Nagasaki disasters of his first novels to the human clones suffering from appalling medical exploitation in Never Let Me Go... All of Ishiguro's narrators, at some point, have lost or are unable to recognize familiar landscapes and as a result must go through a symbolic existential nightmare. (Bizzini 67)

Ishiguro makes his world view clear, which is embedded in his novels as well, at the end of his Nobel Lecture. He finishes his lecture with humane messages, which shows that he is sensitive to all issues that interest not only one part of the world but all of the world. He mentions the political events in Europe and in America, acts of terrorism all around the globe, the liberal-humanist values he'd taken for granted since childhood which may have been an illusion, their elders' transform of Europe from a

place of totalitarian regimes, genocide and historically unprecedented carnage to a much-envied region of liberal democracies, significant progress in feminism, gay rights and the battles on several fronts against racism. He talks about social and political problems of the present as well such as growing inequalities of wealth and opportunity between nations and within nations, the disastrous invasion of Iraq in 2003 and the long years of austerity policies imposed on ordinary people following the scandalous economic crash of 2008. All these, he claims, have brought us to a present in which Far Right ideologies and tribal nationalisms proliferate. Regarding scientific issues, he explains that new genetic technologies – such as the gene-editing technique CRISPR – and advances in Artificial Intelligence and robotics will bring us amazing, life-saving benefits, but may also create savage meritocracies that resemble apartheid, and massive unemployment, including to those in the current professional elites (Ishiguro "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017" 14-15).

NLMG takes place in the dystopian England of 1990s, where there are groups of cloned children raised at institutions spread all over the country. As they turn into adults in the course of time, their vital organs are taken by operation to be replaced with the damaged organs of other people. Moving from the tenet that literary and non-literary texts circulate inseparably in New Historicism, it can be said that NLMG reflects the social, political, and scientific conditions and of course, anxieties of its period that are embedded in the novel. Hence, this novel touches upon an important issue that scientific progress, instead of bringing prosperity for all people in a society, creates victims and sufferers who work or even live for the benefit of others.

It is a novel that represents its period skilfully as it revolves around the prominent issues such as scientific progress on health and trauma left by World War Two. Sarah Knapton, the science correspondent for *the Telegraph*, reports that the war left survivors at greater risk of suffering diabetes, depression and heart disease, and food shortages, displacement from homes and the loss of relatives all created a toxic legacy that was still being felt for decades after fighting ceased in May 1945 (Knapton 2014). Ishiguro gives place to the traumatic and physical effects of that war in some of his novels including *NLMG*. In this regard, *NLMG* comments on such contemporary issues under a fictional story. Griffin states that *NLMG* appeared first during a period

- the early 2000s - when cloning, and biotechnological developments and debates associated with these more generally, were high on the public agenda (646).

The war did not only leave physically suffered victims but also people with mentally suffering. The post-war period was not a period of comfort and prosperity. On the contrary, it left many people and countries in paranoia, which is reflected in the novel. Hyvärinen expresses that almost everything the guardians shared with the students was held in reserve, evasive and circuitous — evoking all kinds of paranoid attitudes and this has been one of the major ingredients of political novels at least since the advent of the cold war era (209).

Ishiguro was under the effect of the Second World War, which is clearly seen especially in his first three novels. His writing is infused with the trauma that the war had on nations including his homeland Japan. The destructive Second World War and its effects are used as a premise for creating a dystopian world in which scientific developments bring not also comfort and prosperity for some but misery for the others. "Ishiguro's novels often turn out to be eulogies for his characters. The novels pay tribute to the well-intentioned but flawed lives that often find themselves at the mercy of political and historical upheavals" (Teo, *Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory* 150).

Ishiguro is creating a speculative past in this novel. However, he himself, as a cultural product of his society, reflects the conditions of his time consciously or subconsciously. Thatcher's period in 1980s left many people unemployed. Privatization was felt to a great extent. Many national institutions were privitazed, which reflected the ideology and policies of the Thatcher administration. "In addition to losing their jobs, the underprivileged classes had little governmental representation, both of which contributed to their alienation from society and, to some extent, a loss in their means of identification" (Svensk 7-8). Svensk expresses that Huxley and Ishiguro have both, in similar ways, gone beyond this metaphor in order to enhance the sense of lost individuality.

Although Ishiguro states that he heard about a discussion on the radio about advances in biotechnology and that he decided to merge this with the plot of his novel

(BookBrowse), the origin of the idea of having clones in *NLMG* is rooted in the scientific progress that started long before the novel was written. In the 1970s "molecular biological techniques for selectively cutting and copying DNA ushered in a new era in gene mapping" (Cook-Deegan 103). The human genome project began to take shape in 1985 and 1986 at various meetings (99). Scientific progress continued at a fast pace in following years.

1990s is considered one of the milestones in cloning. This was a period when the sheep Dolly was born as a clone from an adult cell. "Dolly provoked extensive scientific, political and ethical debate and renewed public unease about the implications of the new genetics and the now foreseeable prospect of human cloning" (Carroll 61). Although there was anxiety and some ethical concerns, it seems that they are removed. Such concerns are naturally removed when the majority of the society think that they will benefit such progresses. "...the biologist Robert Edwards and the gynaecologist Patrick Steptoe produced the world's first 'test-tube baby', Louise Brown, on 25 July 1978" (Harrison, *Finding a Role?* 214). And in 1982, A Gallup poll found that of the 95 per cent of the public who were alert to the concept of test-tube babies, two in three approved (214). The birth of Dolly that was produced at the Roslin Institute had aimed at producing medicines in the milk of farm animals (Cloning Dolly The Sheep). But this birth put the inevitable idea of human cloning in the minds of people.

In spite of all improvement, human beings may misuse the technological and scientific developments. Alfred Nobel had invented the dynamite in 1867 thinking that it would be beneficial in mining sector or for building roads. However, it was used at wars as well killing many people. Ishiguro gives a realistic atmosphere to his novel with the cloning issue with the thought that such things are possible in case human beings do not use knowledge and science for humane purposes. "Never Let Me Go rather bluntly confronts the possibility that our technological abilities might outpace our ethical abilities" (Watman 61).

Although organ transplantation is not conducted through having clones similar to the students in *NLMG*, it is performed from human to human at present in our world.

Studies for organ transplantation have been continuing for decades and today the doctors are performing very successful transplantations. The first of these was realized in 1954 with kidney transplantation and the following decades saw the transplantation of the other vital organs such as of heart in 1968. "Unfortunately, the need for organ transplants continues to exceed the supply of organs. But as medical technology improves and more donors become available, the number of people who live longer and healthier lives continues to increase each year" (Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network). According to the 2004 Annual Report of the US health authorities, 60 000 people are currently waiting for a suitable donor kidney to become available in the USA (Butcher 1299). Organ transplantation is not something that ordinary people can afford. They have to be either rich or collect money through monetary donations with campaigns or advertisements. In *NLMG* it is implied that the rich people can have clones and use their organs for themselves.

The number of people in need of organs is increasing in parallel with the population increase in the world. However, illicit transactions are increasing as well. Although there are heavy punishments for illegal organ transplantation in many countries, illegal transportation of organs from one country into another is continuing. While some organ donors donate their organs for their loved ones, some organ donors give their organs just for making money because of their bad financial situation. Such cases remind us of the clones who are meek and surrendered to their fate in *NLMG*. "...[Ishiguro] indirectly raises and highlights the problematic nature of current medico-legal issues such as cloning, organ donations, the shortage of transplantable organs, and means of meeting the shortfall" (De Villiers& Slabbert 100).

Countries in the world do not approach the cloning issue in the same manner. There are still discussions going on whether it is ethical or not and to what level they can use it. Although the creation of human embryos is forbidden in many countries, "on 22 January 2001, the UK adopted a liberal position and became the first country to approve human embryonic stem cell research" (Harris 119).

With technological and scientific progress, cultural changes take place as well and in parallel with that values and the level of moral and ethical concerns change.

Van den Berg claims that the cloning of humans will inevitably change our views of human life and without ethical reflection on scientific and technological advances associated with human life and well-being, societies might find themselves in a biotechnocratic state that disregards the welfare of future cloned children (1). Jaenisch and Ian Wilmut state that they believe attempts to clone human beings at a time when the scientific issues of nuclear cloning have not been clarified are dangerous and irresponsible (2552).

Some social issues dealt with in the novel reflect the realities of the contemporary period and thereafter. The subjects in *NLMG* have sex relation without penalty although there are rules to conduct this affair properly. They enjoy doing it and clones like Kathy can have random sex as well. One of the boys she has sex with is a veteran called Lenny. Kathy confesses that this relation was mainly about the sex (*NLMG* 188). This reflects the cultural changes in the society and the individuals's relaxed manner of England at the time compared to the previous century. Ishiguro himself had lived together with his wife Lorna for years before marriage in a social atmosphere in which having sex outside marriage was tolerated. Harrison expresses that live births occurred outside marriage in England fell sharply after the Second World War but started rising towards the end of the 1950s, rose faster in the 1960s, and shot up to unprecedented heights in the late 1970s (*Finding a Role?* 213-214). The Sexual Offences Act in 1967 brought full liberation to homosexuals (215). The sexual freedom of the 1960s and thereafter find place in literature and *NLMG* is a novel reflecting this.

Art is taking an important part in *NLMG*. Since the authorities of Hailsham feel the need of showing their sponsors that their clones have souls, they ask the students to produce their work of art which are then collected by Madame for exhibition. Art would be equal to reaching the level of human beings at Hailsham. Harrison, expresses that leisure time and activity continued to extend and diversify so fast in Britain after 1970 that recreation increasingly shaped priorities and values. Of the total public expenditure on the arts (museums, performing and creative arts, films and crafts) in Great Britain in 1981/2, three-fifths came from central government, and only two-

fifths from local authorities—with crafts more likely to be funded locally, the performing and creative arts nationally (*Finding a Role?* 403,412).

In Ishiguro's dystopian novel, the clones are genetic copies of the normal human beings. They behave in the same way that the normals behave. They laugh, cry, share love in the same way that human beings do. However, they are not leading their lives as they wish because they are just stripped of their choices. It is genetic engineers stealing the role of the God that created them and they are ruled by guardians so-called the representatives of this cruel scientific discourse. As a dystopian novel, like many other novels of the same genre, *NLMG* reflects contemporary issues. "Its function is not to actualize science in quasimimetic fashion but to comment critically on the history of the present" (Griffin 653). The students do not have surnames but names followed by an initial letter serving as surname in order to differentiate those with the same names from the others. Novels of Sherlock Holmes are not in their library just because to prevent the clones not to see the smoking characters in such novels. The guardians want the internal organs of the students clean, away from the smokes so that they can submit their vital organs for their models, who are called "normals" (*NLMG* 94).

NLMG is one of the best examples of dystopian novels reflecting the horrors and anxiety of its time. Revolving around the ethics of biotechnology in the not very far past, it in fact portrays a possible future in which some people may be victims of biotechnology.

Ishiguro's novel takes place around 1990s in a parallel world, which means the setting is not different from real England but England itself. As a heart-wrenching narrative about clones, who are copies of their model or normal human beings, it is narrated by Kathy, a thirty-one-year-old carer, who will be a donor like her friends. At the beginning of the novel we witness the cunning methods and techniques used in the upbringing of the clone children. As they grow up and reach the age of sixteen, they leave the institution called Hailsham, where they spent their childhood, for another place called the Cottages to wait for their time to *complete*. As the time passes, they notice that they were created for a sole purpose; donating their organs like spare tyres

to their owners who wait for organ replacement. It is during their stay in the Cottages that Kathy, Ruth, and Tommy come closer in their relation with each other. Clones like Kathy become carers to take care of other clones whose organs are taken one by one until they *complete* (die). In this dystopian novel, Ishiguro makes use of scientific progress and technological developments of his time and reveal the other side of the coin by touching upon inhuman practices of those who control societies for the benefit of some people at the expense of the life of the others.

This is a novel about trauma that the subjects come across, their effort in seeking an identity that results in failure, and control mechanisms in operation. *NLMG* is a novel that puts forward power relations changed due to biotechnology and the hegemony of those who control the subjects and limit their freedom by shaping their individualism. Humans's social and cultural milieu change in parallel with technological and scientific developments, which result in differing control mechanisms in societies. "*Never Let Me Go* explores questions about the social constitution of the cloned individual within the parameters of a created, even if familiar, world" (Dzhumaylo 109).

The novel, based on personal experiences of Ishiguro, draws attention to the class system in England. The class system, with distinctive boundaries and harsh rules in middle ages, continues with somewhat a different form at the beginning of the twenty-first century. Similar to the lower classes in England, the clones do not have the rights that normal human beings have. The situation of the clones compared to the normal human beings might be likened to the situation of lower class. They serve their organs for a "more privileged class of citizens" (Rubenstein et al. 582). Even when talking about the Sales, Kathy says that they were important to them because that was the way of getting things such as shirts from outside (*NLMG* 41). Items belonging to the outside world and created by normal human beings become special for them. "However, the clones bear no difference from their *possibles* in the manner of loving, losing temper, and showing care leading to the erosion of boundaries between these two entities" (Kümbet 92).

The novel makes the readers think about the possibility of human cloning in the future since there are studies already conducted on cloning of animals and human beings. On the other hand, illegal organ trade is the hope of many people in all over the world at present. "...health is represented as the ultimate consumer good and it is implied that the rich are willing to invest heavily in their efforts to achieve good health, longevity and children" (Guo 5). The novel makes Kathy a subject living in a world "where she is reduced to a cog in a bioconsumerist culture" (McDonald 81). She becomes a subject shaped with disciplinary power.

Cloning in the second half of the twentieth century in different developed countries definitely inspired Ishiguro to write his novel using this theme. Ishiguro states that "the modern desperation regarding death, combined with technological advances and the natural human capacity for self-serving fictions and evasions... could easily give rise to new varieties of socially approved atrocities" (O'Neill 123). Ishiguro, does not create a very far dystopian world from the present world. Instead, touching upon realistic issues that may be a threat for humane values, he is presenting almost a real world with dystopic elements. "It seems, then, that the autobiographical trope of meta-reference seeks to draw the reader into the account of events, to ask us to bear witness to the dystopian world" (McDonald 80).

Dystopia blended with scientific-issues has found a common ground in the literature especially in the second half of the twentieth century and the beginning of the twenty-first century. Dystopian novels present reconstrued worlds imagined by the author and in the worlds portrayed by the author there are socio-political or scientific issues that limit and strain the free-will of the individuals which are rooted in the contemporary world of the writer. Hence, utopian/dystopian worlds are reshaped in parallel with the social, political, scientific, and economic conditions of modern times in which the author himself/herself is an eye witness.

Ishiguro also aims at getting the readers to become aware of their life span and to see if they can make their choices regarding life. The point here is probably about the real condition of modern period human beings who work under a specific life plan for continuing their life without seeing the omnipresent power structures. "The novel

thus feeds into the (post)modern paranoia about the possibility of conspiracies or social phenomena that are carefully hidden from public discourse" (Toker and Chertoff 165).

Kathy, Tommy, and Ruth are portrayed as innocent and inquiring subjects devoid of the rights the normal human beings have in this dystopian world. Memory becomes a tool for Kathy to escape into another world. "The unreliability of memory in the modern age, combined with the ruthlessness of the present, compels people to engage in memory projects—projects of narration and genealogy—that make the past "recognizable" and potentially interpellative" (Lansberg 3). In this regard, Ishiguro's novel can be seen as a warning against the probable dangers brought about by scientific and technological developments that may hinder free will of the individuals. "Never Let Me Go stages the formative power of scientific discourse in the constitution of the individual as subject" (Dzhumaylo 104). Like many other dystopian novels "Never Let Me Go epitomises the fears and threats of society at the time when they were written" (Svensk 16).

The novel starts with the introduction of the first-person narrator Kathy: "My name is Kathy H. I'm thirty-one years old, and I've been a carer now for over eleven years" (*NLMG* 3). She knows that although she is a carer now, looking after the clones after their surgical operations, she herself will be a donor like them. However, she does not fully comprehend the reason of her existence like the other clones at the beginning of the novel. They will serve the life-saving and life-prolonging procedures with their organs harvested for the normal people when they turn into adults. "[She] is subject to the dystopian machinations and can therefore only provide us with a limited subjective account" (Mohr et al. 13).

Kathy, as she declares that she is thirty-one and a carer, she is not making a complaint but gives the impression that she has a duty and will realize her duty. Teo expresses that Kathy's return to the past, is not so much motivated by a deep sense of guilt or by something that has gone wrong before; it is triggered instead by a wistful and carefree memory (*Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory* 150). However, she is conscious of something important missing in her life. She feels she is a machine programmed by the system: "You spend hour after hour, on your own, driving across the country,

centre to centre, hospital to hospital, sleeping in overnights, no one to talk to about your worries, no one to have a laugh with. Just now and again you run into a student you know—a carer or donor you recognise from the old days—but there's never much time (*NLMG* 203). The control over her behaviours shapes her life, which keeps her inactive from what she can imagine beyond her limits. "Kathy's subjectivity as a clone with a foreclosed future results in a loss *not* of her individuality, but rather her *sense* of individuality" (Lochner 234).

In *NLMG*, as in many other novels by Ishiguro, *memory* is an important instrument for forming identity. It helps to build a bridge between the present and the past. "While the past experiences have shaped the self-concepts of the present, present self – concepts have an influence on the reconstruction of the past in the process of remembering" (Lalrinfeli 20). Kathy uses her memories to reflect her private life. As in other novels, Ishiguro uses memory to get his protagonists to have an identity and gain an individuality. "The past is a memory of time and space conditioned by the mechanisms of identity formation and the expression of trauma to whose vicissitudes memory is subject" (Middleton and Woods 90).

Kathy explains about the Exchanges at Hailsham that are held each season. The products they usually create are paintings, drawings, and pottery. And for their each product, they are paid in exchange of tokens. The merit of the product is decided by the guardians. With the tokens they gain, they can buy the stuff they like. There is a rule here as well which says that they can only by work done by students in their own year (*NLMG* 15-16).

She is holding her pillow as an imaginary baby in her arms as she listens to the song "Never Let Me Go" in the dorm, which makes one of the touching scenes in the novel. She interprets the words of the song for a woman who has been told she cannot have babies. After a miracle she has a baby and holds this baby close thinking that the baby may be taken away from her. The woman sings "Baby, never let me go..." (NLMG 70) However, she suddenly notices that she is being observed by Madame who is sobbing because of that scene. To the end of the novel she finds out that Madame was crying for a different reason:

When I watched you dancing that day, I saw something else. I saw a new world coming rapidly. More scientific, efficient, yes. More cures for the old sicknesses. Very good. But a harsh, cruel world. And I saw a little girl, her eyes tightly closed, holding to her breast the old kind world, one that she knew in her heart could not remain, and she was holding it and pleading, never to let her go. That is what I saw. It wasn't really you, what you were doing, I know that. But I saw you and it broke my heart. And I've never forgotten. (*NLMG* 266-667)

This scene, including many others in the novel, reveal the treatment Kathy and her clone friends are exposed to "by a society that has placed cold reason and expediency above matters of the heart" (Shaddox 450). Moreover, it is pitiable when Kathy learns that they could not have babies (*NLMG* 72). The title itself is meaningful since it implies the need for protection as well from the anxiety that matters in the modern world. "The album's called Songs After Dark and it's by Judy Bridgewater" (64). It is the song *Never Let Me Go* from this album that Kathy likes the most.

The clones, including Kathy, Tommy, Ruth are not the rebellious characters we see in some other dystopian novels such as 1984. Even Tommy, who sometimes bursts into a rage, is passive throughout the novel. They seem to have accepted the fate created for them by normal human beings. However they seem to be free and can make use of any moment for running away, they do not attempt to do this. In other words, they cannot free themselves from the chains around their free will. Tommy asks Kathy about where they can go in case they are given the extra three years for deferral. Kathy is not sure about that saying they may be told to go back either to the Cottages or another institution for clones, "somewhere separate for people like [them]" (NLMG 240). They can think within a specific world of ideas framed by the system. Getting out of this system is something alien for them, which has not occurred to any clones before.

The clones are raised solely for the purpose of harvesting their organs. Teo mentions two opposing forces: the desire of the nation to deny the existence of the clones and the clones' desire to cling to their memories (*Testimony and the Affirmation of Memory* 128). Hailsham, being one of the first institutions for clones, gives great importance to the education of the clones that finally have the feelings and emotions

the normal people have. Such institutions believed that clones raised in such conditions would not be different from their models.

During their meeting, Miss Emily gives Kathy and Tommy information about how and why they established Hailsham, about scientific breakthrough after the Second World War and tries to ground the reasons for their clone raising activities. They were the first, along with Glenmorgan House. She claims that they demonstrated to the world that if students were reared in humane, cultivated environments, it was possible for them to grow to be as sensitive and intelligent as any ordinary human being and in the early days after the war they were all just "shadowy objects in test tubes" (*NLMG* 256). Regarding why they collected their art, Miss Emily gives them an explanatory answer:

We selected the best of it and put on special exhibitions. In the late seventies, at the height of our influence, we were organising large events all around the country. There'd be cabinet ministers, bishops, all sorts of famous people coming to attend. There were speeches, large funds pledged. 'There, look!' we could say. 'Look at this art! How dare you claim these children are anything less than fully human?' (*NLMG* 256-257)

Miss Emily tells them that there was no way to reverse the situation since in a world that begins to regard cancer as curable, they could not put away the cure, in other words cloning of human beings. Giving up this project would be "go[ing] back the dark days" (*NLMG 257*). From the perspective of the system and the authorities running this program, the clones are regarded as productive. This can be evaluated with Foucault's theory of power and subjection within the concept of performativity aspect according to which the clones are productive in addition to their being subjects. Foucault, in *Discipline and Punish* states that the body becomes a useful force only if it is both a productive body and a subjected body (26).

Miss Emily mentions that the urgency of people was the life of their relatives rather than the deplorable condition of the clones. That's why the clones were kept "in the shadows" for a long time and people did not want to think about them and when they did, they thought the clones were "less than human". She mentions the

Morningdale scandal, which cut the financial sport for clone institutions. A scientist named James Morningdale, conducting his works in a remote part of Scotland, had planned to create children with enhanced characteristics (*NLMG* 258). His project of creating super human beings already frightened people who did not want to remain less clever compared to them. This caused the institutions to lose their sponsors. This situation resembles the plot of the novel *Frankenstein* published in 1818. Frankenstein, misusing science and scientific progress, creates a monster that gets out of control.

Ishiguro reflects his experiences through memories in his novels in a coherent account. McDonald refers to his writing style as autobiographical mode of writing since this is often the case where writers bear witness to a traumatic event, a historical moment, or a perceived social injustice (74). Ishiguro portrays a world which resembles our own with injustices. The science that normally aims at bringing prosperity and welfare to all individuals rises on abusing some other individuals, which turns into an ethical issue. "Ishiguro's novel draws on contemporary debates about the ethics of human cloning and stem-cell research" (Tsao 214). Using the element of memory in his novel, he creates another reality "an imagined past that could represent a real future, where Science Fiction again calls on our imaginations to act as a lens by which to scrutinize contemporary social dilemmas" (McDonald 82). As a dystopian world, *NLMG* warns the readers about a possible world that may be a result of misused scientific progress.

Although the clones do not have parents that may help them to adopt some social manners, they copy the manners of others by watching tv series especially at the Cottages (*NLMG* 118). This mannerism reminds us of black or native people who try to imitate the white in order to gain advantages that may play an important role in power relations. Imitating others, whether the white people or the normal human beings from the perspective of colonial textuality can be named as an attempt to be *almost the same but not quite* (Bhabha 89). Although the clones are the same as their original in their appearance, they are segregated to a lower class just because the purpose of their creation is different. The class system based on normal abnormal or human non-human dichotomy reveals itself clearly in the novel.

Hailsham, as an educational institution for clones, sets many restrictive rules. The power mechanism in operation, in addition to spoken rules, makes "an unspoken rule" for even asking about the gallery (*NLMG* 31). The same is true for ban on smoking. The clones hesitate asking questions about why smoking should be so much worse for them than for Lucy, who warns them about that. They understand that they were different from the guardians and the normal people outside and seeing that the guardians assume an embarrassing attitude for their possible questions, they just avoid asking questions (68).

Religion is not felt at all in *NLMG* except few words and expressions. Instead scientific course is dominating throughout the novel. Christianity, which had pervaded the social life with dogmatic principles and hard rules, was already shaken with publications of scientists and writers such as Charles Darwin in the Victorian era. And this, forming counter-arguments against the Bible, has continued since then. In the middle of the twentieth-century it became softer "for secularization proceeded apace after 1970" (*Finding a Role?* 371). "In the novel, Christianity appears to remain only in the form of relics" (Tsao 219) with "old churches beside fields" (*NLMG* 64) either as a part of a pastoral landscape or with "churchyard" as a place for encounters (194). "... traditional Christianity has made way for a new religious order in which human beings have themselves become deities" (Tsao 219). Science, when misused, becomes a horrible power. "Significant scientific advances in the world of *Never Let Me Go* have similarly elevated humans to the status of gods, endowing them not only with the ability to create life in their own image, but also with immortality, achieved by cutting their creations' lives short" (Tsao 220).

Harrison states that among Western industrial nations in the 1980s Britain ranked low in any list for the proportion of the population attending religious services. He adds that in their share of the UK population, those claiming to be Christians fell from 80 per cent in 1950 to 64 per cent in 2000, and members of Christian congregations fell from 24 per cent to 13 per cent" (*Finding a Role?* 371-372). By the time Ishiguro got his novel published in 2005, he was not living in a country dominated wholly by religion. That's why religion or related words are not used a lot in this novel.

The use of euphemism is one of the remarkable points in the novel. Euphemism, which means using a polite word instead of a word that may sound direct, unpleasant, or upsetting is used a lot in the novel. The words "complete" and "possible" are used instead of "die" and "normal", respectively. This technique has been used by some other dystopian novel writers as well. George Orwell, in his essay *Politics and the English Language*, conveys his ideas about the language and how it can be misused for the aims and benefits of political parties:

In our time, political speech and writing are largely the defence of the indefensible... Thus political language has to consist largely of euphemism, question-begging and sheer cloudy vagueness. Defenceless villages are bombarded from the air, the inhabitants driven out into the countryside, the cattle machine-gunned, the huts set on fire with incendiary bullets: this is called *pacification*. Millions of peasants are robbed of their farms and sent trudging along the roads with no more than they can carry: this is called *transfer of population* or *rectification of frontiers*. People are imprisoned for years without trial, or shot in the back of the neck or sent to die of scurvy in Arctic lumber camps: this is called *elimination of unreliable elements*. Such phraseology is needed if one wants to name things without calling up mental pictures of them. ("Politics and the English Language" 2390)

Kathy and her friends even connect a joke with Tommy. "The idea was that when the time came, you'd be able just to unzip a bit of yourself, a kidney or something would slide out, and you'd hand it over" (*NLMG* 86). When something abnormal such as organ harvesting turns into a routine, the jokes will naturally be about that context. "The word 'unzip' in this context makes the clones feel less human and be devalued. It seems like their bodies are merely an object" (Vichiensing 131). At the end of the novel, when Kathy and Tommy meet Madame and Miss Emily to ask for a deferral, Tommy begins to "unzip" his bag to show them his animal pictures to donate them to the gallery. "Yet, he faces the heartbreaking truth that the only sort of donation he is supposed to make will be "to unzip" his organs. The scene brings us back to school jokes about organs which one can 'unzip like a bag opening up' "(Dzhumaylo 93). The clones are described as "special" and they are treated with great care by the guardians. McDonald comments that this is one of the ways in which language can normalize atrocities deemed necessary in a given ideology (78). Language has always been an

important factor in persuading masses and creating unquestioning subjects out of them. It may, with the help of euphemism, change the ideas and even life of people.

The guardians, in the role of the parents of the clones, who in fact do not have fathers or mothers scientifically, take care of the clones during their early years at Hailsham. "It is a great irony that the care system is appropriated by the powers that be in the world of *Never Let Me Go* as an imitation of human familial care (Teo, *Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory* 75). Miss Emily, when answering the questions of curious Tommy and Kathy, calls them pawns but lucky pawns since Hailsham offered them better conditions compared to the conditions at other clone institutions. Her following sentence summarizes the care system they established at Hailsham: "But we sheltered you during those years, and we gave you your childhoods" (*NLMG* 263). "Childhood", a precious period in the short life of the clones, is the only tie of students to reach their past. It is a treasure for Kathy, who is telling us about all her memories. Ishiguro expresses that "to make this childhood work, you have to deceive them into believing it's all worthwhile" (Shaffer and Wong 218).

Child is shaped and raised in the social, cultural, political, and economic milieu of a society. "Childhood is not a static, objective and universal fact of human nature, but a social construction which is both culturally and historically determined" (Goldson 2). McDonald states that this social construction is fundamentally involved in a nexus of ideological forces, where the notion of childhood is often bound up in a register of nurturing, benevolence, and protection that can also reveal social injustices and discourses of power (77). The childhood of the clones at Hailsham is created for a specific purpose. The purpose is to use their vital organs for normal human beings. Miss Emily tries to convince Tommy and Kathy: "You built your lives on what we gave you. You wouldn't be who you are today if we'd not protected you" (NLMG 263)". Miss Emily is giving the impression that she is doing them a favour, but in fact this is a policy to apply their project in creating subjects to serve the power mechanism in force. "This subjection is not only obtained by the instruments of violence or ideology... it may be calculated, organized, technically thought out; it may be subtle, make use neither of weapons nor of terror and yet remain of a physical order" (Foucault, Discipline and Punish 26).

The realities are not told to the students at Hailsham. The clones too become aware of that. However, they hesitate for asking questions about themselves to the guardians. The place is isolated from the outside. They are obtained with little information from the guardians. But one day when Peter says to Gordon he would have to go to America to stand the best chance, Miss Lucy feels the need of telling them truth about themselves by making the following speech:

If no one else will talk to you," she continued, "then I will. The problem, as I see it, is that you've been told and not told. You've been told, but none of you really understand, and I dare say, some people are quite happy to leave it that way. But I'm not. If you're going to have decent lives, then you've got to know and know properly. None of you will go to America, none of you will be film stars. And none of you will be working in supermarkets as I heard some of you planning the other day. Your lives are set out for you. You'll become adults, then before you're old, before you're even middle-aged, you'll start to donate your vital organs. That's what each of you was created to do. You're not like the actors you watch on your videos, you're not even like me. You were brought into this world for a purpose, and your futures, all of them, have been decided. So you're not to talk that way any more. You'll be leaving Hailsham before long, and it's not so far off, the day you'll be preparing for your first donations. You need to remember that. If you're to have decent lives, you have to know who you are and what lies ahead of you, every one of you. (NLMG 79-80)

Lucy subverts the established practice of not telling the truth to the students. This is against the rules which require keeping information and reality from the clones and fooling them. Lucy informs them about who they are and for what purpose they have been created. This creates an ambiguous feeling with students. Upon this, she is fired and only years later when Kathy and Tommy visit Madame, they learn about Lucy from Miss Emily. Miss Emily, talking about Lucy, says that she wasn't with them for long, so for them she's just a peripheral figure in their memory of Hailsham. She adds that Lucy Wainright was idealistic, but she had no grasp of practicalities. Lucy was posing a threat for the discourse. She did not comply with the system that abused the students. Lucy did not understand why the students had to be creative since they were expected to complete.

Knowledge is really important. It means power over the subjects. The guardians and normal people living in England already know about the clones. The clones do not have to run away even when they stay at institutions such as the Cottages. They even do not have to be supervised either by the guardians or other authorities. They know their duty and for what purpose they have been created. The education they got at Hailsham only prepared them for this final stage. As the twig is bent, so is the tree inclined:

...power produces knowledge (and not simply by encouraging it because it serves power or by applying it use it is useful); that power and knowledge directly imply one another; that there is no power relation without the correlative constitution of a field of knowledge, nor any knowledge that does not presuppose and constitute at the same time power relations. (Foucault, *Discipline and Punish* 27)

The clones, although eager to learn about the truth, they know that it is embarrassing to ask many questions. It is difficult for them to understand the relation between knowledge and power and that they are subjects but not agents. They accept whatever is given to them. They do not know about the power mechanisms that shape their lives. They do not think about rebelling. Ishiguro, here also gives the message that there are facts that we may not change in our life.

Miss Emily is a representative of traditional authoritarian teachers that impose Hailsham specific discipline on clones. "...[She] is imitating the predominant political attitude of the 1970s, and partly expressing her own thought" (Hyvärinen 214).

The Cottages Kathy, Tommy, and Ruth move to after Hailsham when they are sixteen years old, are different in that they can walk around and go to further places without guardians. Toker and Chertoff express that although the Cottages are not behind barbed wire, this institution reinforces their sense of a structure which chains them to the mission for the sake of which they have been "created." The sense of a firm and fool-proof structure within whose bounds they enjoy a modicum of freedom has been instilled in them since their early experience at school (171). Although they got map lessons from Miss Emily, they did not have an idea about distances but they got help from veterans for trips. They were "bewildered" since they had never been

beyond Hailsham. The rules at the Cottages were not as strict as they were at Hailsham. They could watch as much to as they wanted (*NLMG* 116-119).

Kathy remembers that the guardians kept reminding them that they could take their collections with them to the Cottages but when they arrived there, they saw that the veterans had no collections. She understands that the collections are not very important now. It is just a pastime for them now and she throws them away after some time (*NLMG* 128-129).

Hailsham and the Cottages are the locations where the clones spend their years and then complete. "In the context of *Never Let Me Go*, there is a sense that the landscape of England is haunted by the ghosts of the clones who have previously been harvested for their organs" (Teo, *Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory* 76). The power controlling the subjects is felt throughout the novel. The guardians, for example, work in a hierarchical order for imposing the control mechanisms. "...the omnipresence of this pervasive power structure, reminiscent of that found in urban landscapes, is unrelenting and, like many of the physical places in the novel, is a panopticon" (Cannella 99).

Memories are private. In the case of Kathy and of course Ishiguro it represents their past. For Kathy in a world where their bodies belong to the others, this is her only possession. Ricoeur expresses that it is in memory that the original tie of consciousness to the past appears to reside and memory assures the temporal continuity of the person and, by this means, assures that identity whose difficulties and snares we confronted above (96). Their memories represent the only part of themselves that cannot be taken away from them by humankind (Teo, *Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory* 142). In his book titled *Memory*, *History*, *Forgetting*, Ricoeur focuses on importance of memory:

History can expand, complete, correct, even refute the testimony of memory regarding the past; it cannot abolish it. Why? Because, it seemed to us, memory remains the guardian of the ultimate dialectic constitutive of the pastness of the past, namely, the relation between the "no longer," which marks its character of being elapsed, abolished, superseded, and the "having-been," which designates its original and, in this sense, indestructible character. That something did actually

happen, this is the pre-predicative—and even pre-narrative—belief upon which rest the recognition of the images of the past and oral testimony. In this regard, events like the Holocaust and the great crimes of the twentieth century, situated at the limits of representation, stand in the name of all the events that have left their traumatic imprint on hearts and bodies: they protest that they were and as such they demand being said, recounted, understood. This protestation, which nourishes attestation, is part of belief: it can be contested but not refuted. (498)

For Kathy, her memories of Hailsham are unique and they form an indispensable part of her life since she and her friends had an unforgettable childhood that would contrast to her present life as a carer first and then a donor. She feels nostalgia for her Hailsham days and expresses that they were separated "...but still somehow linked by the place [they'd] come from" (NLMG 208). In Ishiguro's writing, dream or dream-like episodes frequently appear and often serve as vivid metaphors for loss and repression (Teo, Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory 80). Kathy hears about closing down of Hailsham. That night she has a dream in which she sees a clown carrying a bunch of helium balloons that had faces and ears. She was walking behind him for a long time with the balloons bumping and grinning at her. She could see he had them securely twisted together and in a tight grip. Kathy is afraid that one of the strings would be unravelled and one of the balloons would go up into the sky. Kathy, in her innocent world, imagines that strings are the students of Hailsham and the unravelling of them would be leaving their origin (NLMG 208-209). Ishiguro, with this novel, is probably looking back on his memories of Japan with some nostalgia. "Memory extends the sentiment of identity to all the moments of his existence" (Rousseau 78). It is through memories that Kathy is forming her identity.

Memory and truth can be examined under the topic of unreliability of memory in New Historicism. In many novels by Ishiguro we see that reaching the past through memory is idealized since the past is reconstituted as a way of escape from the present. The past is considered better than present and it is also seen as a tool to better the present. In an interview with Kevin Chong, Ishiguro says the following regarding memory: "But for Kathy, memory isn't such a treacherous thing as it is for some of the

other narrators, who have something they want to get away from in their memories while wanting to explore them at the same time" (Chong "Interview with Kazuo Ishiguro"). Greenblatt, in *Learning to Curse* states that although the past is not possible to bring it back, it is through memory to "bring it under rational control by trying to understand the way in which all voices come to be woven out of strands of alien experience" (11). The past can be reshaped by the rememberer.

While still at the Cottages, Ruth tells Kathy that Chrissie and Rodney claimed that they had seen her possible in an office while they were in Cromer, on the north Norfolk coast. This encourages Kathy to see the possible. They know that they all have a model and when they were outside in towns or shopping centres, they kept an eye for their "possibles" (NLMG 137). This is an attempt to find their root, origin. While having a discussion about that, they think they were "near territory [they] didn't want to enter". Still they all believed that when they saw their possible they were copied from, they'd get some insight into who they were "deep down" (158). They decide to go to Norfolk to find Ruth's possible. Before they leave for Norfolk, Kathy finds Ruth staring at a picture in a magazine. Ruth dreams of working in an office like her possible possible (142). Kathy, Chrissie, Rodney, Ruth, and Tommy leave for Norfolk to find Ruth's possible (143). However, the woman will turn out to be not Ruth's possible. Rizq states that the magnificently subjunctive status of the 'possible' is that it seems to provide a fantasy of origins, a promise of authenticity that the children feel will permit them to weave a myth about themselves that transcends their pitiful status as disposable items bred for the convenience of the outside world (529).

With traits that all normal beings have, the clones are curious and they cannot suppress this curiosity. The level the science has reached is bewildering and horrible at the same time. Designer babies are, for example, babies with their genetic makeup either selected or altered. And parents can have any baby with blue or brown eyes, with other characteristics upon their order. "With the twentieth-century technologies and developments, the boundaries between organism and machine, natural and artificial are blurred..." (Kümbet 94).

The students living at Hailsham are subjects. They are controlled by the guardians, educated and trained for a special purpose. Regarding the word "subject", Foucault puts forward two meanings: "subject to someone else by control and dependence; and tied to his own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge. Both meanings suggest a form of power which subjugates and makes subject to" (*The Subject and Power* 781).

The clones, as subjects, are othered by the normal human beings. They are sometimes seen like animals. Even Miss Emily, the head guardian of Hailsham, tells Tommy and Kathy that they are all afraid of them. "There were times I'd look down at you all from my study window and I'd feel such revulsion..." (*NLMG* 264). In fact, the clones are all aware of the repulsion that the normal human beings have for them. Kathy expresses that "there are people out there, like Madame, who don't hate you or wish you any harm, but who nevertheless shudder at the very thought of you—of how you were brought into this world and why—and who dread the idea of your hand brushing against theirs" (36). Madame as well, the benefactor for Hailsham, calls them "Poor creatures" (249). The caretaker of the Cottages did not like to talk to them much either (114).

In search for her model, Ruth knows how the normal people will treat them in case they learn who they are: "We all know it. We're modelled from trash. Junkies, prostitutes, winos, tramps. Convicts, maybe, just so long as they aren't psychos. That's what we come from" (*NLMG* 164). They feel they are marginalized, othered, and even punished. "Beneath the humanization of the penalties, what one finds are all those rules that authorize, or rather demand, 'leniency,' as a calculated economy of the power to punish. But they also provoke a shift in the point of application of this power: it is no longer the body... but the soul..." (Foucault, *Discipline and Punish* 101). The clones do not live with normal human beings side by side even in the Cottages. Kathy and her friends meet the veterans when they arrive there. Kathy feels othered because one night she realises that *other* people use the byways and these dark byways of the country existed just for the likes of them, while the big glittering motorways with their huge signs and super cafés were for everyone else (*NLMG* 267).

Kathy and her friends are not provided with knowledge about outside world since they are observed by the guardians and sheltered at Hailsham. The institution uses its power over them to control them. The authorities at Hailsham disguises the atrocity and inhumane plans from the children and create a context in which they seem to give value to the students and raise them in the best way. Controlling the students of Hailsham reaches to such an extent that even rumours serve the power of the authorities:

There were all kinds of horrible stories about the woods. Once, not so long before we all got to Hailsham, a boy had had a big row with his friends and run off beyond the Hailsham boundaries. His body had been found two days later, up in those woods, tied to a tree with the hands and feet chopped off. Another rumour had it that a girl's ghost wandered through those trees. She'd been a Hailsham student until one day she'd climbed over a fence just to see what it was like outside. This was a long time before us, when the guardians were much stricter, cruel even, and when she tried to get back in, she wasn't allowed. She kept hanging around outside the fences, pleading to be let back in, but no one let her. Eventually, she'd gone off somewhere out there, something had happened and she'd died. But her ghost was always wandering about the woods, gazing over Hailsham, pining to be let back in. (*NLMG* 50)

The purpose of letting such rumours wander around is to prevent students from attempting to leave the borders of Hailsham. "Rumors abound of Hailsham runaways who have had their hands and feet cut off as punishment or have been left to starve outside the gates, but these seem mostly to heighten the children's sense that they are safe within the grounds" (Jones 32). This is an example in which subversion is contained.

As in the mechanism of Panopticon, students will not need guardians for obeying the rules defined for them. They will be their own guardians and will not cross the boundaries to the normal world. Greenblatt, regarding New Historicism, expresses that "it does tend to discover limits or constraints upon individual intervention. Actions that appear to be single are disclosed as multiple; the apparently isolated power of the individual genius turns out to be bound up with collective, social energy (*Learning to Curse* 221). Power is exercised and it needs not only one person but at least a group of people to be effective.

Ishiguro is portraying a world in which students of Hailsham are indoctrinated to serve the normal human beings. They are indoctrinated that their destiny is already determined and there is no escape from this. There is no security to prevent the clones from running away during their stay at the Cottages. Foucault, drawing attention to how power functions, states that it is not something that is acquired, seized, or shared, something that one holds on to or allows to slip away; power is exercised from innumerable points, in the interplay of nonegalitarian and mobile relations (*History of Sexuality I 94*). Individuals are situated differently in power relations. For Foucault, how power is exercised is more important than power holders. The clones are not aware of the power holders. They are just subjects whose lives are directed by the others. Hailsham itself has a panoptic structure. It controls not only the bodies of the clones but also their souls:

Bentham laid down the principle that power should be visible and unverifiable. Visible: the inmate will constantly have before his eyes the tall outline of the central tower from which he is spied upon. Unverifiable: the inmate must never know whether he is being looked at at any one moment; but he must be sure that he may always be so. (Foucault, *Discipline and Punish* 201)

Even when they stand in the lunch queue, they warn each other about someone likely to be passing within earshot (*NLMG* 22). It is evident throughout the book that the clones desire another fate than the one society has predestined (Mohr et al. 26). But they cannot surpass the limits defined for them. The power of the dominant ideology is clearly felt here. "...the humanities education at Hailsham is at best a deception or lie, and at worst, complicit with the system of political oppression to which the clones are subject" (Whitehead 57).

Kathy, Tommy, Ruth and other clones are like normal human beings. They have sex as well like the normal youth. However, even having sex at Hailsham is conducted under some rules. They get courses from Miss Emily about sex. They even know about gay sex. The guardians were odd about the clone sex in spite of knowing that they couldn't have babies. They are warned about not catching any diseases during sex (*NLMG* 93-95). They seem to have individuality "but that individuality is a mirage, a parody of liberty" (Wood 39). In the first volume of *History of Sexuality*, Foucault,

analysing the eighteenth-century boarding schools says: "On the whole, one can have the impression that sex was hardly spoken of at all in these institutions. But one only has to glance over the architectural layout, the rules of discipline, and their whole internal organization: the question of sex was a constant preoccupation" (27). Hailsham shapes even the sex life of its subjects, which is part of a discourse of power.

Hailsham and all other facilities serve as panopticon for the clones. Foucault uses the mechanism of Panopticon to show power relations and control mechanisms. "The panoptic mechanism arranges spatial unities that make it possible to see constantly and to recognize immediately" (*Discipline and Punish* 200). It is through spatial unities that the panopticon provides power to control individuals and even knowledge. "It locates individuals in space, in a hierarchical and efficiently visible organization" (Rabinow 19). Although Kathy, seems to have a better condition as a carer compared to her friends, she is nevertheless under the effect of the panoptic power. She is, like the other clones, is a subject to it. "The reader and the clones never have a full understanding of who is in charge or what has caused the creation of this near-future regime of clones, created and maintained in order to provide humans with replacement" (Cannella 98).

"Knowledge is power" according to Foucault. This is definitely true for information age. In every day life, people without knowledge lose their self-confidence and respect from the others. In theories of Foucault regarding knowledge, it is used as a control mechanism. It is not given at once to the children at Hailsham. "Knowledge is meted out in small doses, like a series of inoculations" (Jones 33). Children at Hailsham are isolated from the outside world where normal human beings live. This resembles Foucault's idea of how the inmates of prisons are separated from the society.

Looking at subversion and containment, it can be said that love and memory are used as subversion here. The love between Kathy and Tommy make them ask for a deferral from Miss Emily and Madame. The clones are not expected to love each other in the eyes of the authorities at Hailsham. Kate's memory, on the other hand, from the beginning to the end of the novel provides the readers with her private world. Nobody, no guardian can break it.

Kathy learns that Tommy completes and drives up to Norfolk and stops by a field to watch the scenery. Once more she finds her life hindered. This time by a fence, preventing her to enter the field, which metaphorically refers to the power dominating her and the clones. Looking at the field she feels everything she lost return to her:

I found I was standing before acres of ploughed earth. There was a fence keeping me from stepping into the field, with two lines of barbed wire, and I could see how this fence and the cluster of three or four trees above me were the only things breaking the wind for miles... That was the only time, as I stood there, looking at that strange rubbish, feeling the wind coming across those empty fields, that I started to imagine just a little fantasy thing, because this was Norfolk after all, and it was only a couple of weeks since I'd lost him... and I half-closed my eyes and imagined this was the spot where everything I'd ever lost since my childhood had washed up, and I was now standing here in front of it, and if I waited long enough, a tiny figure would appear on the horizon across the field, and gradually get larger until I'd see it was Tommy, and he'd wave, maybe even call. The fantasy never got beyond that-I didn't let it-and though the tears rolled down my face, I wasn't sobbing or out of control. I just waited a bit, then turned back to the car, to drive off to wherever it was I was supposed to be. (*NLMG* 281-282)

Ishiguro was affected by the social, economic, and political climate of his period when he wrote his novel, even when he imagined the plots and the characters in his works. Technological developments or scientific progress, although they are thought to bring prosperity for all individuals, may turn the life of some to *utopia* and of the others to *dystopia*. The ending of *NLMG* is pessimistic like the end of the first two novels analysed here. New Historicism itself is pessimistic in that subversion is contained within power relations. Love, memories, or art, which make the clones reach the same level as the normal human beings, will not save Kathy and Tommy. What is felt here is the erosion of hopes. On the other hand, Ishiguro gives the message that human life accompanied with free-will and the ability of making choices is very important.

CONCLUSION

The Fixed Period (1882), A Clockwork Orange (1962), and Never Let Me Go (2005) reflect the cultural, social, and political characteristics of their periods and the power relations dominant during these eras. Each novel is revolving around its contemporary issues and reflecting its social, political, and cultural atmosphere. In The Fixed Period, we feel the imperial power and colonization, in A Clockwork Orange the youth and the violence of 1960s, and finally in Never Let Me Go the horror of scientific power. The dissertation has revealed that control mechanisms and power relations change from period to period. Power is not something possessed as Foucault says. It shifts and it is omnipresent. It needs areas of exercise for its effect to be felt and it needs free individuals to create subjects.

New Historicism regards texts as political entities since they are cultural, social, and political formations of their periods. The texts are influenced by the writers who have a cultural background and experiences in a specific period. While traditional historicism attempts to create an objective history, New Historicism sees creating of history subjective and believes that it is reconstructed with our present understanding. Unlike traditional historicism, New Historicism gives equal weight to literary and non-literary texts since all of them are regarded as cultural artefacts.

The authors of the novels studied in this dissertation were affected by their periods and this is obvious in the plots they have chosen and the characters they created. Thus, their novels serve as a reflection of their worlds with the dominant discourses and ideologies. The life story of the authors has been given in detail along with non-literary texts. Analysing the biographies, letters, interviews helps in seeing the pervasive ideas of a specific period. Studying the historical context is important in New Historicism. All three novels were studied along with their contemporary works to see how such texts reflected their period and how the authors dealt with such issues in their own era.

Trollope himself had witnessed the colonization period and imperial discourse. His novel reflects an important social issue: aging. It is his aging, as a personal experience, that he decided to write his The Fixed Period. Trollope must have been anxious about the population increase and the number of elderly people. In addition, his growing age contributed to write such a pessimistic novel. Any person reaching the age of sixty-seven will be sent to the college to be cremated. The Victorian Period, compared to previous centuries, was a period in which average-life expectancy increased thanks to better hygienic conditions, newly found vaccinations for various diseases, education level of women, and improvement in many other areas. Mr Neverbend, the mouthpiece of Trollope, introduces a new law that requires the forced euthanasia of any reaching that specific age. The logic behind this brutal idea is that the citizens of Britannula should have welfare and prosperity at standard levels. The idea of creating a fictional country with the name Britannula, which also suggests Britain, was based on travel experiences of Trollope, who wrote many travel books as well. He had visited New Zealand and some other colonies of Britain. He was sensitive to politics and familiar with Irish issue since he worked for post office service in Ireland, which probably gave him the idea of creating his country in his novel. He wrote a series of parliamentary novels which shows he was familiar with issues of lawmaking and he witnessed the social reforms of his time. Supporting the parliamentary system, he was against a one-man regime and he even supported the self-rule of people. He wanted to be a politician. Regarding Christianity, he believed in God but he was against the guiding of individuals in all aspects of their lives.

Burgess, in a similar way, was affected by the social and cultural milieu, and his personal experiences when he wrote his novel. His giving place to classical music in *A Clockwork Orange* is rooted in his childhood when he regularly attended concerts with his father. He was a Roman Catholic. That's why he used Christianity with prison chaplain, who gives sermons to prisoners every Sunday in the novel. Burgess himself had discussions about different approaches in Christianity but did not follow religious practices strictly. He was a person who emphasized the free will. He received his BA in English language and literature. That's why he was familiar with the structure of languages and created a language called Nadsat, a blend of Russian and Cockney English, for the youth in his novel. His visiting Russia was certainly influential in his creating Nadsat. He was influenced by the youth he saw in Leningrad. He had read

Dostoyevsky's *Crime and Punishment*, which possibly made him write *A Clockwork Orange* with violent scenes. While in Leningrad, he had met Russian Teddy Boys. 1960s was a period during which the youth not only in England but also in many countries rebelled against the authorities. His wife Lynne had been attacked by some American deserters during a black-out and since she was pregnant, she miscarried because of the beating. This event created a trauma effect on Burgess who gives place to rape and violence in the novel.

Ishiguro, the author of the third novel studied in this dissertation, writes his novels feeling some kind of nostalgia for the past and reflects this to his novels. His search for rootedness stems from moving to England from Japan with his family when he was little. His upbringing in the English countryside occupied by less people made him create characters who do not feel very social and in fact are not joyous. He worked as a community worker in Glasgow, then with the homeless at a resettlement center in London and met his future wife Lorna. Like Burgess, he was interested in music. He wrote more than one hundred songs and created the eponymous song, "Never Let Me Go". His first novels have Japanese characters and the setting is postwar period in them, which means he was deeply affected by postwar environment. He visited Auschwitz and the Birkenau concentration camps in 1999. He gives place to soldiers kept in prison camps in the conversation of the students in *NLMG*. That's why Ishiguro states that he feels obliged to have the duty to pass on the memories and lessons of the Second World War from their parents' generation to the one after their own.

The theories of Greenblatt and especially of Foucault have been applied to the novels. New Historicism was greatly influenced by Foucault's concepts related to power, control, and ideology. In *The Fixed Period* euthanasia is seen as the way of removing the elderly in Britannula in order to create welfare and a dynamic society. It was seen that theories of Thomas Robert Malthus regarding overpopulation and Darwin's survival of the fittest theory already existed when Trollope wrote his novel. *The Fixed Period*, as a dystopian novel, is a satirical work that warns the society for possible dangers. The danger here, for Trollope, is overpopulation and having more elderly people, which may be a hindrance for the prosperity and the welfare of the society. The decision of the Fixed Period, although may mean prosperity in the long

term for the citizens of Britannula, means murdering those who reach the age of sixtyseven, which is a brutal act.

New Historicism seeks to find sites of struggle to identify power holders. Mr Neverbend tries to create a society with utopic ideals but that would be dystopic for any reaching that specific age. Before his law is enacted, he is opposed by many people to stop the enforcement of the law. Those who oppose him, inform the British who come to conquer the island. Foucault mentions how the power holders construct the members or subjects and how they are constructed. It is the people in a society or those holding the power that decide for what is normal and what is not. Mr Neverbend, once an agent, is now a subject under the British rule. The same thing can be said for Alex in A Clockwork Orange. Alex, controlling the streets with his droogs, becomes powerless when he is arrested. In Never Let Me Go, Kathy, although a clone and subject, serves the authorities as a carer first. She then becomes a donor like other clones. Mr Neverbend, as the president moves with the desire of controlling the whole individuals. It is with his guidance that the law passes in the parliament of Britannula. In The History of Sexuality, Foucault uses biopower and biopolitics to define the mechanisms run by those in power. He states that the disciplining of the body and control of population such as births and mortality, the level of health, life expectancy and longevity by those in power began to be designed starting from the seventeenth century.

The dissertation has found that power mechanisms and discourse from Trollope's period to Burgess' period have changed as a result of technological, scientific and cultural changes. Conditions that existed in 1880s were different from the conditions of the 1960s, the post-war period. The teenagers of 1960s were freer compared to the youth generation of previous centuries. They were subject to less supervision and often went to clubs, discos, or street corners. Scientific and technological developments brought about socio-political and cultural changes which caused power and control mechanisms to operate differently. The title of the novel *A Clockwork Orange* suggests an individual transformed into a machine-like being. The authorities here make use of scientific developments in order to control their subject Alex. Ludovico's technique, which aims at eliminating the free-will of a person

through conditioning, was inspired from B. F. Skinner's and Ivan Pavlov's social conditioning. The treatment aims at having behavioural changes with the person so that he/she can be a docile person devoid of making choices. The government tries to create a utopian society by removing the motives of violence in the youth. Foucault calls the society carceral, which means the person is controlled and manipulated by the system. For Burgess, feelings and emotions are removed when the free will of a person is taken.

2000s, the decade in which the novel *Never Let Me Go* was written by Ishiguro, submitted a different discourse with power relations specific to itself. The plot of the novel revolves around the prominent issues such as scientific progress on health and trauma left by World War Two. Cloning animals and even human beings, the ultimate point that scientific discourse has reached, is a marker of this period. Ishiguro had heard about advances in biotechnology on the radio and decided to use this in his novel. This is another indicator regarding the effect of the author's social and cultural milieu on himself. Ishiguro uses a speculative past making the setting 1990s for his novel. NLMG, as a dystopian novel, reflects the anxieties and horrors of its era. The dissertation has found that although this novel uses a speculative past, in fact it implies a possible future with victims of science. The clones' subjectivity results in their losing their individuality. Religion is portrayed not in the manner of rituals or dogmatism but only with churches mentioned in the form of relics. It is implied that scientific progress such as gene-mapping or human cloning has been elevated to the status of god. In other words, scientists have stolen the role of the god by extending the average life expectancy of some individuals.

All three novels attempt to create a utopian world but end with dystopian worlds instead. Mr Neverbend in *The Fixed Period*, as the power holder, sets the age limit sixty-seven and any person reaching that age would be sent to the college to be killed with euthanasia. Thus, the number of the elderly would decrease and there would be more prosperity in the country. The authorities in *A Clockwork Orange*, on the other hand, try to eliminate the youth crime and violence and thus have a peaceful country. But the methods they use are brutal since they dehumanize the persons like Alex by removing their free will. In *Never Let Me Go*, the authorities create clones for the

benefit of some elite people who need organs. While trying to create a utopian world for them, the authorities use the organs of the clones who are victims of "some cold system" as Ishiguro names it.

Language is part of the discourse of a specific era. It is discourse that defines and shapes our perception of the world. The research has found that in all three novels language is used for the benefit of power holders. Manipulation of language is another means of control. Mr Neverbend, as a politician, forbids the use of *murder* but justifies the killings. Instead of *Necropolis* he uses *College* just to keep people away from the idea of death. In *A Clockwork Orange* Nadsat symbolizes the power and identity of a specific group of people. The words "complete" and "possible" are used for "die" and "normal" in *Never Let Me Go* as euphemism. Manipulation of language is a technique commonly found in dystopian novels. It is language that normalizes the atrocities.

Foucault states that it is dominant class that determines what is 'right' or 'not right'. The Fixed Period was decided not only by Mr Neverbend but also by other representatives of the parliament. According to Foucault, truth did not exist with a universal feature. It is also produced by power mechanisms. Ludovico's technique in *A Clockwork Orange* was applied by the government selected by the majority of the people. It was the power holders that tried to convince people that this technique was influential. In *Never Let Me Go*, there are no ethical concerns regarding the establishments such as Hailsham. This is a sign that the majority of the people have already thought that they would benefit from such scientific developments. The clones, on the other hand, with no resistance to the authorities have submitted themselves to the prevalent power mechanisms as Greenblatt says: "...[T]he *power* to impose a shape upon oneself is an aspect of the more general power to control identity..." (*Renaissance Self-Fashioning* 1).

One of the tenets of New Historicism is that subversion is always contained by the dominant power or ideology. Subversion and containment, two elements that are studied in power relations, have been analysed to find out how the authors reflected the issues they dealt with in their novels. The dissertation has found that Trollope gave importance to the happiness of Englishman rather than England's greatness. *The Fixed*

Period subverts the British colonialism accusing the empire to invade and annex other lands such as Britannula by force. However, this subversion is contained as Mr Neverbend is taken into custody by the British. In A Clockwork Orange, Alex acts as a subversive power by saying that in the modern world they have not admitted to be subjects against governments donated with excessive power. But this subversion is contained when he changes at the end of the novel. In Never Let Me Go, love and memory are used as subversion. The authorities do not expect the clones to love each other like normal human beings. The clones are just seen as biological copies of their possibles who can meet their needs through random sex. Memory for Kate is her identity, her private world. However, this subversion will be contained as they begin to donate their organs and complete.

Panopticon, invented by Jeremy Bentham, is used by Foucault to define modern disciplinary society. It does not necessarily refer to a building that functions as prison. In *The Fixed Period*, just because of the law to send those reaching the age of sixty-seven to death, all Island becomes Panopticon since citizens will be closely watched as they near that age. In *A Clockwork Orange*, Ludovico's technique itself is a panoptic mechanism since through this treatment, Alex will keep himself from committing crimes. In *Never Let Me Go*, panopticon provides power to control the students not only at Hailsham but also at other facilities as well. Although they seem to have the opportunity of running away while at the Cottages, they never think about that since they know that their destiny is already programmed for them. In all three novels, the characters are exposed to either Ideological State Apparatuses or Repressive State Apparatuses defined by Althusser.

The dissertation, with the New Historicist reading, has showed that each period has its own pervasive mode of power and ideology that create individuals. Power relations and control mechanisms change from period to period in line with social and cultural changes in societies. As Booker says, it was by the end of the nineteenth century that science and technology became symbols of human weakness in addition to becoming a symbol of human capability. Foucault states that premodern power intervened in subjects' lives only intermittently but modern societies from day one to shape, train, and normalize individuals (Cain et al 1618).

The setting of the three novels regarding the time has common points. *The Fixed Period* takes place in 1980, *A Clockwork Orange* takes place in the near future after 1962 which is approximately 1980s and *Never Let Me Go*, with a speculative past, goes back to 1990s. The dissertation has revealed that even the fictions imagined in the minds of the authors for writing their novels were designed by the conditions of their periods. Trollope is projecting a future world of a hundred years later but many items, except few inventions, belong to his period. Burgess, although projecting a near future, portrays a violent youth he himself witnessed in his period. Ishiguro was definitely under the effect of scientific developments and post-war conditions when he created his clones.

All the novels have pessimistic endings since the protagonists cannot overthrow the power. Neverbend, the president of Britannula, becomes powerless as he is taken to England on a British ship. Alex cannot behave with his free-will and Kathy becomes a donor to submit her organs to her *possible*.

In the Age of Enlightenment, the concept of science was perceived as if to bring prosperity and a utopian world for the nations. This tendency continued in Industrial Revolution as well. Mechanisation, technology, and science all were thought to increase the life standards of people and contribute to a welfare society. However, such developments contributed to the creation of more control mechanisms. Human beings did not only dominate the nature but also each other. In addition, mechanization, technology, and science did not only increase the level of civilization of people but also brought two devastating wars killing millions of people and causing great traumas thereafter. As a consequence, the twentieth century is known as the rise of dystopian novels.

New Historicism regards texts as strong formations of their social, cultural, and political contexts. The dissertation in this aspect, contributes to understanding the relation between the novels and their three different periods with differing power mechanisms and discourses. With this theory, the purpose of the dissertation has been to help to understand the cultural and intellectual history of the conditions of 1880s, 1960s, and 2000s better.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abrams, M. H. A Glossary of Literary Terms. Seventh ed. Boston: Heinle & Heinle, 1999.
- Adrian-Vallance, Evadne. "Individualism." *Longman Exam Dictionary*. Seventh Impression. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited, 2009, p.781.
- Aggeler, Geoffrey. *Anthony Burgess: The Artist as Novelist.* University of Alabama Press, 1979.
- ---. Critical Essays on Anthony Burgess. G.K. Hall, 1986.
- Ahmed, Mohammad Kaosar, and Md Mizanur Rahman. "Reading Burgess's A Clockwork Orange: Cultural Oddities and Their Social Impact." *IIUC Studies*, 7 (2012): 63–72.
- Alberts, Bruce, et al. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. Ed. Nur Buyru et al. Trans. Oğuz Altungöz et al. New York: Garland Science, 2003.
- Althusser, Louis. Essays on Ideology. London: Verso, 1984.
- Amis, Martin. Foreword: A Clockwork Orange. London: Penguin Classics, 2013.
- Aproberts, Ruth. "Trollope and the Zeitgeist." *Nineteenth-Century Fiction* 37.3 (1982): 259-271.
- Athenaeus. *The Deipnosophists*. Translated by C. D. Yonge, vol. 1, London: Harvard University Press, 1853.
- Bacon, Francis. New Atlantis. The Floating Press, 2009.
- Barry, Peter. Beginning Theory: An Introduction to Literary and Cultural Theory. Manchester: Manchester UP, 1995.
- Beaumont, Matthew. *Utopia Ltd.: Ideologies of Social Dreaming in England, 1870-1900.* Leiden: Brill, 2005.
- Ben-Yishai, Ayelet. "Trollope and the law." *The Cambridge Companion to Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Dever, Carolyn and Lisa Niles. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2011, pp. 155-167.
- Bhabha, Homi. The Location of Culture. New York: Routledge, 1994.
- Bigelow, Gordon. "Trollope and Ireland." *The Cambridge Companion to Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Dever, Carolyn and Lisa Niles. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2011, pp. 196-209.

- "Biobibliographical Notes" *The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017*. Nobel Media AB 2019, Sun. 20 Oct 2019. www.nobelprize.org/prizes/literature/2017/biobibliography/.
- Birns, Nicholas. "Trollope and the Antipodes." *The Cambridge Companion to Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Dever, Carolyn and Lisa Niles. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2011, pp. 181-195.
- Biswell, Andrew. The Real Life of Anthony Burgess. London: Picador, 2006.
- ---. "Introduction" A Clockwork Orange. London: Penguin Classics, 2013.
- Bizzini, Silvia Caporale. "Recollecting Memories, Reconstructing Identities: Narrators as Storytellers in Kazuo Ishiguro's When We Were Orphans and Never Let Me Go." *Journal of the Spanish Association of Anglo-American Studies* 32.2 (2013): 65–80.
- BookBrowse. "Kazuo Ishiguro Author Interview." *BookBrowse.com*, <www.bookbrowse.com/author_interviews/full/index.cfm/author_number/4 77/kazuo-ishiguro>.
- Booker, M. Keith. *Dystopian Literature: A Theory and Research Guide*. Westport: Greenwood Press, 1994.
- ---. The Dystopian Impulse in Modern Literature: Fiction as Social Criticism. Westport: Greenwood Press, 1994.
- Brannigan, John. New Historicism and Cultural Materialism. New York: St. Martin's, 1998.
- Brook, Thomas. "The New Historicism and other Old-fashioned Topics" *The New Historicism*. Ed. Veeser, H. Aram. New York: Routledge, 1989. p.184.
- Bryson, Bill. "Between Two Worlds." *The New York Times*, 29 Apr. 1990, www.nytimes.com/1990/04/29/magazine/between-two-worlds.html
- Burgess, Anthony. A Clockwork Orange. W.W. Norton & Co., 2011.
- ---. Anthony Burgess Interviewed in Italy in 1974 about A Clockwork Orange, ."
- ---. A Clockwork Orange. London: Penguin Group, 2012.
- ---. 1985. UK:CPI Group, 2013.
- Butcher, James. "A Wonderful Donation." The Lancet 365. 9467 (2005): 1299-1300.

- Buzard, James. "Trollope and travel." *The Cambridge Companion to Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Dever, Carolyn and Lisa Niles. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2011, pp. 168-180.
- Cain, William E., et al. *Norton Anthology of Theory and Criticism*. Edited by Vincent B. Leitch, New York: Norton & Company Limited, W. W., 2001.
- Campanella, Tommaso. The City of the Sun: A Poetical Dialogue between a Grandmaster of the Knights Hospitallers and a Genoese Sea-Captain, His Guest. The Floating Press, 2009.
- Cannella, Megan E. "Unreliable Physical Places and Memories as Posthuman Narration in Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Sanglap: Journal of Literary and Cultural Inquiry* 3.2 (2017): 92–126.
- Carroll, Rachel. "Imitations of Life: Cloning, Heterosexuality and the Human in Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Journal of Gender Studies* 19. 1 (2010): 59–71.
- Chong, Kevin. "Interview with Kazuo Ishiguro." *Books in Canada Review*, www.booksincanada.com/article-view.asp?id=4475.
- Christopher, David. British Culture: An Introduction. London: Routledge, 1999.
- Cire, Barbara. "World's older population grows dramatically." *National Institutes of Health*, 28 Mar. 2016, <www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/worlds-older-population-grows-dramatically>.
- Ciugureanu, Adina. *Post-War Anxieties: British Literature in the 1950s and the 1960s*. Ex Ponto, 2006.
- Claeys, Gregory, and Lyman Tower Sargent. *The Utopia Reader*. New York: New York UP, 1999.
- Claeys, Gregory. *Imperial Sceptics: British Critics of Empire*, 1850-1920. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge UP, 2010.
- ---. The Cambridge Companion to Utopian Literature. Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2010.
- "Cloning Dolly the Sheep." *Animal Research Info*, 3 Nov. 2014, 16 Oct. 2019. http://www.animalresearch.info/en/medical-advances/timeline/cloning-dolly-the-sheep/.
- Coale, Samuel, and Anthony Burgess. *Anthony Burgess*. New York: F. Ungar Pub. Co., 1981. Print.
- Cockshut, A.O.J. *Anthony Trollope A Critical Study*. London and Glasgow: Collins, 1968.

- Cohen, William A. "The Palliser Novels." *The Cambridge Companion to Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Dever, Carolyn and Lisa Niles. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2011, pp. 44-57.
- "Collectivism." *Encylopaedia Britannica*, Encylopaedia Britannica, Inc., 19 Sept. 2007, < www.britannica.com/topic/collectivism>.
- Conrad, Joseph. Heart of Darkness. Great Britain: Penguin Popular Classics, 1994.
- Cook-Deegan, Robert Mullan. *Biomedical Politics: The Human Genome Project, The Formation of Federal Policies in the United States, 1986–1990.* Edited by Kathi E. Hanna, Washington (DC): National Academy, 1991.
- Dalziel, Raewyn. "Southern Islands: New Zealand and Polynesia." *The Nineteenth Century*. Ed. Porter, Andrew and Alaine Low. Great Britain: Oxford University Press, 1999, pp. 573-595.
- Davies, Hugh Sykes. Trollope. London: Longmans, Green, 1960.
- De Villiers, J.H., and M. Slabbert. "Never Let Me Go :1 Science Fiction and Legal Reality." *Literator* 32. 3(2011): 85–103.
- Descartes René. *The Philosophical Writings of Descartes: Volume II.* Translated by John Cottingham et al., Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- DeVitis, A.A. Anthony Burgess. New York: Twayne, 1972.
- Dix, Carol M. Anthony Burgess. Harlow: Longman, 1971.
- Dzhumaylo, Olga. "What Kathy Knew: Hidden Plot in *Never Let Me Go*" *Kazuo Ishiguro in a Global Context*. Edited by Cynthia F. Wong and Yildiz Hülya, Burlington, VT: Ashgate, 2015.
- Eagleton, Terry. Literary Theory. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing. 1996.
- Ezeh, Mary Isabella Ada. "William Shakespeare and Freewill: A Libertarian and Naturalistic Enquiry into The Actions of Macbeth." *Global Journal of Arts Humanities and Social Sciences* 3.2 (2015): 75–80.
- Ezekiel, J. Emanuel. "The History of Euthanasia Debates in the United States and Britain." *Annals of Internal Medicine* 121.10 (1994): 793–802.
- Ferrari, Giovanni R., and Tom Griffith. *Plato: The Republic*. Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2003.
- Foucault, Michel. *Archaeology of Knowledge and The Discourse on Language*. Translated by A. M. Sheridan Smith, New York: Pantheon Books, 1972.
- ---. *The History of Sexuality*. Translated by Robert Hurley, Vol. I, New York: Pantheon Books, 1978.

- ---. Power/Knowledge:Selected Interviews and Other Writings 1972-1977. Edited by Colin Gordon. Translated by Colin Gordon et al., New York: Pantheon Books, 1980.
- ---. "The Subject and Power." *Critical Inquiry* 8.4 (1982): 777–795.
- ---. *Madness and Civilization: A History of Insanity in The Age of Reason*. Translated by Richard Howard, New York: Vintage Books, 1988.
- ---. *Discipline and Punish: The Birth of The Prison*. Translated by Alan Sheridan, New York: Vintage Books, 1995.
- ---. *Power*. Edited by James D. Faubion. Translated by Robert Hurley, vol. 3, New York: The New Press, 2000.
- ---. *The Order of Things: An Archaeology of The Human Sciences*. London: Routledge, 2002.
- Fox-Genovese, Elizabeth. "Literary Criticism and the Politics of the New Historicism" *The New Historicism*. Ed. Veeser, H. Aram. New York: Routledge, 1989. p.217.
- Franey, Laura E. Victorian Travel Writing and Imperial Violence: British Writing on Africa, 1855-1902. Houndmills, Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan, 2003.
- Fredman, Alice Green. *Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Tindall, William York. New York: Columbia UP, 1971.
- Freud, Sigmund. Civilization and Its Discontents. England: Chrysoma Associates, 2005.
- Fromm, Erich, and David Ingleby. *The Sane Society*. London: Routledge, 2002.
- Gallagher, Catherine, and Stephen Greenblatt. *Practicing New Historicism*. The University of Chicago Press, 2000.
- Garland, David. *The Culture of Control: Crime and Social Order in Contemporary Society*. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2001.
- Geertz, Clifford. The Interpretation of Cultures. New York: Basic Books Inc., 1973.
- Glendinning, Victoria. Anthony Trollope. Hutchinson, 1992.
- Goldson, Barry. 'Childhood': An Introduction to Historical and Theoretical Analyses, 'Childhood' in 'Crisis'?. London: UCL Press, 1997.
- Gordin, Michael D., et al. *Utopia/Dystopia: Conditions of Historical Possibility*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2010.

- Green, Keith, and Jill LeBihan. *Critical Theory and Practice: A Coursebook*. London: Routledge, 1996.
- Greenblatt, Stephan. Renaissance Self-Fashioning: From More to Shakespeare. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1980.
- ---. Representing the English Renaissance. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1988.
- ---. Shakespearean Negotiations: The Circulation of Social Energy in Renaissance England. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1988.
- ---. Learning to Curse: Essays in Early Modern Culture. London: Routledge. 1990.
- ---. *Introduction to Power of Forms in the English Renaissance*. Norman, OK: Pilgrim Books, 2001.
- ---. *The Greenblatt Reader*. Ed. Michael Payne. Malden: Blackwell Publishing, 2005. Print.
- ---. Shakespeare's Freedom. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2010.
- Griffin, Gabriele. "Science and the Cultural Imaginary: The Case of Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Textual Practice* 23.4: (2009): 645–663.
- Guo, Wen. "Human Cloning as the Other in Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *CLCWeb: Comparative Literature and Culture* 17.5 (2015): doi:10.7771/1481-4374.2728.
- Hall, N. John. Trollope: A Biography. New York: Clarendon. Oxford, 1991.
- Halperin, John. Trollope and Politics: *A Study of the Pallisers and Others*. London: Macmillan, 1977.
- Hamilton, Paul. Historicism. New York: Routledge, 1996.
- Handley, Graham. "Introduction" *Trollope the Traveller*. London: William Pickering, 1993.
- Harris, John. On Cloning. Routledge, 2004.
- Harrison, Brian. Seeking a Role the United Kingdom, 1951-1970. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- ---. Finding a Role?: the United Kingdom, 1970-1990. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 2011.
- Head, Dominic. *The Cambridge Introduction to Modern British Fiction, 1950-2000.* United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- Heath, Kay. Aging by The Book: The Emergence of Midlife in Victorian Britain. Albany: SUNY, 2009.

- Hensher, Philip. "Books," Harper's and Queen (May 1995): 21.
- Hesiod. *Theogony: and, Works and Days*. Translated by Catherine Schlegel and Henry Weinfield, University of Michigan Press, 2006.
- Holy Bible: Old Testament, Authorized King James Version. AGES Software, 1996.
- Horkheimer, Max, and Theodor W. Adorno. *Dialectic of Enlightenment: Philosophical Fragments*. Edited by Gunzelin Schmid Noerr, Stanford: Stanford Univ. Press, 2002.
- Huxley, Aldous. A Brave New World. İstanbul:Pergamino Publishing, 2011.
- Hyvärinen, Matti. Friendship, Care, and Politics: Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go: Redescriptions: Yearbook of Political Thought and Conceptual History (Formerly Finnish Yearbook of Political Thought). Edited by Kari Palonen, LIT Verlag, 2009.
- Ishiguro, Kazuo. Never Let Me Go. London: Faber and Faber, 2005.
- ---. "The Nobel Prize in Literature 2017." *NobelPrize.org*, 7 Dec. 2017, https://www.nobelprize.org/prizes/literature/2017/ishiguro/25124-kazuo-ishiguro-nobel-lecture-2017/>
- Jackson, Stephen. *Britain's Population Demographic Issues in Contemporary Society*. London: Routledge, 1998.
- Jaenisch, Rudolf, and Ian Wilmut. "Don't Clone Humans!" *Science*, vol. 291, 30 May 2001, p. 2252.
- Jameson, Fredric. Archaeologies of the Future: The Desire Called Utopia and Other Science Fictions. New York: Verso, 2005.
- Johnston, W. Ross. *Great Britain Great Empire: An Evaluation of the British Imperial Experience*. St. Lucia: U of Queensland, 1981.
- Jones, Kristin M. "Childhood's End." Film Comment 46.5 (2010): 32-33.
- Kelsall, Keith. *Population in Britain in the 1990s and Beyond*. Exeter, GB: Trentham, 1989.
- Kingsley, Mary. The Congo & the Cameroons. London: Penguin, 2007.
- Knapton, Sarah. "World War 2 Left Toxic Legacy of Ill Health and Depression." *The Telegraph*, Telegraph Media Group, 21 Jan. 2014, https://www.telegraph.co.uk/history/world-war-two/10584595/World-War-2-left-toxic-legacy-of-ill-health-and-depression.html.

- Koditschek, Theodore. Liberalism, Imperialism and the Historical Imagination: Nineteenth Century Visions of Greater Britain. New York: Cambridge UP, 2011.
- Kümbet, Pelin. "Breaking the Boundaries between "Possibles" and "Clones": An Analysis of Never Let Me Go with "Cyborg" Image." *Kazuo Ishiguro and His Work*. Edited by Hülya Yıldız Bağçe et al., Ankara: Middle East Technical University, 2012.
- Lai, Chung-Hsiung. "Limits and Beyond: Greenblatt, New Historicism and a Feminist Genealogy." *Intergrams* 7.1. 7.2 (2006): 1–29.
- Lalrinfeli, C. A Study of Memory and Identity in Select Works by Kazuo Ishiguro. 2012. Mizoram University, PhD dissertation.
- Lansberg, Alison. *Prosthetic Memory*. Columbia: Columbia University Press, 2004.
- Lee, Stephen J. Aspects of British Political History, 1815-1914. New York: Routledge, 2011.
- Lochner, Liani. "This is what we're supposed to be doing, isn't it?: scientific discourse in Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Kazuo Ishiguro: New Critical Visions of the Novels*. Edited by Sebastian Groes and Barry Lewis, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2011.
- Malthus, Thomas. An Essay on the Principle of Population. Gece Kitapliği, 2014.
- Mayor, Joseph B., et al. *Virgil's Messianic Ecologue: It's Meaning, Occasion, Sources*. Translated by R. S. Conway, John Murray, London, 1907.
- McDonald, Keith. "Days of Past Futures: Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go As 'Speculative Memoir'." *Biography* 30.1 (2007): 75–83.
- Mcdowell, Edwin. "Publishing: 'Clockwork Orange' Regains Chapter 21." *The New York Times*, The New York Times, 31 Dec. 1986, www.nytimes.com/1986/12/31/books/publishing-clockwork-orange-regains-chapter-21.html.
- McGuinness, Andrew. "In Conversation with Kazuo Ishiguro." *Inspire: Canterbury Christ Church University Magazine*, 2010, pp. 4–6.
- McNay, Lois. Foucault: A Critical Introduction. Oxford: Polity Press, 2007.
- Messud, Claire. "Love's Body." The Nation, 16 May 2005, pp. 29–31.
- Middleton, Peter and Tim Woods. *Literatures of Memory: History, Time, and Space in Postwar Writing*. Manchester: Manchester Univ. Press, 2000. p. 90.
- Mohr, Michael, et al. "The Preclusion of Rebellion in Never Let Me Go." <a href="mailto: core.ac.uk/download/pdf/12517173.pdf.

- Montrose, Louis A. "Eliza, Queene of shepheardes, and the Pastoral of Power" English Literary Renaissance . 10.2 (1980):153-182.
- ---. "Professing the Renaissance: The Poetics and Politics of Culture" *The New Historicism*. Ed. Veeser, H. Aram. New York: Routledge, 1989. p.20.
- More, Thomas. *Utopia*. Planet PDF, 2018, www.planetebook.com/free-ebooks/utopia.pdf.
- Murphy, Michael. "Original sin." *Longman Dictionary of English Language and Culture*, Third Impression. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited, 2008, p. 987.
- ---. "Power." Longman Dictionary of English Language and Culture, Third Impression. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited, 2008, pp. 1082-1083.
- ---. "Utopia." Longman Dictionary of English Language and Culture, Third Impression. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited, 2008, p.1520.
- Nash, Andrew. "How the Population of England Is Projected to Age." Office for National Statistics, 4 Aug. 2016, .
- Newton, Judith Lowder. "History as Usual? Feminism and the New Historicism" *The New Historicism*. Ed. Veeser, H. Aram. New York: Routledge, 1989. p.153.
- O'neill, Joseph. "New Fiction Finds and Flops: Never Let Me Go." *The Atlantic* (May 2005): 123–124.
- "Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network." *OPTN*, 1 Jan. 1970, www.optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/learn/about-transplantation/history/.
- Orwell, George. "Politics and the English Language." *The Norton Anthology of English Literature*, edited by Stephen Greenblatt and M. H. Abrams, 8th ed. Vol 2. New York: W. W. Norton & Company, Inc., 2005, pp.2390.
- Orwell, George. 1984. İstanbul: Pergamino Publishing, 2013.
- Pearsall, Judy and Bill Trumble. "Colonialism." The Oxford English Reference Dictionary. USA: Oxford University Press, 1995, p.285.
- ---. "Colony." The Oxford English Reference Dictionary. USA: Oxford University Press, 1995, p.285.
- Pieters, Jurgen. Moments of Negotiation: The New Historicism of Stephen Greenblatt. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press, 2001.

- Plato. *The Republic of Plato*, Transl. with Notes and an Interpretative Essay by Allan Bloom. New York: Basic Books, 1991.
- ---. *Timaeus and Critias*. Translated by Robin Waterfield, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008.
- Pollard, Arthur. "Trollope and the Evangelicals." *Nineteenth-Century Fiction* 37.3 (1982): 329-339.
- Pope, Rob. *The English Studies Book: an Introduction to Language, Literature and Culture.* 2nd ed.,London: Routledge, 2002.
- Porter, Andrew. *The Nineteenth Century*. Ed. Porter, Andrew and Alaine Low. Great Britain: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Rabinow, Paul. The Foucault Reader. New York: Pantheon Books, 1984.
- Razzell, P. E. Essays in English Population History. London: Caliban, 1994.
- Reeves, Nancee. "Euthanasia and (D)Evolution in Speculative Fiction." *Victorian Literature and Culture* 45 (2017): 95–117.
- Ricoeur, Paul. *Memory, History, Forgetting*, trans. Kathleen Blarney and David Pellauer, Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2006.
- Rizq, Rosemary. "Copying, Cloning and Creativity: Reading Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *British Journal of Psychotherapy*, vol. 30, no. 4, 2014, pp. 517–532.
- Robson, Mark. Stephen Greenblatt. London: Routledge, 2008.
- Rousseau, Jean-Jacques. *Emile or On Education: Includes Emile and Sophie, or, The Solitaries*. Translated by Allan Bloom, United States of America:Basic Books, 1979.
- Rubenstein, Michael, et al. "Infrastructuralism: An Introduction." MFS Modern Fiction Studies, vol. 61, no. 4, 2015, pp. 575–586.
- Said, Edward W. Culture and Imperialism. London: Vintage, 1994.
- Sargent, Lyman Tower. "In Defense of Utopia." Diogenes 209 (2006): 11-17.
- Savage, Jon. "1966: The Year Youth Culture Exploded." *The Guardian*, Guardian News and Media, 15 Nov. 2015, www.theguardian.com/culture/2015/nov/15/1966-trip-good-vibrations-pop-revolution.
- Shaddox, Karl. "Generic Considerations in Ishiguros Never Let Me Go." Human Rights Quarterly 35.2 (2013): 448–469.

- Shaffer, Brian W. *Understanding Kazuo Ishiguro*. South Carolina: University of South Carolina Press, 1998.
- Shaffer, Brian W., and Cynthia F. Wong, eds. *Conversations with Kazuo Ishiguro*. Jackson, MS: University of Mississippi Press, 2008.
- Sim, Wai-Chew. Kazuo Ishiguro. Routledge, 2009.
- Simion, Minodora Otilia. "Freedom of Choice and Moral Consequences in Anthony Burgess' A Clockwork Orange." *Annals of the "Constantin Brâncuşi"* University of Târgu Jiu, Letters and Social Sciences Series 2 (2013): 65–68.
- Skinner, B. F. Beyond Freedom and Dignity. Middlesex: Penguin Books, 1976.
- ---. Walden Two. Indianapolis/Cambridge: Hackett Publishing Company, 2005.
- ---. Science and Human Behavior. Cambridge: Pearson Education, Inc, 2005
- Small, Neil. *Politics and Planning in the National Health Service*. Milton Keynes: Open UP, 1989.
- Somay, Bülent. The View from the Masthead: Journey through Dystopia towards an Open-ended Utopia. İstanbul: İstanbul Bilgi UP, 2010.
- Stanescu, Angela. "Kazuo Ishiguro's 'International Writing' and the Homelessness of a New Humanism." *Annals of Valahia University of Târgovişte. Letters Section*, IX. 1 (2011).
- Stinson, John J. Anthony Burgess Revisited. Boston: Twayne Publishers, 1991.
- Svensk, Lina. Lund University, 2009, pp. 1–23.
- Teo, Yugin. "Testimony and the Affirmation of Memory in Kazuo Ishiguro's *Never Let Me Go.*" *Critique: Studies in Contemporary Fiction* 55. 2 (2014): 127–137.
- ---. Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory. 1st ed. London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2014.
- Terry. R. C., *Trollope Interviews and Recollections*. Ed. Terry, R. C. Hong Kong: The Macmillan Press Ltd., 1987.
- "The 50 Greatest British Writers Since 1945." *The Times*, 5 Jan. 2008, https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/the-50-greatest-british-writers-since-1945-ws3g69xrf90
- Thornton, A. P. *Imperialism in the Twentieth Century*. Minneapolis: U of Minnesota, 1978.
- Tingay, Lance O. Anthony Trollope Politician: His Parliamentary Candidature at Beverley 1868. London: Silverbridge, 1988.

- Toker Leona and Daniel Chertoff. "Reader Response and the Recycling of Topoi in Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Partal Answers: Journal of Literature and the History of Ideas* 6.1 (2008): 163-180.
- Tracy, Robert. *Trollope's Later Novels*. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press, 1978.
- Tranter, N. L. Population and Society, 1750-1940: Contrasts in Population Growth. London: Longman, 1985.
- Trollope, Anthony. The Fixed Period. Vol. I, Blackwood's Magazine, 1882.
- ---. The Fixed Period. Vol. II, Blackwood's Magazine, 1882.
- ---. An Autobiography by Anthony Trollope. Berkeley and Los Angeles: U of California, 1947.
- ---. The Letters of Anthony Trollope. Ed. N. John. Hall. Stanford, CA: Stanford UP, 1983.
- ---. Australia and New Zealand I. Suffolk: Omnium Publishing, 2002.
- Tsao, Tiffany. "The Tyranny of Purpose: Religion and Biotechnology in Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Literature & Theology* 26. 2 (2012): 214–232.
- Tucker, Herbert F. A New Companion to Victorian Literature and Culture. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell, 1999.
- Turner, Mark W. "Trollope's literary life and times." *The Cambridge Companion to Anthony Trollope*. Ed. Dever, Carolyn and Lisa Niles. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2011, pp. 6-16.
- Van den Berg, M.E.S. 'Human reproductive cloning and biotechnology: Rational, ethical and public concerns', Koers *Bulletin for Christian Scholarship* 77.2 (2012): 9.
- Veeser, H. Aram. The New Historicism. New York: Routledge, 1989.
- Vichiensing, Matava. "The Othering in Kazuo Ishiguro's Never Let Me Go." *Advances in Language and Literary Studies* 8.4 (2017): 126–135.
- Vieira, Fatima. "The Concept to Utopia." *The Cambridge Companion to Utopian Literature*. Edited by Gregory Claeys, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- Watman, Max. "Ignorant Armies Clash by Night." *The New Criterion*, May 2005, pp. 61–67.
- White, Hayden. *Metahistory The Historical Imagination in Nineteenth-Century Europe*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, 1975.

- Whitehead, Anne. "Writing with Care: Kazuo Ishiguro's 'Never Let Me Go'." *Contemporary Literature* 52.1 (2011): 54–83.
- Williams, Raymond. "Imperialism." *A Vocabulary of Culture and Society*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1983, p. 159.
- Wood, James. "The Human Difference." The New Republic (16 May 2005): 36–39.



ECEVİT BEKLER TEZ

ECE	VII BEKLER IEZ	
ORIJINAL	LIK RAPORU	
%2 BENZE		415 GRENCI ÖDEVLERI
BIRINCIL	KAYNAKLAR	
1	www.nobelprize.org internet Kaynağı	<%1
2	Submitted to Atilim University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
3	www.uk.sagepub.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
4	Submitted to SUNY, Binghamton Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
5	eremita.di.uminho.pt Internet Kaynağı	<%1
6	Submitted to Eastern High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
7	John Brannigan. "New Historicism and Cultu Materialism", Springer Nature, 1998 Yayın	ural <%1
8	epdf.tips Internet Kaynağı	<%1

9	Submitted to Higher Education Commission Pakistan Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
10	"Empowering Educators", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2015	<%1
11	docplayer.net Internet Kaynağı	<%1
12	repository.lib.tottori-u.ac.jp Internet Kaynağı	<%1
13	www.ratical.org internet Kaynağı	<%1
14	stephenbrookfield.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
15	www.banglajol.info Internet Kaynağı	<%1
16	archive.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
17	www.cambridge.org internet Kaynağı	<%1
18	www.amstud.uni-goettingen.de Internet Kaynağı	<%1
19	www.newbalance-sneaker.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1

20	spanport.cla.umn.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
21	acikarsiv.ankara.edu.tr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
22	b-ok.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
23	epdf.pub Internet Kaynağı	<%1
24	Submitted to Southern New Hampshire University - Distance Education Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
25	Trollope Centenary Essays, 1982.	<%1
26	dergiler.ankara.edu.tr İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
27	www.ebooktrove.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
28	www.prayerfulphilosopher.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
29	Submitted to Cherokee Trail High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
30	londonthenews.com internet Kaynağı	<%1

journals.cambridge.org

31	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
32	Submitted to Auburn High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
33	Submitted to Florida State University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
34	www.encyclopedias.biz Internet Kaynağı	<%1
35	Submitted to University of Wales Institute, Cardiff Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
36	Trollope, 1987.	<%1
37	easnov.net İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
38	academic.oup.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
39	braungardt.trialectics.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
40	peiresc.wikis.bgc.bard.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
41	Submitted to University of Brighton Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

42	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
43	docz.io Internet Kaynağı	<%1
44	repo.library.emory.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
45	www.redorbit.com internet Kaynağı	<%1
46	Submitted to Wellesley High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
47	Submitted to Wesleyan University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
48	www.scribd.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
49	lib.ugent.be Internet Kaynağı	<%1
50	Submitted to University of Warwick Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
51	James Buzard. "Portable Boundaries: Trollope, Race, and Travel", Nineteenth Century Contexts, 03/2010	<%1
52	Yugin Teo. "Kazuo Ishiguro and Memory", Springer Nature, 2014	<%1

53	Submitted to Harpeth Hall High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
54	brainstorm-services.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
55	Submitted to Arab Open University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
56	studylib.net İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
57	Submitted to University of Southampton Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
58	Submitted to Oklahoma Baptist University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
59	Peter Childs. "Contemporary Novelists", Springer Nature, 2012	<%1
60	dspace.cuni.cz Internet Kaynağı	<%1
61	www.openaccess.hacettepe.edu.tr:8080	<%1
62	colfa.utsa.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
63	www.tau.ac.il Internet Kaynağı	<%1

64	www.english.unt.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
65	othes.univie.ac.at Internet Kaynağı	<%1
66	Submitted to Blue Ridge Community College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
67	Submitted to University of Edinburgh Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
68	www.atlantisjournal.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
69	www.forgottenbooks.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
70	Submitted to Homewood-Flossmoor High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
71	repositories.lib.utexas.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
72	The Trollope Critics, 1981.	<%1
73	studentsrepo.um.edu.my Internet Kaynağı	<%1
74	my.fit.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1

75	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
76	Submitted to University of Lincoln Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
77	Submitted to Agoura High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
78	openaccess.hacettepe.edu.tr:8080 Internet Kaynağı	<%1
79	Imperialism in the Twentieth Century, 1978.	<%1
80	Submitted to Gavilan College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
81	Submitted to University of Hull Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
82	www.cmadras.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
83	John Halperin. "Trollope and Politics", Springer Nature, 1977	<%1
84	Submitted to University of Leicester Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
85	lup.lub.lu.se internet Kaynağı	<%1

86	Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
87	philosophersquest.blogspot.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
88	Submitted to Santa Barbara City College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
89	www.hwalibrary.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
90	dspace.lboro.ac.uk İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
91	Andreas Lösch, Christoph Schneider. "Transforming power/knowledge apparatuses: the smart grid in the German energy transition", Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research, 2016 Yayın	<%1
92	www.koersjournal.org.za Internet Kaynağı	<%1
93	Submitted to The University of Manchester Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
94	Submitted to Queen Mary and Westfield College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
95	scholarworks.gsu.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1

96	monoskop.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
97	Submitted to University of Kent at Canterbury Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
98	Submitted to University of West Georgia Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
99	Submitted to Miramonte High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
100	www.jyu.fi Internet Kaynağı	<%1
101	www.questia.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
102	Submitted to University of Malaya Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
103	www.unc.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
104	de.scribd.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
105	universitypublishingonline.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
106	LOUIS ADRIAN MONTROSE. ""Eliza, Queene of shepheardes," and the Pastoral of Power", English Literary Renaissance, 03/1980	<%1

107	etd.lib.nsysu.edu.tw Internet Kaynağı	<%1
108	Submitted to Birkbeck College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
109	Submitted to Southern New Hampshire University - Continuing Education Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
110	Submitted to Los Gatos-Saratoga Joint Union High School District Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
111	nyupress.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
112	fsu.valahia.ro Internet Kaynağı	<%1
113	epubs.surrey.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
114	Submitted to Tulane University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
115	addictionresearchchair.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
116	Submitted to Empire High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
117	www.sok.bz İnternet Kaynağı	<%1

118	stiba-malang.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
119	fr.scribd.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
120	sanglap-journal.in Internet Kaynağı	<%1
121	Submitted to University of Aberdeen Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
122	Submitted to University of Western Sydney Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
123	Submitted to UC, Irvine Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
124	ece.uprm.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
125	Submitted to University of Leeds Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
126	Robert Stewart. "Chapter 7 Reform and the Dispossessed", Springer Nature, 1989	<%1
127	www.gau.edu.tr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
128	wrap.warwick.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1

129	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
130	ausdance.org.au Internet Kaynağı	<%1
131	studymore.org.uk İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
132	platypus1917.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
133	Submitted to Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
134	Submitted to University of Florida Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
135	Submitted to Trident University International Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
136	Submitted to Montour High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
137	Submitted to Kingston University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
138	www.euppublishing.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
139	Submitted to Texas Woman's University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

cla.calpoly.edu

140	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
141	Submitted to University of Hong Kong Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
142	Matthew Wright. "Re-Appropriating Appropriation", Religion & Theology, 2015	<%1
143	Submitted to University of Zurich Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
144	Submitted to Cardiff University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
145	Submitted to West Liberty University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
146	www.utgjiu.ro Internet Kaynağı	<%1
147	Submitted to Royal Academy of Dance Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
148	open.uct.ac.za İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
149	Submitted to University of Stellenbosch, South Africa Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
150	Submitted to Kuwait University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

151	Submitted to Brandywine High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
152	Submitted to Lincoln High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
153	etheses.whiterose.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
154	Submitted to Georgia Virtual Technical College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
155	Submitted to La Canada High School	<%1
156	202.121.48.120 İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
157	Submitted to Softwarica College of IT & E-Commerce Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
158	Submitted to South Dakota Board of Regents Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
159	Submitted to UC, San Diego Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
160	Submitted to University College London Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
161	Submitted to The Independent School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
1		ľ

162	Stephen Ingle. "Narratives of British Socialism", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2002 Yayın	<%1
163	Göksel Kaya. "Ambivalence of Identity as an Extension of Colonial Discourse in Charles Dickens' Great Expectations and Aravind Adiga's The White Tiger", International Journal of Comparative Literature and Translation Studies, 2018	<%1
164	www.anglistik.uni-kiel.de Internet Kaynağı	<%1
165	Submitted to Adams State College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
166	mafiadoc.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
167	parisreview.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
168	eprints.ioe.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
169	Submitted to University of Huddersfield Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
170	Submitted to University of Newcastle Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

171	Submitted to Texas Christian University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
172	Submitted to University of Ulster Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
173	Submitted to De La Salle University - Manila Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
174	buweb.univ-angers.fr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
175	Submitted to Napier University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
176	issuu.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
177	Nicholas Mansergh. "Chapter 1 Introduction: A. P. Thornton: Realism Tempered by Wit", Springer Nature, 1986	<%1
178	Yugin Teo. "Chapter 4 Recognition and Testimony", Springer Nature, 2014	<%1
179	poeticstoday.dukejournals.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
180	Submitted to Royal Holloway and Bedford New College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

181	Submitted to Indiana University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
182	Submitted to Johns Hopkins Unversity Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
183	Submitted to Burlington High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
184	Submitted to The Southport School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
185	Submitted to Trinity College Dublin Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
186	Submitted to Scottish Agricultural College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
187	Submitted to Hannibal-LaGrange College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
188	Submitted to Texas A&M University, Texarkana Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
189	e-space.mmu.ac.uk İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
190	lowres.uno.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
191	digitalcommons.brockport.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
102	Submitted to Middle East Technical University	

		<%1
193	www.thelancet.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
194	books.nap.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
195	repositorio.unesp.br Internet Kaynağı	<%1
196	www.screeningthepast.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
197	link.springer.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
198	hdl.handle.net Internet Kaynağı	<%1
199	ualresearchonline.arts.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
200	en.wikipedia.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
201	www.lindsey.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
202	openaccess.dogus.edu.tr İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
203	Submitted to University of Abertay Dundee	<%1

204	etheses.bham.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
205	Submitted to Clemens High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
206	Submitted to University of Derby Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
207	www.worldscientificnews.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
208	Submitted to University of Salford Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
209	Gary Waller. "Edmund Spenser", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 1994 Yayın	<%1
210	Submitted to Madera High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
211	Submitted to Istanbul Aydin University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
212	Submitted to Ege Üniversitesi Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
213	Submitted to Marist College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
214	theses.gla.ac.uk İnternet Kaynağı	<%1

215	Submitted to Dubai American Academy Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
216	www.essex.ac.uk İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
217	Submitted to Blue Valley Northwest High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
218	"Encyclopedia of Critical Psychology", Springer Nature, 2014 Yayın	<%1
219	Submitted to Wilfrid Laurier University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
220	windowtophilosophy.blogspot.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
221	Submitted to University of Nottingham Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
222	Submitted to University of Liverpool Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
223	www.encyclopedia.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
224	Submitted to Université Saint-Esprit Kaslik Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
225	Submitted to Tiffin University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

226	scholarworks.sjsu.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
227	Submitted to Central High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
228	Submitted to Lexington High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
229	nufs-nuas.repo.nii.ac.jp Internet Kaynağı	<%1
230	etda.libraries.psu.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
231	Submitted to Fordham University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
232	www.powells.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
233	www.lume.ufrgs.br Internet Kaynağı	<%1
234	Submitted to Loyola University, Chicago Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
235	www.banque-france.fr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
236	www.routledge.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
237	fau.digital.flvc.org Internet Kaynağı	

		<%1
238	Submitted to CSU, Long Beach Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
239	en.wikisource.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
240	R. C. Terry. "A Trollope Chronology", Springer Nature, 1989	<%1
241	www.esuwdc.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
242	tel.archives-ouvertes.fr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
24 3	Submitted to Ledyard High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
244	Submitted to University System of Georgia Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
245	Submitted to University of Newcastle upon Tyne	<%1
246	Submitted to University of Glasgow Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
247	edoc.pub İnternet Kaynağı	<%1

248	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
249	Thomas Horan. "Desire and Empathy in Twentieth-Century Dystopian Fiction", Springer Nature, 2018	<%1
250	Submitted to Central Queensland University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
251	SERDAROĞLU, Duygu. "Kazuo İshiguro'nun Çocukluğumu Ararken adlı Romanına Yeni Tarihselci Bir Yaklaşım", Gaziantep Üniversitesi, 2017.	<%1
252	Pamela Hobbs. "Surging ahead to a new way forward: the metaphorical foreshadowing of a policy shift", Discourse & Communication, 2008	<%1
253	"Kazuo Ishiguro", Springer Nature, 2011	<%1
254	Submitted to Silverado High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
<mark>255</mark>	Submitted to Kingwood High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
256	www.thoughtco.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1

257	Submitted to Georgia Institute of Technology Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
258	Submitted to Central Michigan University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
259	lanquiz.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
260	is.muni.cz Internet Kaynağı	<%1
261	Submitted to Michigan State University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
262	benz.nchu.edu.tw Internet Kaynağı	<%1
263	ftp.gwdg.de Internet Kaynağı	<%1
264	Submitted to Linden High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
265	Submitted to University of Greenwich Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
266	Submitted to CSU, Hayward Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
267	documents.mx Internet Kaynağı	<%1
268	Submitted to Sumner High School	

		<%1
269	Ashlee Joyce. "The Gothic in Contemporary British Trauma Fiction", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2019	<%1
270	Submitted to Saint Charles North High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
271	Submitted to National University of Ireland, Galway Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
272	Submitted to Bellarmine College Prep High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
273	Submitted to Clarkson Secondary School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
274	Submitted to Florida International Baccalaureate Consortium Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
275	books.rediff.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
276	Submitted to University of the West Indies Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
277	Dani Filc. "Power in the Primary Care Medical Encounter: Domination, Resistance and	<%1

Alliances", Social Theory & Health, 2006

278	Submitted to Yeditepe University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
279	Submitted to University of Basel Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
280	Submitted to The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
281	Submitted to Southampton Solent University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
282	Submitted to University of Queensland Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
	Submitted to Zeenel Calcal as Couple do	
283	Submitted to Zespol Szkol nr 6 w Plocku - Liceum Ogolnoksztalcace z Oddzialami Dwujezycznymi im. Wladyslawa Jagielly Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
283	Liceum Ogolnoksztalcace z Oddzialami Dwujezycznymi im. Wladyslawa Jagielly	<%1 <%1
_	Liceum Ogolnoksztalcace z Oddzialami Dwujezycznymi im. Wladyslawa Jagielly öğrenci Ödevi Submitted to Montclair State University	
284	Liceum Ogolnoksztalcace z Oddzialami Dwujezycznymi im. Wladyslawa Jagielly öğrenci Ödevi Submitted to Montclair State University öğrenci Ödevi summit.sfu.ca	<%1

288	Submitted to University of Lancaster Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
289	classroom.misd.org internet Kaynağı	<%1
290	Submitted to Freehold High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
291	jonathongreen.co.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
292	schools.shmoop.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
293	repository.unm.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
294	Submitted to placeholder Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
295	donostiabookclub.blogspot.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
296	eprints.mdx.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
297	www.ijmra.us Internet Kaynağı	<%1
298	freudians.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
299	possiblesocieties.com	

	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
300	Submitted to Leeds College of Art and Design, Leeds Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
301	scholarship.law.unc.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
302	digital.library.txstate.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
303	air.unimi.it Internet Kaynağı	<%1
304	www.researchgate.net Internet Kaynağı	<%1
305	eprints.nottingham.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
306	antonioscaruso.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
307	Submitted to College of Education for Pure Sciences/IBN Al-Haitham/ Baghdad University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
308	Ira.le.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1

Submitted to St. Michael's Catholic Academy

310	Submitted to MiraCosta College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
311	Submitted to Associatie K.U.Leuven Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
312	Submitted to King's College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
313	Submitted to Xavier University of Louisiana	<%1
314	Submitted to Southern Illinois University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
315	uvadoc.uva.es İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
316	Submitted to Plymouth Whitemarsh High School	<%1
317	Submitted to Santa Barbara High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
318	btk.ppke.hu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
319	Submitted to UT, Dallas Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
320	political-economy.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
321	Submitted to Notre Dame High School	

		<%1
322	Submitted to Union County Vocational Technical Schools Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
323	Submitted to South Bank University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
324	Submitted to Rockland County Community College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
325	apantuso.pbworks.com İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
326	uhra.herts.ac.uk İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
327	Justin Omar Johnston. "Posthuman Capital and Biotechnology in Contemporary Novels", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2019 Yayın	<%1
328	shodhganga.inflibnet.ac.in Internet Kaynağı	<%1
329	kb.osu.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
330	Submitted to Indus International School, Pune Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

331	Patricia Menon. "Austen, Eliot, Charlotte Brontë and the Mentor-Lover", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2003	<%1
332	www.kahmunityenglish.in Internet Kaynağı	<%1
333	Submitted to Georgian Court University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
334	Submitted to Manchester Metropolitan University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
335	www.ijla.net Internet Kaynağı	<%1
336	media.proquest.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
337	etd.lib.metu.edu.tr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
338	Submitted to Mililani High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
339	Submitted to Methodist College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
340	Submitted to Roehampton University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
341	www.ez-essays.com	

ı	ntownot	Kaynağı	
1	niernei	Kaynani	
	IIIOIIIOU	rayinagi	

	İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
342	polscie.weebly.com internet Kaynağı	<%1
343	Submitted to Sayville High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
344	Submitted to I-Shou International School	<%1
345	facta.junis.ni.ac.rs Internet Kaynağı	<%1
346	Submitted to University of Sussex Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
347	Submitted to Souderton Area High School	<%1
348	Submitted to University of Limerick Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
349	Submitted to Saint Francis High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
350	web.newworldencyclopedia.org internet Kaynağı	<%1
351	Submitted to United States Air Force Academy Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
352	Submitted to Houston Community College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

353	The Alter Ego Perspectives of Literary Historiography, 2013.	<%1
354	Submitted to Heriot-Watt University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
355	yamasster.net İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
356	www.journals.istanbul.edu.tr Internet Kaynağı	<%1
357	Submitted to Kennett High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
358	Max Fincher. "Queering Gothic in the Romantic Age", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2007	<%1
359	eprints.usq.edu.au Internet Kaynağı	<%1
360	www.sharingfreebooks.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
361	Submitted to University of Westminster Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
362	Nathan Stornier. "Embodying normal miracles", Quarterly Journal of Speech, 1997	<%1

363	Submitted to Bloomsbury Colleges Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
364	"Foucault and Philosophy", Wiley, 2010 Yayın	<%1
365	scientia-sanbeda.org Internet Kaynağı	<%1
366	citeseerx.ist.psu.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
367	shura.shu.ac.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
368	"The Palgrave Handbook of Prison Tourism", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2017	<%1
369	Submitted to Nottingham Trent University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
370	Submitted to Dalton State Colege Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
371	J. P. Minson. "Auctoritas redux: an extra territorial report on the 'New Historicist' current in Renaissance literary criticism", Economy and Society, 1987	<%1
372	Submitted to University of Durham Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

373	www19.homepage.villanova.edu İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
374	Submitted to National University of Ireland, Maynooth Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
375	escholarship.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
376	academics.triton.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
377	Submitted to Biotechnology High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
378	"Utopian Spaces of Modernism", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2012 Yayın	<%1
379	Submitted to Harding University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
380	Submitted to Mountain View High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
381	calamitousannunciation.memoryoftheworld.org	<%1
382	Submitted to Unionville High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
383	www.barnesandnoble.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1

384	"Performing the 'New' Europe", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2013	<%1
385	www.eikman.net Internet Kaynağı	<%1
386	Submitted to Beykent Universitesi Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
387	edoc.site İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
388	Submitted to Cincinnati City School District Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
389	Submitted to City University of Hong Kong	<%1
390	Submitted to Radford College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
391	Submitted to Metamora Township High School	<%1
392	Submitted to Norman Public Schools Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
393	Submitted to Ateneo de Davao University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
394	Submitted to Canterbury Christ Church University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

395	Submitted to University of West London Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
396	Submitted to University of Minnesota System Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
397	Anthony Trollope, 1977.	<%1
398	Submitted to Savitribai Phule Pune University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
399	wbnsou.ac.in Internet Kaynağı	<%1
400	Glen S. Aikenhead, Masakata Ogawa. "Indigenous knowledge and science revisited", Cultural Studies of Science Education, 2007	<%1
401	Submitted to University of San Francisco	<%1
402	Submitted to Armstrong Atlantic State University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
403	Nicolas Vandeviver, Jürgen Pieters. "Fashioning Freedom for Shakespeare: Stephen Greenblatt and the Existentialist Power of Literature", English Studies, 2015 Yayın	<%1
404	Submitted to University of Waikato Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

405	Submitted to IIT Delhi Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
406	Submitted to Pennsylvania State System of Higher Education Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
407	Submitted to University of Surrey Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
408	umu.diva-portal.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
409	Submitted to Bridgepoint Education Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
410	Submitted to Riverside Community College Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
411	Submitted to Cardinal Mooney High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
412	Submitted to iGroup Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
413	Submitted to Cinco Ranch High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
414	"Foucault in an Age of Terror", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2008	<%1
415	Laura E. Franey. "Victorian Travel Writing and Imperial Violence", Springer Science and	<%1

Business Media LLC, 2003

Yayın

416	Helen Lucy Blythe. "The fixed period (1882): euthanasia, cannibalism, and colonial extinction in trollope's antipodes", Nineteenth-Century Contexts, 6/1/2003	<%1
417	Elsie B. Michie. "Trollope, Anthony", Wiley, 2015	<%1
418	Submitted to University of Wisconsin - Stout Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
419	"History and Psyche", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2012	<%1
420	Submitted to Auburn University at Montgomery Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
421	Leonidas Donskis. "Troubled Identity and the Modern World", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2009	<%1
422	I. Wallerstein. "Social Science and Contemporary Society: The vanishing guarantees of rationality", International Sociology, 03/01/1996 Yayın	<%1

Submitted to Deakin University

423	Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
424	tlhjournal.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
425	architectures.danlockton.co.uk Internet Kaynağı	<%1
426	Submitted to University of Sunderland Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
427	etd.library.pitt.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
428	Submitted to CSU Northridge Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
429	Submitted to 7996 Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
430	geneticsandliterature.wordpress.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
431	Submitted to University of Stirling Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
432	Submitted to Bilkent University Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
433	Submitted to Union County Public Schools Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
434	Submitted to Folsom High School Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1

Prasad Pannian. "Edward Said and the Question of Subjectivity", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2016 Yayın	<%1
Submitted to The Scientific & Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) Öğrenci Ödevi	<%1
annals.org İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
www.matrixmasters.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
poar.twu.edu Internet Kaynağı	<%1
Julie Peakman. "Mighty Lewd Books", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2003	<%1
research.library.mun.ca Internet Kaynağı	<%1
www.nknu.edu.tw Internet Kaynağı	<%1
ruor.uottawa.ca İnternet Kaynağı	<%1
angliaruskin.openrepository.com Internet Kaynağı	<%1
	Question of Subjectivity", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2016 Yayın Submitted to The Scientific & Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) Öğrenci Ödevi annals.org Internet Kaynağı www.matrixmasters.com Internet Kaynağı poar.twu.edu Internet Kaynağı Julie Peakman. "Mighty Lewd Books", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2003 Yayın research.library.mun.ca Internet Kaynağı www.nknu.edu.tw Internet Kaynağı ruor.uottawa.ca Internet Kaynağı angliaruskin.openrepository.com

Alıntıları çıkart üzerinde Eşleşmeleri çıkar Ka

Kapat

Bibliyografyayı Çıkart üzerinde



CURRICULUM VITAE

Name and Surname: Ecevit BEKLER

Place and Date of Birth: Viranşehir, 1975

Education

Degree	Field	University	Year
Undergraduate	English Language Teaching	Dicle University	1993-1997
Master	French Language Teaching	Dicle University	2006-2008
Ph.D.	English Culture and Literature	Atılım University	2012-2019

Work Experience

Work Place	Position	Year
Dicle University	English Lecturer	2004-Present
Ministry of National Education	English Teacher	1997-2004

Foreign Languages: English (Advanced)

German (Intermediate)

French (Intermediate)

Publication:

- Bekler, Ecevit. True Face of Pre-Colonial Africa in "Things Fall Apart". *Respectus Philologicus*, 25.30 (2014): 96-104. (ISSN 1392-8295)
- Bekler, Ecevit. The Indiscernible Relation Between Fiction and History in "Flaubert's Parrot". 3rd Interdisiplinary Conference on English Studies pp. 40-49 (Oral Presentation-Full Text) 19-20.06.2014, Near East University, Nicosia/North Cyprus.
- Bekler, Ecevit. Voiceing of the Irish Culture in Friel's "Translations". Thought Elaboration: Linguistics, Literature, Media Expression TELL ME'14, pp. 89 (Oral Presentation-Full Text), Vilnius University, Kaunas Faculty of Humanities, Vilnius/Litvanya.

E.mail: ebekler@dicle.edu.tr; ecevitbekler@hotmail.com

Phone: 05336331184

Date: 23.12.2019